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1.  
1.1 This last year has seen a series of important changes for our organisation. The 

change of name from the Council for Healthcare Regulatory Excellence (CHRE) 
to the Professional Standards Authority for Health and Social Care symbolises 
our new extended role. But beneath that there are real changes. In August we 
acquired oversight of the regulation of social workers in England when the 
register transferred from the General Social Care Council to the Health and Care 
Professions Council, in September we took on the role of advising the Privy 
Council on appointments to the regulators  councils and in December we opened 
up the accreditation scheme for voluntary occupational registers. These are 
significant new responsibilities and I am pleased that, as this report shows, they 
have been implemented effectively and on time. 

1.2 Just as important, the Authority has maintained its existing statutory 
responsibilities during this period. We published our performance review report 
for 2012 in June and our audit reports between September and December. At the 
request of the Minister of State for Health Services we carried out a strategic 
review of the Nursing and Midwifery Council and an investigation into allegations 
made about the General Dental Council by its former chair. In addition, we 
completed a performance review commissioned by the Nursing Council of New 
Zealand. 

1.3 The regulators have continued to see a rise in complaints and this of course has 
an impact on our work. The number of cases we have reviewed in the 12 months 
covered by this report is 2,738. This is more than double the number five years 
ago. 

1.4 We have also continued to contribute to regulatory policy. In September 2012 we 
published Standards for Members of NHS Boards and Clinical Commissioning 
Group Governing Bodies in England and our report on the cost-effectiveness and 
efficiency of the professional regulators broke new ground. 

1.5 The increase in the range and volume of our work has of course put pressure on 
our small team of staff. They have risen to the challenge and continued not only 
to produce large volumes of work but to the highest standard. 

1.6 The Board has also made an invaluable contribution; its careful oversight of the 
transition plan and monitoring of the risks helped to ensure that we stayed on 
track. The Board also developed a new three-year strategic plan for the Authority 
focusing on our new roles and the importance of communication with a range of 
new partners. All members of CHRE have now been reappointed to the Authority 
and I am grateful to them for their past service and for continuing to guide the 
Authority into the future. 

 
 
 
 
Baroness Jill Pitkeathley OBE 
Chair 
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2. 
 

About the Professional Standards Authority  

Who we are 
2.1 The Professional Standards Authority for Health and Social Care (the Authority) 

was launched on 1 December 2012. Its role and duties are set out in the Health 
and Social Care Act 2012.1  

2.2 The new organisation continues the work of the Council for Health Care 
Regulatory Excellence (CHRE), which was established by the Health and Social 
Care Act 20082 and was a transformation of the Council for the Regulation of 
Health Professionals set up in April 2003 by the National Health Service Reform 
and Health Care Professions Act 2002.3  

2.3 The Authority has a Board comprising seven non-executive members and one 
executive member, the Chief Executive, who is appointed by the Board.  

2.4 The non-executive members are appointed by the Privy Council, the Secretary of 
State for Health, the Scottish and Welsh ministers and the Department of Health, 
Social Services and Public Safety in Northern Ireland.  

2.5 We are funded by the Department of Health in England and by the devolved 
administrations in Northern Ireland, Scotland and Wales. 

Our role and what it entails 
2.6 Under the Acts of Parliament that govern what we do (the National Health 

Services Reform Act 2002, as amended by the Health and Social Care Act 2008 
and the Health and Social Care Act 2012) we have the powers to carry out a 
range of activities to promote the health and well-being of patients, service users 
and the public in the regulation of health and social care professionals. 

2.7 We have duties and powers in relation to: 
 The oversight of nine statutory bodies that regulate health and social care 

professionals in the UK 

 The provision of advice to, and undertaking investigations for, government 

 The accreditation of the voluntary registers held by non-statutory regulators 
of health and care professionals 

 The provision of advice to other similar organisations in the UK and 
overseas. 
 

                                            
1  Available at www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2012/7/contents/enacted 
2  Available at www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2008/14/contents 
3  Available at www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2002/17/contents 
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 What we do  

Oversight of the regulators 
2.8 The Authority has powers to: 

 Audit the initial stages of fitness to practise cases and report on our findings 
in relation to each regulator 

 Review the outcome of final fitness to practise cases and to refer them to 
court if we consider that the outcome is unduly lenient and fails to protect the 
public 

 Investigate, compare and report on the performance of each regulatory body. 
We are specifically required to report to Parliament on how far each 
regulatory body has complied with any duty imposed on it to promote the 
health, safety and well-being of patients, service users and the public  

 Give directions requiring a regulatory body to make rules under any power 
the body has to do so. 

2.9 We promote the health and well-being of patients, service users and the public in 
the regulation of health and social care professionals. To do this we listen to 

have an active programme of engagement with patients, service users and 
members of the public. 

2.10 We assist the Privy Council in the exercise of their appointment powers in 
respect of the regulatory bodies, supporting the quality of appointments to 

ncils. In consultation with the regulatory bodies we have produced 
standards for the Privy Council relating to recruitment and appointments to the 

 councils.  
2.11 We scrutinise and oversee the work of nine regulatory bodies that set standards 

for the training and conduct of health and social care professionals. 
2.12 We promote good practice and right-touch regulation. We work with the 

regulatory bodies to improve quality and share good practice. For example, we 
share learning points arising from the scrutiny of fitness to practise cases we 
organise seminars to explore regulation issues. 

2.13 We share good practice and knowledge with the regulatory bodies, conduct 
research and introduce new ideas about regulation to the sector. We work closely 
with, and advise, the four UK government health departments on issues relating 
to the regulation of health and care professionals. In addition, we monitor policy 
in the UK and Europe.  
 

2.14 The regulatory bodies are the: 
 General Chiropractic Council (GCC) which regulates chiropractors in the 

UK 

 General Dental Council (GDC) which regulates dentists, dental nurses, 
dental technicians, dental hygienists, dental therapists, clinical dental 
technicians and orthodontic therapists in the UK 
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 General Medical Council (GMC) which regulates doctors in the UK 

 General Optical Council (GOC) which regulates optometrists, dispensing 
opticians, student opticians and optical businesses in the UK 

 General Osteopathic Council (GOsC) which regulates osteopaths in the UK 

 General Pharmaceutical Council (GPhC) which regulates pharmacists and 
pharmacy technicians in England, Wales and Scotland     

 Health and Care Professions Council (HCPC) which regulates arts 
therapists, biomedical scientists, chiropodists/podiatrists, clinical scientists, 
dieticians, hearing aid dispensers, occupational therapists, operating 
department practitioners, orthoptists, paramedics, physiotherapists, 
practitioner psychologists, prosthetists and orthotists, radiographers and 
speech and language therapists in the UK and social workers in England 

 Nursing and Midwifery Council (NMC) which regulates nurses and 
midwives in the UK 

 Pharmaceutical Society of Northern Ireland (PSNI) which regulates 
pharmacists in Northern Ireland. 

 
2.15 Details of the number of registrants in each health and social care professional 

regulator we oversee (as at 31 March 2013) are shown below. 
 

 
 
* The GOC has 23,858 registrants plus 2,107 bodies corporate ** The GPhC has 69,231 registrants plus 14,186 premises 
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 Advice to, and investigations for governments 

UK-wide regulation; working with all four governments 
2.16 We provide advice to the Secretary of State, the National Assembly for Wales, 

Scottish ministers or the Department of Health, Social Services and Public Safety 
in Northern Ireland on issues affecting the regulation of health and social care 
professionals and any matter connected with a health or care profession. 

Advising health ministers  
2.17 The Secretary of State and health ministers in Scotland, Wales and Northern 

Ireland may request advice from us about the regulation of health and or social 
care professionals or request that we investigate matters of concern. 

2.18 The Health and Social Care Act 2012 states that when the levy is in place and 
the Authority is independent, the Department of Health and devolved 
administrations will pay a fee to be determined by the Authority for this work.  

2.19 We consult with the UK government and governments in Wales, Scotland and 
Northern Ireland on the development of guidelines for the sector. In addition, we 
keep abreast of international policies that may affect health and social care 
regulation in the UK, particularly in Europe. We work with colleagues in the UK 
and abroad, ensuring that we are aware of these developments and 
strengthening our relationships with these partners. 

Accreditation of voluntary registers 
2.20 The Authority has a role in strengthening quality and patient safety by setting 

standards for voluntary registers and accrediting them.  
2.21 The purpose of the voluntary scheme is to encourage the development of 

professional conduct, ethical practice and high standards of performance in 
groups associated with or affiliated to the delivery of health and social care where 
the occupation is not statutorily regulated. 

2.22 We provide information about the accreditation scheme on our website and work 
with interested groups to encourage their participation in the scheme and their 
preparation for accreditation.   

Advice provided to other organisations 
2.23 Our original legislation empowers us to provide advice to others and charge for it, 

as long as that activity provides learning in respect of legislation in the UK. 
2.24 Section 225 of The Health and Social Care Act 2012 when commenced will 

provide a statutory basis for the Authority to provide advice and audit services to 
organisations similar to those we oversee and to charge for this.  

2.25 Through our networks, we are asked to advise colleagues in other countries of 
the methods we have adopted for better regulation of UK health and care 
professionals and to review their systems for regulation. The learning obtained 
from these exchanges contributes to improvements in professional regulation in 
the UK and elsewhere. 
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3.  
3.1 In September 2012, in preparation for our transition to the Professional 

Standards Authority for Health and Social Care in December, we reviewed and 
updated our strategic objectives. 

3.2 The changes made reflect our wider remit, extending our focus to social care and 
to the organisations that will be applying for voluntary accreditation. 

Our values 
3.3 Our values act as a framework for our decision-making. They are at the heart of 

who we are and how we would like to be seen by our partners. We are committed 
to being: 
 Focused on the public interest 

 Independent 

 Fair 

 Transparent 

 Proportionate. 
3.4 Our values will be explicit in the way that we work; how we approach our 

oversight of the registration and regulation of those who work in health and social 
care, how we develop policy advice and how we engage with all our partners. We 
will be consistent in the application of our values in what we do. 

3.5 We are independent but hold ourselves accountable to the public and to the 
parliaments and assemblies of the United Kingdom for what we do and how we 
do it.   

3.6 We listen to the views of people who receive care. We seek to ensure that their 
views are acted upon in the registration and regulation of people who work in 
health and social care. 

3.7 We promote and support right-touch regulation.4 This is regulation that is based 
on an assessment of risk, which is targeted and proportionate, which provides a 
framework in which professionalism can flourish and organisational excellence 
can be achieved.5 We will apply the principles of right-touch regulation to our own 
work.  

Our aim 
3.8 The Professional Standards Authority works to raise standards and encourage 

improvements in the registration and regulation of people who work in health and 
social care. We do this in order to promote the health, safety and well-being of 
patients, service users and other members of the public. 

 

                                            
4   Professional Standards Authority. 2010. Right-Touch regulation. Available at  
    http://www.professionalstandards.org.uk/policy-and-research/right-touch-regulation    
5 Organisational excellence is defined as the consistent performance of good practice combined with continuous improvement. 
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Our strategic objectives are that we will:  

1  Contribute to the improvement of occupational standards and practice 
in health and social care by ensuring the Professional Standards Authority 
is an independent, authoritative, effective, value for money organisation 
acting in the public interest. 

We will do this through: 
 
 Consistent application of our values  

 Dialogue with patients and service users, the public and their representative 
organisations 

 Being committed to inclusion, equality, diversity and human rights 

 Promoting regulation's proper role in public safety  

 Being clear and positive in our relationships with regulatory bodies and 
organisations holding voluntary occupational registers 

 Active engagement with regulators and others both within and outside the 
health and social care sector   

 Efficient business practices and cost-effective working 

 Publishing annually our business plan and annual report and accounts. 
 

We will know we have succeeded because: 
 
 The regulatory bodies and others respect our advice and act on it 

 We receive commissions from governments and others 

 We have facilitated co-operation across regulatory bodies and between them 
and others 

 The public, patients and service users have greater confidence in the 
regulation of health and social care 

 Our financial basis is sound. 

2  Report clearly and openly on the effectiveness of regulatory bodies in 
the regulation of health and social care professionals in the interests of 
patients and the public. 

We will do this by: 
 
 Working with the health and social care professional regulators we oversee 

(see Chapter 4) to deliver evidence-based, reliable assessment and robust 
oversight of their performance 

 erformance reviews 
and audits and on their implementation of our recommendations  
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 Using our statutory powers to audit and review fitness to practise cases 
appropriately, including the statutory right of appeal 

 Responding appropriately to concerns and complaints raised with us and 
investigating and reporting openly when necessary   

 Being proportionate and focused on outcomes 

 Enabling good practice and learning to be shared 

 Transparent, resolute and fair public reporting. 
 

We will know we have succeeded because: 
 
 We see good practice and improvement in the regulators 

 Regulators respond to and act on our recommendations 

 There is a continuing overall reduction in the concerns identified in our 
performance review and audits 

 Our internal quality assurance demonstrates that we make the right decisions 
about possible appeals 

 We have facilitated innovative and effective opportunities for sharing learning 
and good practice. 
 

3  Enhance public confidence in unregulated health and care occupations 
by creating a reliable and effective accreditation scheme for voluntary 
occupational registers, promoting quality in education and training, 
registration and standards of conduct. 

We will do this by: 
 
 Having clearly defined standards of entry to our voluntary registers 

accreditation scheme 

 Ensuring that all holders of voluntary registers which we accredit continue to 
meet our standards  

 Supporting and encouraging the holders of voluntary registers to meet the 
standards of the accreditation scheme and enabling them to join 

 Promoting communication and co-operation between the holders of voluntary 
registers to share best practice 

 Clarifying for and communicating to the public the difference between 
statutory regulation and voluntary registration   

 Enabling the public and patients to make informed choices about the 
provision of health and social care 

 Taking action against those holders of voluntary registers which fail to meet 
our standards  
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 Reviewing the effectiveness and efficiency of the scheme 

 Ensuring that the scheme is value for money. 
 

We will know we have succeeded because: 
 
 Organisations which hold voluntary occupational registers will seek 

accreditation 

 Unregulated workers in health and care occupations will seek to join an 
accredited register 

 Public, employers and commissioners will seek services from people on a 
register that we have accredited  

 The public and service users are generally clear about the difference 
between statutory regulation and assured voluntary registration  

 There is public recognition of our accreditation scheme for voluntary registers 
as a mark of quality in which the public has confidence. 

 

4  Build evidence and promote debate in order to identify best practice in 
health and care professional regulation and registration and to influence 
the wider field of regulatory policy. 

We will do this by: 
 
 Research and analysis of policy in regulation, health and social care both in 

the UK and overseas 

 Responding to commissions for advice from the Secretary of State for Health 
and the ministers in devolved administrations 

 Identifying problems from our performance reviews and recommending 
solutions 

 Publishing research, advice and guidance  

 Promoting discussion, debate and learning through seminars and 
conferences 

 Understanding the wider context of regulation including internationally 

 Responding with agility to changes in the health and social care context 

 Facilitating co-operation and collaboration between regulatory bodies and 
others. 
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We will know we have succeeded because:  
 
 There is continuing and sustained demand for our policy advice and 

guidance from regulators, the holders of voluntary registers and others 

 We continue to be commissioned by the Department of Health and the 
devolved administrations to provide policy advice 

 We have played an active role in 
professional and occupational regulation and registration 

 An evidence base will be established around excellence in professionalism 
and right-touch regulation 

 Other organisations, including the regulators, voluntary register holders  and 
the Department of Health, take action to deliver our recommendations 

 Our insight and experience is sought by the wider regulatory sector 

 We are invited to contribute to seminars, conferences and other events 

 We are asked to facilitate joint working. 
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4.  
Oversight of the regulators 

4.1 The aim of the Professional Standards Authority, as it was of CHRE, is to 
promote the health, safety and well-being of patients, service users and other 
members of the public. We have remained committed to that aim throughout the 
process of transition to the new organisation. 

4.2 The primary means by which we achieve our aim is through the exercise of our 
statutory powers of oversight of the regulators, scrutiny of their fitness to practise 
cases, and reporting on their performance to the Parliaments and Assemblies of 
the UK. We were committed during the year to ensuring we met all our key 
performance indicators in these areas despite the preparation for our new roles 
and responsibilities. 

4.3 We conducted two special reviews during the year, one into problems at the 
NMC and the requirements for strategic change and another into allegations 
made by the former chair of the General Dental Council. Both are published on 
our website.6 

4.4 We also promote the public interest in regulation by our work on standards and 
policy. We completed several significant commissions during the year.  

4.5 Our standards for members of NHS boards and governing bodies for clinical 
commissioning groups7 was published in November 2012 having been submitted 
to the Secretary of State in June that year. Our report on the cost effectiveness 
and efficiency of the regulators8 was published in November 2012. 

4.6 Building our knowledge of regulation through research, international comparison, 
seminars and conferences remains an important part of our commitment to 
quality. We completed a commissioned review for the Nursing Council of New 
Zealand and continued to provide advice and support to colleagues in Hong 
Kong as they review health professional regulation there. 

4.7 In order to maintain our continuing statutory responsibilities while preparing for 
new ones we developed a change programme, monitored by a staff team drawn 
from across the organisation. The Audit and Risk Committee regularly monitored 
and considered changes to the risk register which was then formally approved by 
the Board. As this report shows, all our new statutory functions were delivered 
and operating on time. 

4.8 All these activities are reported in more detail below. 

                                            
6   CHRE, 2012. Strategic Review of the Nursing and Midwifery Council. London: CHRE. Available at: 

http://professionalstandards.org.uk/docs/special-reviews-and-investigations/chre-final-report-for-nmc-strategic-review-
%28pdf%29.pdf?sfvrsn=0 
Professional Standards Authority, 2013. An Investigation into Concerns Raised by the Former Chair of the GDC. London: 
CHRE. Available at:  
http://www.professionalstandards.org.uk/docs/special-reviews-and-investigations/130204-gdc-investigation-report-final.pdf 

7  www.professionalstandards.org.uk/docs/psa-library/november-2012---standards-for-board-members.pdf?sfvrsn=0 
8 www.professionalstandards.org.uk/docs/psa-library/november-2012---advice-on-cost-effectiveness-and-efficiency.pdf?sfvrsn=0 
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Scrutiny and quality 
4.9 The principal aim of our scrutiny of final fitness to practise cases is to improve the 

can usually be achieved by feeding back learning points to the regulators, rather 
than by referring cases to court. We usually do this in writing, or sometimes in 
feedback meetings. The feedback we provide to the regulators may assist them 
in focusing the training they provide to their fitness to practise panel members, 
and/or staff. During 2012/13 we have continued to contribute to such training if 
asked to do so by the regulators.   

4.10 This year we have again seen an increase in the number of fitness to practise 
cases notified to us by the regulators, from 2,528 in 2011/12 to 2,738 in 2012/13. 
This continues the trend of increases year on year in the number of cases, which 

 
4.11 Of the 2,738 cases we received this year, 1,932 were closed with no requirement 

for more information. We sought and considered additional information in 377 
cases. In 328 of all cases received, we identified learning points to feed back to 
the regulators. Compared to the previous year this represents a decrease in the 
number of learning points we fed back and this may indicate continuing 

-making (see Table 1). 
4.12 We have a range of powers to scrutinise the regulators to ensure that patient 

safety and public protection are central to their work. Under Section 29 of the 
National Health Service Reform and Health Care Professions Act 2002 we can 
refer final fitness to practise decisions made by the nine regulatory bodies to 
court. We do this if we consider that a decision is unduly lenient (within the 
meaning of that phrase, as set out in case-law) and that a referral is necessary in 
the interest of public protection. We have continued to use these important 
powers where necessary for the protection of the public. While the number of 
fitness to practise cases being managed by the regulators has risen significantly, 
there continues to be only a small number of cases where the criteria for a court 
referral are met (see Table 2). It is worthy of note that our court referrals have 
dropped from one in 70 in 2005/06 to fewer than one in 600 in 2011/12 

4.13 During the year we considered 10 cases at case meetings, compared to 16 
cases during 2011/12, and we referred three cases to court (2011/12: four 
cases). 

4.14 The first case referred wa
behaviour in taking his 

her consent, and in sending her inappropriate text messages after the event was 
inappropriate and sexually motivated, it did not amount to misconduct, because 

ur was not dishonest as was also alleged.  
4.15 CHRE referred the case to the High Court on 16 April 2012. The case was 

ultimately 
The basis of the settlement was that, in the event that the doctor ever applied for 

-register during the 
period since t , the GMC would refer re-
formulated allegations against him to the FTPC.  
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4.16 The Authority has asked the Law Commission to consider whether registrants 
period.  

4.17 The 
(HPC ) Conduct and Competence Committee (CCC) had found that the fitness 
to practise of a radiographer was not impaired. He had attended a job interview 
during the course of which he had demonstrated limited clinical knowledge (and 
he had scored poorly in a film viewing test before the interview). The CCC found 
the facts proved, but concluded that they were not sufficient to demonstrate a 
lack of competence, because they only concerned one incident rather than a fair 

. 
4.18 CHRE referred the case to the High Court on 6 July 2012. The appeal was 

subsequently settled by a Consent Order that was approved by the High Court, 
following agreement between CHRE and the HCPC that the case should be re-
heard by the CCC. This case is yet to be decided. 

4.19 The third case concerned a dental technician who had acted outside his scope of 
practice in relation to one patient (and had done so in circumstances where there 
were cross-infection risks) and who had failed to have in place appropriate 
indemnity insurance for the entirety of his professional registration. The General 

 Conduct Committee found 
fitness to practise to be impaired and imposed a suspension of one month, to 
expire without any review hearing. 

4.20 The decision to refer the case to the High Court was made by the Professional 
Standards Authority on 25 March 2013 and the appeal was lodged on 3 April 
2013. The GDC has stated that it will not oppose our appeal. A hearing date of 
13 November 2013 has been set by the court. 

4.21 Details of case meetings and summaries of cases referred to court can be found 
on our website.9 

4.22 Of the 17 cases considered at case meetings that did not result in court referrals, 
five resulted in us feeding back learning points to the regulators.  

4.23 During 2012/13 we carried out audits of a sample of the cases closed at the initial 
stages of the fitness to practise process by five of the nine regulators that we 
oversee, in accordance with the change in our audit process that we 
implemented in 2011/12 (and which was described  

4.24 During 2012/13 we audited the cases closed by the NMC, the GDC, the GOC, 
the GOsC and the GPhC.10 are available 
on our website.11 

4.25 The evidence that we obtained during the audits in 2012/13 has been used to 
inform our assessment of risks for the purposes of deciding which regulators to 
audit in 2013/14. 

                                            
9  www.professionalstandards.org.uk/regulators/overseeing-regulators  
10  Changes to the process are discussed with and approved by the Scrutiny Committee and or the Board of the Authority 
11  www.professionalstandards.org.uk/regulators/overseeing-regulators/early-fitness-to-practise-decisions/early-fitness-to-practise-

decisions-detail?id=2ac9bfff-0965-4447-9c4c-0a8b85f795c2 
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 Performance review  

4.26 We carried out our annual performance review of the nine regulators for 2012/13 
using the same standards and process as last year. We have continued to use 
the revised approach to evidence-gathering that we initiated in 2011/12 (and 

revised, briefer reporting structure initiated in 2011/12. 
4.27 For the performance review of the health professional regulators in 2012/13, 

please refer to volume II of this annual report. 

Fitness to practise 

4.28 There has been an eight per cent increase in the number of fitness to practise 
cases notified to us by the nine regulators compared to the previous year (and a 
49 per cent increase compared to 2009/10). We have continued to review all 
cases within our statutory deadline. 

4.29 We acknowledge that the number of fitness to practise allegations is increasing 
significantly each year for some regulators, and we welcome attempts being 
made by regulators to understand the reasons for this increase, in addition to 
putting more resource into the fitness to practise function to deal with referrals 
promptly. The impetus to ensure that fitness to practise matters are progressed 
with appropriate speed is likely to increase in light of the recommendations in the 
Report of the Mid Staffordshire NHS Foundation Trust Public Inquiry.   

4.30 In addition to the various reasons that might underlie the upward trend in number 
of fitness to practise cases notified to us, which have been described in our past 
performance review reports, this year has seen some regulators significantly 
increasing the number of hearings they hold concurrently in order to improve the 
timeframes for completion of each case. In particular, the Nursing and Midwifery 
Council has more than doubled the number of concurrent hearings it holds each 
day, in order to address the number of open cases it has that predate January 
2011 and to improve its timeframes for the conclusion of fitness to practise cases 
generally.  

4.31 This increase in hearings activity has had, and is likely to continue to have, a 
significant impact on the resources of the Scrutiny and Quality Team. 
The year 2012/13 has also seen the transfer of responsibility for the regulation of 
social workers in England to the Health and Care Professions Council (formerly 

practise caseload has significantly increased and that both the HCPC and the 
Authority have begun considering fitness to practise cases concerning social 
workers for the first time. 
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Table 1 
 

 
 
 
 
Table 2 

 
 
* In 2012/13 four cases in total were referred to court, with one case withdrawn by CHRE/the Authority. 
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 Scrut  

4.32 Since 1 July 2012, the Authority has had a new role assisting the Privy Council 
with appointments to the regulatory councils (excluding the PSNI).12 We gained 
this role with the commencement of Section 227 of the Health and Social Care 
Act 2012, and have provided advice to the Privy Council in relation to all 
processes to make appointments 
2012.13  

4.33 Under the new provisions, the Privy Council retains the power to make the 
appointments, but can make arrangements with others, including the Authority 
and the regulators, to assist it with this function. In practice this means each 
regulator is responsible for all aspects of the recruitment/selection process up to 
the point it has decided which candidates it considers should be appointed. The 
regulator then recommends the candidates to the Privy Council. If the Privy 
Council accepts the recommendation, it makes the appointments, informed by 

 
4.34 We scrutinise each appointments process and assess whether it adheres to the 

principles of appointment on merit, fairness, transparency and openness, and the 
extent to which it inspires confidence. Once we have scrutinised evidence 
provided by the regulator at the point they recommend candidates to the Privy 
Council, if we are satisfied that a process has adhered to all these principles, we 
advise the Privy Council that it can have confidence in the process.  

4.35 The scope of our assistance to the Privy Council is limited to scrutinising the 
process the regulator has used to select candidates to recommend for 
appointment. We take no view on the suitability of individuals for particular roles; 
wherever possible we avoid knowing the identities of recommended candidates. 
We also do not prescribe the process regulators must use, in line with a right-
touch approach to regulation. As long as a regulator can demonstrate that its 
process adheres to the four principles, they may implement a process which best 
suits their own needs and resources. 

4.36 
specified in the Act, is the subject of a memorandum of understanding concluded 
between the Privy Council and the Authority in February 2013. We have agreed 
that we will provide advice to the Privy Council in relation to all appointments and 
reappointments processes and, if the Privy Council requests it, in relation to any 

detailed in two documents we published in October 2012, describing the scrutiny 
process we use and providing good practice guidance on making council 
appointments.14 This approach was developed following a public consultation 
between May and August 2012, and with support from the Appointments 
Commission and others involved in public appointments. We plan to review our 
approach during 2013/14. 

                                            
12  In 

as well as new appointments. 
13  www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2002/17/contents 
14  http://professionalstandards.org.uk/regulators/overseeing-regulators/appointments-to-councils 
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4.37 In 2012/13, we provided advice to the Privy Council in relation to 13 processes 
run by six regulators. Nine of these processes related to appointments via open 
competition, covering 41 vacancies including three chair roles. The other three 
related to the reappointment of 14 council members. In all cases so far we have 
been able to advise the Privy Council that it could have confidence in the 
regulators  processes. Notwithstanding this, concerns about aspects of several 
processes have led us to write to the relevant regulators with learning points, and 
we will look at what changes have been incorporated in the regulators  next 
appointments processes. 

4.38 In addition to identifying areas for improvement, we have sought to identify 
instances of good practice which we will share with all the regulators. In areas 

we will seek to develop and publish further specific guidance upon which the 
regulators can draw. 

 

Standards and policy 

Advice on matters related to the regulation of health and care professionals 
4.39 In November 2012 we published An Approach to Assuring Continuing Fitness to 

Practise based on Right-Touch Regulation Principles.15 This paper describes our 
thinking on the role that regulators should play in supporting health and care 
professionals to demonstrate that they are fit to practise throughout their careers. 
It builds on the principles of right-touch regulation and presents a risk-based 
approach to the issue, arguing that regulators should apply only the regulatory 
force that is necessary to achieve the desired result. 

4.40 In March 2013 we published  Fit and Proper? Governance in the public interest.16 
Building on the seven principles of public life, in this paper we argued for a 
renewed focus in public office on collective and individual responsibility, personal 
behaviour and standards, and values. In doing so, we drew on our experience of 
annual revie , of investigating specific areas of 
concern and of developing policy in the sector to reflect on these issues. We also 
drew on our international experience, for example, the review we conducted in 
2012 at the request of the Nursing Council of New Zealand, which looked 
specifically at governance. The key arguments of an early draft were presented 
at the 4th Cambridge International Regulation and Governance Conference in 
September 2012, and expert reviewers contributed to its development. There 
was considerable interest in the report after publication. 

4.41 We have responded to a range of policy reviews and consultations over the year. 
Most notably we prepared a wide-ranging and substantive response to the Law 

tion on the proposals for a simplified legislative framework 
for the regulation of health professionals in the UK and social work professionals 
in England. We were also involved in shaping the g
to the Report of the Mid Staffordshire NHS Foundation Trust Public Inquiry. 

                                            
15  www.professionalstandards.org.uk/docs/psa-library/november-2012---right-touch-continuing-fitness-to-practise.pdf 
16  www.professionalstandards.org.uk/docs/scrutiny-quality/130307-fit-and-proper-governance-in-the-public-interest.pdf?sfvrsn=0 
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Beyond this we submitted 11 consultation responses to the regulators and other 
organisations.  

Managing the transition to our new roles 

4.42 We completed our preparatory work required for the scrutiny of processes used 
by regulators to recommend chairs and council members to the Privy Council. 
This included seminars with colleagues in the regulatory bodies and a public 
consultation on the oversight procedure and good practice guide. The final 
documents were published in October 2012. 

Our relationship with the public, regulators, and other stakeholders 

4.43 We have continued to consult and involve patients and service users in England, 
Northern Ireland, Wales and Scotland in our work, including in the development 
of our new accreditation scheme for voluntary registers, in our work to develop 
standards for members of NHS boards and clinical commissioning group 
governing bodies in England and in a joint seminar with the Human Tissues 
Authority on the issue of consent. We also conducted two consumer research 
projects and have maintained our public and professional stakeholder networks, 
publishing a regular eNewsletter and policy bulletins. Plans to hold a national 
conference on the findings of the Mid Staffordshire inquiry were cancelled due to 
the delay in publication of that report. We have liaised regularly with the 
regulators we oversee, and with other regulators and stakeholders across the 
UK.  

Promoting improvement, discussion and debate 

4.44 We have continued to promote discussion and debate in the sector, to encourage 
the sharing of ideas, promote learning from good practice and ensure that the 
interests of the public are at the centre of regulatory policy development. 

4.45 We held two seminars jointly with the Human Tissue Authority on 11 December 
2012 and 22 March 2013. The first event was with members of the public and 
organisations representing the public and patients; the second was with 
regulators overseen by the Professional Standards Authority, other regulators 
with an interest in consent, and other organisations with a professional interest in 
the subject. Both seminars focused on case studies around post mortem 
examination and cord blood collection. They covered issues around qualifying 
relationships and disputes which may arise within a family, the information 
provided to a family about the procedures for which consent is being sought and 
the roles of professionals in the consent process and the training required. A 
report of the meetings will inform the development and review of future advice 
and guidance. 

4.46 In February we held our fifth high-level symposium, at which issues arising from 
the final report of the public inquiry into Mid Staffordshire NHS Foundation Trust 
were discussed. The symposium involved, amongst others, UK health and social 
care professional regulators, representatives from the governments of the UK 
countries, the system regulators from the countries of the UK, the Council on 
Licensure Enforcement and Regulation, International Society for Quality in 
Healthcare, Action against Medical Accidents, National Voices, Nursing and Care 



 

19 
 

Quality Forum, Centre for Health Services Economics and Organisation, Oxford 
Brookes University, NHS Employers, the Law Commission, Reform, and the 
Committee on Standards in Public Life. 

4.47 The following articles have been published during the year: 
 Finding the Right Touch: extending the right-touch regulation approach to the 

accreditation of voluntary registers, in the British Journal of Guidance and 
Counselling, Volume 41, Issue 1, January 2013   

 Regulating for Compassion  the role of professional regulators in promoting 
compassionate care, in Too Posh to Wash? Reflections on the future of 
nursing, 2020health.org, January 2013. 

Research 

4.48 
perceptions of issues relating to regulation. In the first project we explored 

interactions, and their willingness to take responsibility for managing these risks. 
This helped us to develop our thinking around right-touch regulation.  

4.49 
the final stages of the fitness to practise process, and in particular opinions on 
the use of non-hearing based approaches. In this project we will compare the 
views of the general public with those of people who have made complaints to 
the regulatory bodies.  

4.50 We commissioned a short pilot project to look at the comments made on social 
media by doctors about their regulator, to see if this might yield interesting and 
useful insights into the nature of the relationship and into their understanding of 
the role and purpose of regulation. At the time of writing the final report of the 
pilot is being assessed to see whether a more wide-ranging report looking at 
comments by a wider range of health professionals would be warranted. 

4.51 We continue to maintain contacts with academics and academic centres 
interested in professional regulation, and will consider holding an academic 
seminar next year. We are in discussion with the University of Bedfordshire about 
the possibility of using the data that we hold in our Section 29 database to 
support research.   

Strengthening relationships across the UK, in Europe and worldwide 

4.52 We continue to monitor developments in regulation internationally, retain our 
membership of international organisations and seek opportunities to share good 
practice and promote ideas and debate. In this we are increasingly supported by 
our growing international review work. 

4.53 We contributed to A Neglected Resource: transforming healthcare through 
human capital, a report written by McKinsey for the innovation in human capital 
theme at the Global Health Policy Forum in August 2012.  
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 Advice to, and investigations for governments 
4.54 Our legislation enables UK health ministers to request our advice on any matters 

connected with health care professions or to investigate and report on matters 
relating to our functions. In 2012 the remit of this advice was extended to 
accommodate changes to the regulation of social workers in England, and the 
introduction of accredited voluntary registers by the Health and Social Care Act 
2012. In all instances, the Authority must comply with the request.  

4.55 In June 2012, following extensive consultation with patients, the public, NHS 
board members and other key stakeholders such as NHS Employers and the 
Institute of Healthcare Management, we submitted our standards for members of 
NHS boards and clinical commissioning group governing bodies in England to 
the Secretary of State for Health. The standards cover the personal behaviours, 
technical competences and business practices expected of senior NHS leaders. 
The standards were published in November 2012,17 and featured in the 
g report of the public inquiry into the Mid 
Staffordshire NHS Foundation Trust in March 2013.  

4.56 During the year we completed our advice18 on the cost effectiveness and 
efficiency of the health professional regulators. This work was commissioned by 
the Secretary of State for Health and arose from the focus on the costs of 
regulation in the 2011 Command Paper Enabling Excellence. Our advice 
confirmed the prediction that economies of scale are a strong influence on the 
registration fee charged by regulatory bodies, and our advice described some 
hypothetical examples of how overall costs could be reduced. However, the 
model developed to aid our analysis, by the Centre for Health Service Economics 
and Organisation, indicated that other factors are also influential, not least the 
task facing each organisation in terms of the complexity and the regulatory force 
required.  

4.57 We also submitted our advice19 on making regulations under Section 28 of the 
NHS Reform and Health Care Professionals Act 2002. We advised that we could 
consider administrative and policy matters that are raised with us about the 
regulatory bodies where we judge that the allegation, supported by sufficient 
information, presents a wider risk to public protection and/or confidence in 
regulation. The advice also outlined a process through which we could direct a 
regulator to make or change a rule. However, this would be seen as an option of 
last resort, where it is the only way to improve public protection.  

General Dental Council investigation 
4.58 On 3 June 2011 the Department of Health asked CHRE to advise whether: 

 The concerns raised by the former Chair of the GDC (Alison Lockyer) upon 
d that the GDC may be 

failing in any way to fulfil its statutory functions  

                                            
17  www.professionalstandards.org.uk/docs/psa-library/november-2012---standards-for-board-members.pdf?sfvrsn=0 
18  www.professionalstandards.org.uk/docs/psa-library/november-2012---advice-on-cost-effectiveness-and-efficiency.pdf?sfvrsn=0 
19  www.professionalstandards.org.uk/docs/psa-library/commencement-of-s27(2)-and-s28---advice.pdf?sfvrsn=2 
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 There were concerns about the actions of individuals on the Council which 
ought to be drawn to the attention of the Appointments Commission. 

4.59 
in a letter she sent to the Secretary of State on 5 May 2011 upon her resignation 
from the GDC.  

4.60 We published the report20 setting out our advice to the Secretary of State on 11 
February 2013. Our overall conclusion was that, despite certain areas of concern 
identified as part of our investigation, we considered that the GDC was not and is 
not failing to fulfill its statutory functions, and that none of the actions of its 
individual Council members ought to be drawn to the attention of the 
Appointments Commission (now the Privy Council). 

Strategic review of the Nursing and Midwifery Council 
4.61 CHRE was commissioned by the Parliamentary Under Secretary of State at the 

Department of Health in January 2012 to carry out a strategic review of the 
Nursing and Midwifery Council and to report back.  

4.62 An interim report was published in April 2012, setting out some of the challenges 
faced by the organisation.  

4.63 Our final report, published in July,21 made 14 high-level recommendations for 
action including leadership, governance and financial stewardship.   

Governance and operations 

Sustainability 

4.64 We continue to work to improve the sustainability of our operations. Our office 
was refurbished, before we became tenants, in accordance with the BREEAM 
environmental assessment standard, which looks at heating, lighting, recycling 

e The Authority occupies 2.58 per 
cent of the building, part of which is occupied by t  tenants. 

4.65 Our gas and water consumption is calculated as 2.58 per cent of the total. Our 
electricity is separately monitored and the consumption for the space rented from 
the landlord is known. This does not however include the consumption by the 

 tenants. Our consumption for 2012/13 and the previous year is set out 
below. 
 
 2012/13 2011/12 
Gas 6,297kWh 5,993.7 kWh 
Electricity 64,461kWh 55,809 kWh 
Water 130 m3 184.43 m3 
Waste removed 3.23 tonnes Not available 

                                            
20  www.professionalstandards.org.uk/regulators/overseeing-regulators/special-reviews-and-investigations/special-reviews-and-

investigations-detail?id=bb3693d3-e343-427f-8ed3-ee907a41c12e 
21  www.professionalstandards.org.uk/regulators/overseeing-regulators/special-reviews-and-investigations/special-reviews-and-

investigations-detail?id=330a9ac9-16aa-46a5-b628-cc6bb008a339 
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4.66 Our offices have communal facilities to separate waste for recycling on every 
floor, and to encourage staff to do this no waste is collected from bins at desks. 
Waste is separated into recyclable, non-recyclable and glass. A contractor 
separates the mixed recyclables. During the year the landlord added bins for the 
recclying of food waste. 

4.67 The installation of compactors has reduced the frequency of collections from 
daily to fortnightly, reducing vehicle emissions.  

4.68 We seek to minimise the impact of our own activities on the environment. We use 
recycled materials where such alternatives are available and provide value for 
money.  

4.69 We are seeking to reduce the use of paper by maximising the use of our intranet 
and website for the dissemination of information. We are also using electronic 
versions of meeting papers where technically practical. Where paper is used we 
are looking to reduce its consumption through the active management of printers 
requiring double-sided printing. We used 329 cases of paper in 2012/13 (338 
cases in 2011/12).  

4.70 When travel is necessary we use public transport as much as possible and have 
increased our use of telephone and video conferencing to avoid the need to 
travel. When possible, journeys within the UK and Europe are made by train. 

4.71 During the year under review we have been collecting environmental information 
regarding journeys made by Board and staff members. This is the first time we 
have collected this data so there are no comparisons. 

 

Mode of travel CO2/kg 
Total 

CO2/kg 
Average per full-time equivalent* 

Air 5,238 206 
Rail 460 18 

Accounts and audit 

4.72 Our accounts have been prepared according to Determinations by the Secretary 
of State pursuant to Schedule 7, Paragraph 15 of the National Health Service 
Reform and Health Care Professions Act 2002, as amended by the Health and 
Social Care Act 2008 and the Health and Social Care Act 2012. 

4.73 Details about the NHS Pension Scheme and the treatment of pension liabilities in 
the accounts are set out in accounting policies within the notes to the accounts 
(note 1). 

4.74 Our external auditor is the Comptroller and Auditor General. Grant Thornton were 
contracted to undertake the internal audit function. 

4.75 This report has been prepared in accordance with the 2012/13 government 
Financial Reporting Manual (FReM) issued by HM Treasury. 

4.76 So far as we are aware, there is no relevant audit information of which the 
auditors are unaware, and we have taken all the steps to make ourselves aware 
of any relevant audit information and to establish that the auditors are aware of 
that information. 
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Financial summary 

4.77 Grant in aid funding for 2012/13 comprised £3.30m (2011/12: £1.87m) from the 
Department of Health and £0.38m (2011/12: £0.40m) from the devolved 
administrations. At 31 March 2013, we had reserves carried forward of £0.80m 
(2011/12: £0.29m) after net operating costs of £3.20m (2011/12: £2.44m). 

4.78 An analysis of accounting policies is shown in note 1 to the accounts. There have 
been no significant changes to these during the year. 

Transparency  

4.79 The Authority is committed to transparency. Having embraced the concept of 
disclosure, we were already using our website to provide information on policies, 
operations and expenditure to the public prior to the drive to do so which 
commenced in 2011. We will continue to do so even where there is no formal 
requirement to disclose. 

4.80 Our creditor payment policy is maintained in accordance with the g
Better Payment Policy, which currently provides for payment of suppliers within 
five working days of receipt of invoice, except in the instance where there may be 
a query or dispute regarding an invoice.  

4.81 This target is challenging, especially for a small organisation, and could only be 
achieved if we employed more staff. Accordingly, we aim to pay 60 per cent of 
undisputed invoices within five days and 100 per cent within 10 days. 

4.82 During the 2012/13 financial year, 100 per cent of invoices were paid within 10 
days and 60 per cent (by number of invoices) and 49 per cent (by total invoice 
value) within five days. Details of our payment record can be found on our 
website.22 

4.83 No interest was paid under the Late Payment of Commercial Debts (Interest) Act 
1998.        

4.84 The balance owed to trade creditors as at 31 March 2013 was £47k (2011/12: 
£142k). As a proportion of the total amount invoiced by suppliers in the year, this 
is equivalent to seven days (2011/12: 34 days). 

4.85 Other information that can be found in the government disclosure and 
transparency sections of our website includes: 
 Expenditure over £25,000 

 Council member expenses 

 Management team expenses 

 Hospitality 

 Staff salaries 

 Staff organogram. 

                                            
22  www.professionalstandards.org.uk/about-us/disclosure-and-transparency/government-disclosure/payment-statistics 
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 Accreditation of voluntary registers 
4.86 The Health and Social Care Act 2012 has given the Authority the power to 

accredit voluntary registers that meet our standards in the interests of service 
users and the public. The Accredited Voluntary Registers (AVR) scheme, which 
applies to the health and care sector in the UK, was established to provide 

standards in the following areas: 
 Governance 

 Setting standards for registrants 

 Education and training 

 Managing the register 

 Complaints and information. 
4.87 The standards describe good practice in voluntary registration. They were 

developed in partnership with more than 40 organisations. We ran a series of 
workshops across the four UK nations to discuss each area described above. A 
final draft was agreed and published for formal consultation in April 2012. We 
received and reviewed more than 450 responses and amended the standards 
accordingly, publishing a final version in November 2012.   

4.88 The co-creation approach used to develop the standards was also applied to 
develop the accreditation process. In October 2012, we tested the process during 
a pilot involving five organisations holding voluntary registers in different 
occupations. The pilot proved useful and confirmed the appropriateness of the 
proposed methods of assessment including a documentary review (application 
form, supporting documentation and risk matrix), third party feedback analysis 
(call for information), a site visit, interviews with senior staff, observations of a 
board meeting and of a professional conduct hearing. Applying organisations 
need to provide evidence and demonstrate to the Authority that they meet the 
accreditation standards. An internal panel considers whether or not a voluntary 
register can be accredited and accreditation will be reviewed annually.  

4.89 Following successful conclusion of the pilot process we started receiving formal 
applications for accreditation on 3 December 2012. The scheme is to be self-
funding and not for profit, therefore the Authority charges organisations an initial 
accreditation fee of £12,000 and £9,000 for annual review of accreditation. 
During the time covering this report (up to 31 March 2013) we have received 
applications from the following organisations: 
 Alliance of Private Sector Practitioners  

 British Acupuncture Council 

 British Association for Counselling and Psychotherapy 

 Complementary and Natural Healthcare Council 

 National Counselling Society and National Hypnotherapy Society  

 Play Therapy UK 
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 UK Council for Psychotherapy. 
4.90 At the time of writing, the voluntary registers of the British Association for 

Counselling and Psychotherapy, the British Acupuncture Council, Play Therapy 
UK, the National Counselling Society and the National Hypnotherapy Society 
have been accredited by the Authority. The other organisations are still being 
assessed. We are aware of a number of other organisations which intend to 
apply for accreditation in 2013/14. Beyond these we are aware of about 70 
organisations that have demonstrated an interest in applying for accreditation in 
future. A list of these organisations can be found on our website. 

4.91 Being accredited means that an organisation has satisfied the Authority that it 
meets its high standards. It is a mark of quality. Accredited registers are entitled 
to use the Professional Standards 
below) so that they can be distinguished easily. The quality mark will give extra 
peace of mind for anyone looking for a practitioner, letting them know that 
anyone who holds the mark has committed to the high standards of personal 
behaviour, technical competence and business practice (where applicable) of the 
organisation holding an accredited voluntary register. 

 
Picture 1 

 
4.92 We believe that bringing unregulated health and care occupations into a broad 

framework of assurance is good for patients, service users and the public and is 
the best way to promote quality. The scheme offers service users, employers and 
commissioners the option of seeking practitioners on a register that the Authority 
has vetted and approved, enhancing public protection. The scheme also offers 
practitioners working in unregulated occupations a means of demonstrating their 
personal commitment to meeting high standards by joining an accredited register. 

www.professionalstandards.org.uk/voluntary-registers/accredited-registers-
directory  

4.93 In February 2013, we held an event at the House of Commons hosted by the Rt 
Hon Paul Burstow MP at which Norman Lamb MP, Minister of State for Care and 
Support, officially launched the scheme. Members of Parliament, peers, 
representatives of organisations holding voluntary registers, private healthcare 
providers, patient organisations and officials from the four UK nations attended 
the event. We also held two AVR workshops, one in December 2012 and another 
in January 2013, to assist organisations that were planning or preparing to apply 
for accreditation. We will continue to hold these workshops in the coming year. 
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Advice provided to other organisations 
4.94 Our legislation permits us to provide advice or auditing services to regulatory 

bodies and to others which have similar functions to those of a regulatory body 
whether or not their function relates to health or social care. The recipient must 
pay the Authority for the advice or audits provided. 

4.95 We were commissioned in 2012 to carry out a review of governance and of 
fitness to practise for the Nursing Council of New Zealand. The review was 
carried out between March and May 2012 and, following consideration by the 
Nursing Council, our report23 and their response and action plan were published 
jointly in October 2012. 

4.96 During the year we have continued to advise the Hong Kong Food and Health 
Administration through the JC School of Public Heath of the Chinese University 
of Hong Kong on their reform of health professional regulation in Hong Kong. 

4.97 We provided a background briefing to Department of Health officials attending a 
bilateral meeting on health care in Delhi, India in February 2013. 

4.98 In February 2013 we were commissioned to conduct a review for the Royal 
College of Dental Surgeons in Ontario. At their request we are examining their 
performance in relation to the standards of good regulation. Our review report will 
be published in due course. 

4.99 We have also contributed to a small number of international conferences and 
seminars including to the International Society for Quality in Healthcare and the 
International Association of Medical Regulatory Authorities. 

 
 
 
  

                                            
23  www.professionalstandards.org.uk/docs/special-reviews-and-investigations/final-nursing-council-of-new-zealand-

report.pdf?sfvrsn=0 
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5.  
5.1 Our pay policy incorporates a band structure within which staff can progress 

along incremental points within a given band alongside a performance appraisal 
process. No performance-related pay bonuses are paid. Normal practice would 
be for the Remuneration Committee to consider an annual uplift to reflect a cost 
of living increase payable from October. In line with the pay guidance for 
government employees issued by the Cabinet Office in 2010, the uplift has been 
centrally determined. 

5.2 Progression through the pay band increments is subject to meeting certain 
performance standards as defined in the policy. All staff receive an annual 
appraisal in April and, where performance has reached the agreed standard, 
progression within their band takes place in April.  

5.3 We were instructed by the Department of Health in 2010/11 that as the annual 
increments were not contractual, the Cabinet Office guidelines prohibited us from 
paying them. Accordingly 2012/13 was the third consecutive year that the staff 
received no increments. 

5.4 Contracts are usually offered on a permanent basis. If on occasion they are 
offered on a fixed-term basis, this is to reflect the nature and context of the work 
involved. The notice period required is determined by the position of the post 
holder. We treat termination payments and provisions for compensation for 
termination on a case-by-case basis in consultation with our advisors.  

5.5 A total of 74 days (2011/12: 51.5 days) were lost due to sickness absence in the 
year. This equates to 2.3 days (2011/12: 2.7 days) per person.   
 

 
 

Name Title Date of 
contract 

Unexpired 
term 

Notice 
period 

Linda Allan 
Director of 
Governance and 
Operations 

15 March 2010 Permanent 
contract 3 months 

Christine 
Braithwaite  

Director of Policy 
and External 
Relations 

17 May 2010 Permanent 
contract 3 months 

Harry Cayton Chief Executive 1 August 2007 Permanent 
contract 6 months 

Rosalyn Hayles 
Director of 
Scrutiny and 
Quality 

15 August 2010 Permanent 
contract 3 months 
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Name 
Salary  

2012/13 
 

Salary  
2011/12 

 

Real increase/ 
(decrease) in 

pension at age 60 
 

Total accrued 
pension at 31 

March 2013 
 

Linda Allan 80-85 80-85 0-2.5 2.5-5.0 

Christine 
Braithwaite 80-85 80-85 0-2.5 10-12.5 

Harry Cayton  140-145 135-140 2.5-5.0 17.5-20. 

Rosalyn 
Hayles 75-80 75-80 0-2.5 2.5-5.0 

 
5.6 This table has been audited by the Comptroller and Auditor General. 
5.7 All senior managers in the year were members of the NHS Pension Scheme. 
5.8 ts is available on our website. 
5.9 Financial Reporting Manual, the Authority is required to 

disclose the relationship between the salary of the most highly-paid director (the 
Chief Executive) and the median earnings of the overall Authority workforce.  

5.10 The baseline salary of the Chief Executive in the financial year 2012/13 was 
£141K. This was 3.47 times the median salary of the workforce, which was £41K. 

5.11 The salary of the Chief Executive in the financial year 2011/12 was £140K. This 
was 3.12 times the median salary of the workforce, which was £45K. 

5.12 No employees received remuneration24 in excess of the Chief Executive in 
2012/13 or 2010/12. Remuneration ranged from £20K to £141K (2011/12: £25K 
to £140K)   

 

 
 

                                            
24  Total remuneration includes salary only and there were no non-consolidated performance-related pay, benefits-in-kind or 

severance payments in 2012/13 or 2011/12. It does not include employer pension contributions and the cash equivalent transfer 
value of pensions. 
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Pensions 
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Linda  
Allan 

Director of 
Governance 
and  
Operations 

2.5-
5.0 N/A* N/A 42 62 20 

Christine 
Braithwaite 

Director of 
Policy and 
External 
Relations 

10  
12.5 

32.5-
35.0 0-2.5 204 229 19 

Harry  
Cayton  

Chief  
Executive 

17.5-
20.0 

20-
22.5 0-2.5 288 352 55 

Rosalyn 
Hayles 

Director of 
Scrutiny and 
Quality  

2.5-
5.0 N/A* N/A 18 31 13 

* Not applicable in 2008 scheme 
 

5.13 This table has been audited by the Comptroller and Auditor General. 
 

Cash Equivalent Transfer Value 
A Cash Equivalent Transfer Value (CETV) is the actuarially assessed capital value of the pension scheme 
benefits accrued by a member at a particular point in time. The benefits valued are the members' accrued 
benefits and any contingent spouse's pension payable from the scheme. A CETV is a payment made by a 
pension scheme or arrangement to secure pension benefits in another scheme or arrangement when the 
member leaves a scheme and chooses to transfer the benefit accrued in the former scheme. The pension 
figures shown relate to the benefits that the individual has accrued as a consequence of their total 
membership of the pension scheme, not just their service in a senior capacity to which disclosure applies. 
 
The CETV figure, and from 2005/06 the other pension details, include the value of any pension benefits in 
another scheme or arrangement which the individual has transferred to the NHS Pension Scheme. They 
also include any additional pension benefit accrued to the member as a result of their purchasing additional 
years of pension service in the scheme at their own cost. CETV are calculated within the guidelines and 
framework prescribed by the Institute and Faculty of Actuaries. 
 
Real increase/(decrease) in CETV 
This reflects the increase/(decrease) in CETV. It takes account of the increase in accrued pension due to 
inflation, contributions paid by the employer and employee (including the value of any benefits transferred 
from another scheme or arrangement) and uses common market valuation factors for the start and end of 
the period. 

5.14 No compensation has been paid to former senior managers, or payments made 
to third parties for the services of a senior manager.  



 

30 
 

Authority  
5.15 Remuneration for the Chair and Board members is not subject to 

superannuation. 
5.16 The payments made to the Board are also subject to Cabinet Office guidance. 

The Chair receives remuneration of £33,688 pa (2011/12: £33,688); members 
receive annual remuneration of £7,881 (2011/12: £7,881) and the Audit and Risk 
Committee Chair receives annual remuneration of £13,135 (2011/12: £13,135). 

90,901 (2011/12: £91,269) 
including social security costs.  

5.17 insurance through PAYE. 
5.18 In addition, expenses amounting to £12,703 (2011/12: £10,366) were reimbursed 

to Board members. 
subject to tax. 

5.19 Comptroller and Auditor 
General. 

5.20 Payments to individual members are disclosed below. 

Payments made to Authority Board members during 2011/12 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
Harry Cayton 
Accounting Officer 
 
7 June 2013  

 
2012/13 2011/12 

Salary 
(bands of £5,000) 

Salary 
(bands of £5,000) 

Chair 
Jill Pitkeathley  30-35 30-35 
Members 
Ann Curno  5-10 5-10 

Ian Hamer  5-10 5-10 
Andrew Hind  
(Audit and Risk Committee Chair) 10-15 10-15 

Sally Irvine  5-10 5-10 

Stuart MacDonnell  5-10 5-10 

Jayne Scott  5-10 5-10 
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6. 
 

 
6.1 

Members of Public Bodies, the Authority is responsible for ensuring propriety in 
its use of public funds and for the proper accounting of their use. Under Schedule 
7 paragraph 15 of the National Health Service Reform and Health Care 
Professions Act 2002, as amended by the Health and Social Care Act 2008, the 
Authority is required to prepare a statement of accounts in respect of each 
financial year in the form and on the basis directed by the Secretary of State for 
the Department of Health, with the consent of HM Treasury. The accounts are to 
be prepared on an accruals basis and must give a true and fair view of the 
Authority

 
6.2 In preparing the accounts the Authority is required to: 

 Observe the accounts direction issued by the Secretary of State, with the 
consent of HM Treasury, including the relevant accounting and disclosure 
requirements, and apply suitable accounting policies on a consistent basis 

 Make judgements and estimates on a reasonable basis 

 State whether applicable accounting standards have been followed, and 
disclose and explain any material departures in the financial statements 

 Prepare the statements on the going concern basis unless it is inappropriate 
to presume that the Authority will continue in operation. 

 
6.3 The Accounting Officer for the Department of Health has appointed the Chief 

Executive as the  Accounting Officer. His relevant responsibilities as 
the Accounting Officer, including his responsibility for the propriety and regularity 
of the public finances for which he is answerable and for the keeping of proper 
records, are set out in the Non-
Memorandum issued by HM Treasury and published in Managing Public Money. 
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7.  
The  

7.1 The Board of the Authority has corporate responsibility for ensuring that the 
Authority fulfils its statutory duties and for promoting the efficient, economic and 
effective use of its resources.   

7.2 -executive members and one 
executive member. All non-executive members of our Board have been 
appointed from the public so that we are completely independent of the health 
and social care professional regulators that we oversee.  

7.3 We have a small executive team covering our three areas of work: scrutiny and 
quality; policy and standards; and our governance and operations. 

Chair of the Board 
7.4 The Chair is responsible to the Secretary of State for the Department of Health 

for England and to the devolved administrations. The Chair has a particular 
leadership responsibility on the following matters: 
 Formulating the Authority  

 Ensuring that the Board, in reaching decisions, takes proper account of any 
relevant guidance provided by the ministers or the sponsor departments 

 Promoting the efficient, economic, and effective use of resources including 
staff 

 Encouraging high standards of propriety 

 Ensuring that the Board meets at regular intervals throughout the year and 
that the minutes of meetings accurately record the decisions made and, 
where appropriate, the views of individual members. 

Board members 
 

Board member Appointed by 

Jill Pitkeathley (Chair) Privy Council 

Ann Curno Secretary of State for England 

Ian Hamer Welsh ministers 

Andrew Hind Secretary of State for England 

Sally Irvine Secretary of State for England 

Stuart MacDonnell Department of Health, Social Services 
and Public Safety in Northern Ireland 

Jayne Scott Scottish ministers 

Harry Cayton Authority Board 
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7.5 Schedule 7 of the National Health Service Reform and Health Care Professions 
Act 2002, as amended by the Health and Social Care Act 2008 and by the Health 
and Social care Act 2012, provides directions for the appointment of members to 
the Authority.25 

7.6 A register of interests for each member is available on our website.26  

Reappointments 
7.7 Public appointments are generally made for an initial term of four years which 

can be extended to a second term. When CHRE was established the Council 
members were appointed for varying initial terms in order to facilitate future 
continuity. 

7.8 The change of funding from grant in aid from the Department of Health to fees 
from the regulatory bodies will also result on changes to the governance of the 
Authority which will include changes to the way in which appointments to the 
Authority board are made. In the absence of the availability of the new legislation 
the existing members who came to the end of their first term of appointment in 
2012/13 were reappointed by either by Secretary of State or by the devolved 
administrations. 

7.9 During 2012/13 the following reappointments were made: 
 Baroness Pitkeathley was reappointed as Chair for a four-year term 

 Andrew Hind was reappointed as a Board member and Chair of the Audit 
and Risk Committee for a two-year term 

 Jayne Scott was reappointed for a four-year term 

 Stuart MacDonnell was reappointed for a four-year term 

 Ian Hamer was reappointed for a four-year term. 

Attendance at Council meetings held in public 
7.10 There were six Council meetings held in public between 1 April 2012 and 31 

March 2013.  
 

Council member Number of 
meetings attended 

Jill Pitkeathley (Chair) 6 
Ann Curno 6 
Ian Hamer 6 
Andrew Hind 6 
Sally Irvine 6 
Stuart MacDonnell 6 
Jayne Scott 6 
Harry Cayton 6 

                                            
25  Available at www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2002/17/contents 
26  www.professionalstandards.org.uk/docs/board-related-documents/2012-council-register-of-interests.pdf?sfvrsn=0 
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7.11 During the year the Council and latterly the Board has been active in ensuring 
that the  existing statutory functions were maintained and that the 
organisation was well prepared for its new roles. It achieved this by careful 
monitoring of the change programme, by effective use and monitoring of the risk 
register and by remaining vigilant about the quality of our outputs. 

7.12 It received regular reports from the directors, kept the transition arrangements 
under review and supported the executive team in delivering a challenging 
programme of work. 

7.13 The Council and latterly the Board also played an important role in establishing a 
new strategic direction for the Authority. The Board also receives finance reports 
and receives assurance from the Audit and Risk and Scrutiny Committees. 

7.14 Maintaining the quality of our work is an important consideration for the Board. It 
reviews important publications and reports prior to publication and takes a close 
interest in research and in policy development. 

7.15 The detail of quality assurance is delegated to the Scrutiny Committee and to the 
Audit and Risk Committee. We report on their activities below. 

7.16 In February 2013, the Report of the Mid Staffordshire NHS Foundation Trust 
Public Inquiry was published. The report contained one recommendation for the 
Authority and others which apply to the regulators we oversee. The Board 
considered this important report carefully and will continue to play its part in the 
implementation of its recommendations. 

7.17 The Board also reviews information it receives about the Authorit  performance 
from external parties including the statutory regulators, the voluntary registers 
and the Departments of Health in England, Scotland, Wales and Northern 
Ireland. In 2012 the Board also had the benefit of reading comments made about 
the performance of CHRE in the Law Commissions Consultation Report. 

7.18 The Board is confident that it receives appropriately complete and relevant 
reports from the executive to ensure that it can fulfill its strategic role and can 
hold the executive to account. Quality assurance is provided by both the Scrutiny 
Committee and the Audit and Risk Committee which report to the Board at each 
meeting. The Board also reviews all key policy papers and reports to ensure they 
meet the high standards it expects.  

7.19 All members of the Board are appraised annually by the Chair and are able to 
comment on the performance of both the Chair and the Chief Executive. The 
Chair is appraised by a senior civil servant in the Department of Health. 

7.20 During the year, the Board reviewed its own performance as part of its strategic 
planning. It took account of the skill mix and experience of members. Board 
members have given additional time during the year to be sure they understand 
its statutory responsibilities and any changes arising from the new functions of 
the Professional Standards Authority. The Board considers that it is functioning 
effectively. 
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Committees and working groups of the Council  

Audit and Risk Committee 
7.21 The Authority established an Audit and Risk Committee to support it in its 

responsibilities for risk control and governance. The committee reviews the 
comprehensiveness of assurances in meeting the Board 
assurance needs and reviewing the reliability and integrity of these assurances. 

7.22 There were four Audit and Risk Committee meetings held between 1 April 2012 
and 31 March 2013.  

7.23  
 

Committee member Number of meetings 
attended 

Andrew Hind (Chair) 3 
Stuart MacDonnell 3 
Jayne Scott 4 

 
7.24 Grant Thornton was our internal auditor during the 2012/13 financial year. 
7.25 

opinion on the risk register and changes made to it. 
7.26 The committee reviews its terms of reference and work programme annually and 

reports any changes that it proposes should be made to the Board. Each year it 
formally reports to the Board on: 
 Its work during the previous financial year 

 The assessment of the information governance arrangements 

 The internal audit reports submitted to it 

 The views and opinion of the external auditors. 
7.27 The committee sets its own work programme for the coming year at its December 

meeting and this influences the work programme set for internal audit. The 
internal audit work this year was focused on supporting the transition work and 
ensuring that the risks associated with the changes were being identified and 
addressed. The following reports were considered by the Committee:  
 Accredited voluntary registers 

 IT strategy  delivering required benefits 

 Section 29 review project. 
7.28 The main review planned for the year was a review of the development and 

implementation of the fee arrangements for payments by the regulatory bodies. 
This work was however postponed due to the changing timetable for the 
associated legislation.  

7.29 The finance team has further developed the segmentation of our accounts in 
order to improve the transparency and clarity of income and expenditure. The 
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accounts have been split into the main regulatory function, voluntary registers 
and advice to governments and others, following the  segmentation used in the 
management accounts, budget and business plan. 

7.30 During the year, the committee reviewed the risk register maintained by the 
executive. The main risks requiring discussion were those relating to our ability to 
fulfill our statutory functions while preparing for and making the transition from 
CHRE to the Authority. 

7.31 There was concern about the impact of the uncertainty regarding the status of the 
new Authority on how it could conduct its business and how this would affect the 
Fee regulations necessary to implement independence, which were already 
delayed. CHRE was regarded as an executive non-departmental public body and 

independence. For the present, an 
unclassified public  reflects a shift. 

7.32 The increasing workload arising from the growing number of Section 29 cases 
and the work to undertake the transition also gave rise to a need for additional 
resources. This was addressed through the recruitment of experienced staff on 
fixed term contracts, giving the organisation the skills it needed to deal with the 
immediate issues and the flexibility to review how it operated in future. 

7.33 Risk mitigation was undertaken to ensure that the organisation was able to plan 
ahead notwithstanding the changing timetable for the introduction of the levy. In 
May the Chief Executive received a letter from the Department of Health 
confirming that CHRE (and thereafter the Authority) would continue, for the 
present, to be funded by the Department of Health and devolved administrations 
through to at least April 2014.  

7.34 Much of our work is dependent on having prompt access to legal advice. We do 
so through a framework agreement. This has expired and the Department of 
Health has been working to procure specialist health related legal advice for itself 
and its . However, the timetable for the completion of this has 
slipped, raising concerns about its implementation date and the possible need to 
obtain permission to extend the exiting arrangements. 

7.35 A concern was also raised regarding a potential risk to retain staff and the 
associated loss of knowledge, morale and productivity. It was noted that while 
this was predominantly dependent on the climate outside of the organisation the 
executive was in regular communication with the staff and was looking at matters 
such as staff development and skill transfer. 

7.36 The committee was uneasy about the number of risks that became and or 
remained red during the year. While the committee would normally not 
countenance continuing red risks, it recognised that the organisation was facing 
exceptional circumstances due to the changing timing of transition from CHRE to 
the Authority and associated risks that were outside of its control, in particular the 
legislative timetable. 

7.37 The committee considered the Annual Assessment of Information Risk 
Management which documented the Authority
issues which had arisen during the year. 
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Accredited voluntary registers 

7.38 Our internal auditors, at our request, reviewed the work undertaken to develop 
the scheme as well as the work to determine the fee. Their audit looked at the 
evidence base and the rationale behind the options in the pricing process.  

7.39 The pilot exercise with five organisations allowed the auditors to gather 
information about how the scheme would work in practice and what would be 
required from the organisation both before and during the accreditation process. 
It was noted that a level of subsidy would be required from the Department of 
Health during the first two to three years of the scheme. 

7.40 The audit concluded that the arrangements were robust and transparent. It was 
agreed that the position would continue to be reviewed and there should be a 
further audit next year to review the scheme and a full evaluation would be 
undertaken in two years  time. 

7.41 
to apply before doing so, as the cost for applying to the scheme would not be 
refunded to unsuccessful applicants, this had resulted in a governance issue. 
Consequently clear separation has been made between the accreditation team, 
which provides advice and assistance, and the decision-making panel. 

Scrutiny Committee 
7.42 The Scrutiny Committee reviews, monitors and reports on the operation of the 

Authority and care professional 
regulatory bodies.  

7.43 There were three Scrutiny Committee meetings held between 1 April 2012 and 
31 March 2013  

 

Committee member Number of meetings 
attended 

Sally Irvine (Chair) 3 
Ann Curno 3 
Ian Hamer 3 

 

7.44 
one of the three principal areas of the Scrutiny and Quality T
review of final fitness to practise decisions (under Section 29 of the 2002 Act), 
the initial stages audits and the annual performance review.   

Initial stages audits 

7.45 committee reviewed the 
audit reports published during 2012 and confirmed it was content with the quality 
of those reports, while identifying some areas for potential improvements in future 
reports. 

7.46 At its meeting in December 2012 the committee agreed on the regulators to be 
audited during 2013 based on an assessment of the relevant risks.  
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Review of final fitness to practise decisions (the  
jurisdiction) 

7.47 At its meeting in December 2012 the Scrutiny Committee reviewed all decisions 
taken to appeal/not to appeal individual cases which had been taken at Section 
29 case meetings during the previous 12 months, as well as reviewing a small 
sample of cases which had not been referred forwards for Section 29 case 
meetings. The committee agreed that the executive had reached appropriate 
decisions in each case. It was agreed that one particular decision not to refer a 
case for a case meeting would be the subject of internal review. 

7.48 At its meeting in December 2012 the committee was provided with statistical data 
relating to the size of the Section 29 caseload.  

7.49 At its meeting in September 2012 the committee considered a report outlining 
potential options for future change to the Section 29 case review process, to 
make it more risk-based, in light of the ongoing increase in the number of fitness 
to practise cases to be reviewed. Having discussed the various options, the 

further work in relation to some 
options  for discussion at a future committee meeting. 

Annual performance review of the regulators 

7.50 At its meeting in September 2012 the committee reviewed the performance 
review report for 2011/12 and noted that no changes were proposed to the 
performance review process for 2012/13, with the changes introduced during 
2011/12 being deemed to have resulted in improvements to the quality of the 

performance review report. Feedback received from the regulators about the 
performance review process for 2011/12 was also reviewed.  

Other work 

7.51 The committee has regularly reviewed the organisation
about the regulators and has received regular updates on the progress of 
individual Section 29 appeals and the progress of special reviews/investigations. 

7.52 At its meeting in March 2013 the committee approved draft changes to its terms 
of reference to incorporate a new role for the committee in scrutinising the 

regulators that the Authority oversees and to update terminology used within the 
terms of r me 
and governance. The committee approved the draft changes for submission to 
the Board. The committee also received updates on the operation of the new 
function in scrutinis  meetings in 
December 2012 and March 2013. 
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Remuneration Committee  

Role   

7.53 The Remuneration Committee meets once a year, or more frequently if 
necessary, to agree the annual cost of living increase for staff and to deal with 
other remuneration issues if they arise. 

7.54 There were two Remuneration Committee meetings held between 1 April 2012 
 

 

Committee member Number of meetings 
attended 

Jill Pitkeathley (Chair) 2 
Ian Hamer 2 
Andrew Hind 2 
Harry Cayton (in attendance) 1 
Linda Allan (in attendance) 2 

7.55 Since the organisation continued to be subject to the ongoing pay restrictions set 
by the Cabinet Office, the committee was not required to consider any pay award 
for the staff in 2012/13.  

7.56 The committee, being mindful of the transition taking place and the extra work 
that this involved, agreed that, in addition to the arrangement for paying an acting 
up allowance when a member of staff was temporarily covering for a more senior 
person during a vacancy, it would be helpful to improve flexibility in managing 
workloads to be able, on occasion, to pay a member of staff a small additional 
amount for taking on work above and beyond their normal job description. 

7.57 It was agreed that an additional responsibility allowance could be paid in 
uncommon circumstances where a specific time-limited piece of work outside a 
person's normal job description was taken on. In these circumstances a single 
payment which would be non-consolidated would be paid at the end of the period 
of additional responsibility. 

7.58  During the year the committee became aware that the Chief Executive had not 
been taking annual leave. This had arisen because of the need to work on the 
transition and due to unusual circumstances that resulted in two of the senior 
management team being absent at the same time, further restricting his ability to 
take leave.  

7.59  Following confirmation from the Department of Health that such a payment would 
be permissible, the committee agreed that a payment should be made in respect 
of seven days  leave. This payment was made in March 2013 and is included in 
the salary details on page 28. 

7.60  The committee also agreed that the staff contracts which stated that there is no 
entitlement to payment in respect of any unused annual leave should be 
amended to state that while there was no general entitlement, cases where there 
were exceptional circumstances could be put to the Remuneration Committee for 
its consideration. 
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7.61 The Authority does not have a Nominations Committee. The Remuneration 
Committee would undertake this role should the need arise. 

Pension scheme regulations  
7.62 As an employer with staff entitled to membership of the NHS Pension Scheme, 

control measures are in place to ensure all employer obligations contained within 
the scheme regulations are complied with. This includes ensuring that deductions 

scheme are in 
accordance with the rules and that member pension scheme records are 
accurately updated in accordance with the timescales detailed in the regulations. 

7.63 The protection of data held by us and requests for its disclosure continue to be 
important considerations for us. 

Data handling 
7.64 Our system of internal control is based the Cabinet Office minimum mandatory 

requirements and we continue to monitor and review our compliance with them. 
7.65 We hold very little personal information. The main data we hold relates to our 

own staff. Where we require access to personal data held by others this is 
generally undertaken at the premises of the data holder. Staff undertaking audits 
as part of performance review are required to work through remote access to our 
server whenever possible. Since this is not always possible, the laptops used by 
the auditors have been encrypted to provide another layer of security. 

7.66 
training. The training is split into three levels and is assessment-based. 

7.67 All staff are required to complete the level appropriate to their level of 
responsibility for data handling. All members of staff who have completed the 
training to date successfully passed the assessment. 

7.68 As we have had several changes to our staff and a number of temporary staff 
working with us, during 2012/13 we organised mandatory information governance 
training in January. This was particularly focused on data protection and file 
management. 

7.69 The Audit and Risk Committee Chair has provided a statement that he was 
satisfied that we have appropriate policies for staff to adhere to, as far as they 
apply to the Authority, and that suitable processes are in place to mitigate risks to 
our information. 

Scope of responsibility 
7.70 As Accounting Officer I have responsibility for maintaining a sound system of 

internal control that supports the achievement of the Authority
and objectives, while safeguarding the public funds and organisational assets for 
which I am personally responsible, in accordance with the responsibilities 
assigned to me in Managing Public Money. 

7.71 The Authority reports to the UK Parliament and works closely with the devolved 
administrations in Northern Ireland, Scotland and Wales, and with the 
Department of Health in England, to deliver our statutory obligations and the key 
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objectives of our business plan. This includes identifying and responding 
appropriately to both internal and external risks. 

The purpose of the system of internal control 
7.72 The system of internal control is designed to manage risk to a reasonable level 

rather than to eliminate all risk of failure to achieve policies, aims and objectives; 
it can therefore only provide reasonable and not absolute assurance of 
effectiveness. 

7.73 The system of internal control is designed to identify and prioritise the risks to the 
achievement of organisational policies, aims and objectives, to evaluate the 
likelihood of those risks being realised and the impact should they be realised, 
and to manage them efficiently, effectively and economically. 

7.74 Our system of internal control has been in place for the year ended 31 March 
2013 and up to the date of approval of the annual report and accounts, and 
accords with HM Treasury guidance. The key elements of the system of internal 
control include 
 Financial procedures detailing financial controls, for responsibilities of and 

authorities delegated to the management team 

 Business planning processes setting out the objectives of the Authority 
supported by details annual income, expenditure, capital and cashflow 
budgets 

 Regular reviews of performance along with variance reporting, scenario 
planning and reforecasting. 

Review of effectiveness  
7.75 As Accounting Officer, I have responsibility for reviewing the effectiveness of the 

system of internal control. My review is informed by the work of the internal 
auditors, the Management Team which has responsibility for the maintenance of 
the internal controls, and comments made by the external auditors in their 
management letter and other reports. The Audit and Risk Committee and Board 
have advised me on the implications of the result of my review on the system of 
internal control. The Scrutiny Committee has this year considered in detail our 
performance against our own standards of our statutory functions. 

7.76 The effectiveness of the system of internal control was maintained and reviewed 
through: 
 The Board of the Authority, which met six times (four times as CHRE, twice 

as the Authority) 

 The Audit and Risk Committee, which consists of three members of the 
Board. I also attended the Audit and Risk Committee meetings together with 
the Director of Governance and Operations, the Accounting Manager and 
representatives from the National Audit Office and internal auditors 

 Risk management arrangements as described, under which key risks that 
could affect the achievement of our objectives have been managed actively, 
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with progress being reported to the Audit and Risk Committee and through it 
to the Board of the Authority 

 Our annual assessment of information risk management undertaken in 
accordance with Cabinet Office guidance 

 Regular reports from the internal auditors, Grant Thornton, complying with 

opinion on the adequacy and effectiveness of our internal controls together 
with recommendations for improvement where necessary 

 Comments made by external auditors in their management letter and other 
reports. 

7.77 The Department of Health framework agreement through which we obtained the 
services of Grant Thornton ceased on 31 March 2013. Grant Thornton undertook 
the audit programme during 2012/13 and provided the Head of Internal Audit 
report at the end of the year. The reported stated: 

Based on our work performed in 2012/13 we have reached a view that the 
Authority's governance and risk management arrangements are suitably 
designed and operating effectively .   

7.78 PwC has been awarded the new contract and will be our auditors for 2013/14.  
7.79 I do not consider that we have any significant weaknesses in our system of 

internal controls. A programme of continuous monitoring exists, in consultation 
with the Audit and Risk Committee, internal auditors and external auditors, to 
ensure that we meet best practice standards in all areas of our operations. 

7.80 External and internal influences are considered and any potentially significant 
risks are discussed with key stakeholders as soon as they become apparent. 

7.81 We continue to keep our arrangements under review in response to external 
developments. 

7.82 I am satisfied that this report reflects adequately the information risks we have 
faced, will face in the future and the actions that we take to manage the 
information risks effectively. I am satisfied that any information risk issues were 
managed appropriately. I am confident that of their 
responsibility to store, share and destroy information securely.  

7.83 I confirm that the assessment of information risk management has been 
completed satisfactorily and that the information can be used for our annual 
governance statement. 

7.84 I confirm we have complied with the Code of Corporate Governance as detailed 
in DAO(GEN)02/12  Governance Statements in so far as it applicable to us. 
 
 
 
 
Harry Cayton 
Accounting Officer 
7 June 2013 
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8. 

 
I certify that I have audited the financial statements of the Professional Standards 
Authority for Health and Social Care for the year ended 31 March 2013 under the 
National Health Service Reform and Health Care Professions Act 2002 as 
amended by the Health and Social Care Act 2008 and the Health and Social 
Care Act 2012. These comprise the Statement of Comprehensive Net 
Expenditure, the Statement of Financial Position, the Cash Flow Statement, the 

otes. These 
financial statements have been prepared under the accounting policies set out 
within them. I have also audited the information in the Remuneration Report that 
is described in that report as having been audited. Respective responsibilities of 
the Council, Accounting Officer and Auditor 

the Accounting Officer is responsible for the preparation of the financial 
statements and for being satisfied that they give a true and fair view. My 
responsibility is to audit, certify and report on the financial statements in 
accordance with the National Health Service Reform and Health Care 
Professions Act 2002 as amended by the Health and Social Care Act 2008 and 
the Health and Social Care Act 2012. I conducted my audit in accordance with 
International Standards on Auditing (UK and Ireland). Those standards require 

for Auditors.  

Scope of the audit of the financial statements 
An audit involves obtaining evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the 
financial statements sufficient to give reasonable assurance that the financial 
statements are free from material misstatement, whether caused by fraud or 
error. This includes an assessment of: whether the accounting policies are 

circumstances and have been consistently applied and adequately disclosed; the 
reasonableness of significant accounting estimates made by the Professional 
Standards Authority for Health and Social Care; and the overall presentation of 
the financial statements. In addition I read all the financial and non-financial 
information in the Annual Report to identify material inconsistencies with the 
audited financial statements. If I become aware of any apparent material 
misstatements or inconsistencies I consider the implications for my certificate. I 
am required to obtain evidence sufficient to give reasonable assurance that the 
expenditure and income recorded in the financial statements have been applied 
to the purposes intended by Parliament and the financial transactions recorded in 
the financial statements conform to the authorities which govern them.  
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Opinion on regularity 

In my opinion, in all material respects the expenditure and income recorded in the 
financial statements have been applied to the purposes intended by Parliament 
and the financial transactions recorded in the financial statements conform to the 
authorities which govern them.  

Opinion on financial statements 
In my opinion:  
 the financial statements give a true and fair view of the state of the 

March 2013 and of its net operating cost for the year then ended; and  

 the financial statements have been properly prepared in accordance with the 
National Health Service Reform and Health Care Professions Act 2002 as 
amended by the Health and Social Care Act 2008 and the Health and Social 
Care Act 2012 and Secretary of State directions issued thereunder.  

Opinion on other matters  
In my opinion:  
 the part of the Remuneration Report to be audited has been properly 

prepared in accordance with Secretary of State directions issued under the 
National Health Service Reform and Health Care Professions Act 2002 as 
amended by the Health and Social Care Act 2008 and the Health and Social 
Care Act 2012; and  

 the information given in the Chief Executive's Report for the financial year for 
which the financial statements are prepared is consistent with the financial 
statements.  

Matters on which I report by exception 
I have nothing to report in respect of the following matters which I report to you if, 
in my opinion:  
 adequate accounting records have not been kept or returns adequate for my 

audit have not been received from branches not visited by my staff; or  

 the financial statements and the part of the Remuneration Report to be 
audited are not in agreement with the accounting records or returns; or  

 I have not received all of the information and explanations I require for my 
audit; or  

 
guidance.  
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Report 
I have no observations to make on these financial statements. 
 
 
 
 
Amyas C E Morse  
Comptroller and Auditor General  
National Audit Office  
157-197 Buckingham Palace Road  
Victoria  
London  
SW1W 9SP  
 
11 June 2013 
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9. 

 

 Note  
Year ended 

31 March 
2013 

 
 

Year ended 
31 March 

2012 
 

Expenditure 
Staff costs 3  1,492  1,181 
Other expenditure 4  2,026  1,535 
Income 
Operating income  5  (323)  (275) 

 
Net operating cost 
before tax   3,195  2,441 

Net operating cost    3,195  2,441 

 
The notes on pages 50-63 form part of these accounts. 

Other comprehensive net expenditure 
There was no other comprehensive net expenditure in the year ended 31 March 
2013. 
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10. 
 

  31 March 2013 31 March 2012 

 Note     

Non-current assets 

Intangible assets 7 390  -  

Property, plant and 
equipment 6 114  162  

Total non-current 
assets   504  162 

 
Current assets 
Trade and other 
receivables 8 291  260  

Cash and cash 
equivalents 9 206  155  

Total current assets   497  415 
 
Current liabilities 

Trade and other 
payables 10 (222)  (285)  

Provisions 11 (6)  (3)  

Total current liabilities   (228)  (288) 
 
Non-current assets 
plus net current assets   773  289 

 

Assets less liabilities   773  289 

 
Reserves 
General reserves   773  289 

The notes on pages 50-63 form part of these accounts. 
 
 
 

 
Harry Cayton  
Accounting Officer 
 
7 June 2013  
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11. 
 

 Note 
Year ended  

31 March 
2013 

Year ended 
31 March 

2012 

    

Cash flows from operating activities 

Net operating costs for the year before cost of 
capital reversal  (3,195) (2,441) 

Adjustment for non-cash transactions 4 62 42 
(Increase) in trade and other receivables  8 (31) (80) 
(Decrease)/increase in trade and other payables 10 (63) 119 
Increase in provisions 11 3 (5) 
Movements in provisions not passing through 
the statement of comprehensive net expenditure  - - 

Net cash outflow from operating activities  (3,224) (2,365) 
 

Cash flow from investment activities 

Purchase of property, plant and equipment 6 (14) (97) 

Purchase of intangible assets 7 (390) - 

Net cash outflow from investment activities  (404) (97) 
 

Cash flow from financing activities 

Grant in aid from the Department of Health 

Revenue  2,896 1,868 
Capital  404 - 
Devolved administration funding 
Scotland  200 200 
Wales  115 114 
Northern Ireland  64 82 
Net cash flow from financing activities  3,679 2,264 

Net financing 
Net (decrease)/increase in cash and cash 
equivalents 

 
9 51 (198) 

Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of 
the financial year 9 155 353 

Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the 
financial year 9 206 155 

The notes on pages 50-63 form part of these accounts. 
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12. 
 

 
 
 

General reserve 

  
Balance as at 31 March 2011 466 
Total recognised income and 
expenditure for the year ended 
31 March 2012 

(2,441) 

Revenue 1,868 

Capital - 
Scotland 200 

Wales 114 

Northern Ireland 82 

Balance as at 31 March 2012 289 

Total recognised income and 
expenditure in the year ended 31 
March 2013 

(3,195) 

Revenue 2,896 
Capital 404 
Scotland 200 
Wales 115 
Northern Ireland 64 
Balance as at 31 March 2013 773 

The notes on pages 50-63 form part of these accounts.  
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13.  
1. Accounting policies 

Basis of preparation 
These financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the 2012/13 
government Financial Reporting Manual (FReM) issued by HM Treasury. The 
accounting policies contained in the FReM apply International Financial 
Reporting Standards (IFRS) as adapted or interpreted for the UK public sector 
context. Where the FReM permits a choice of accounting policy, the accounting 
policy which is judged to be most appropriate to the particular circumstances of 
the Authority for the purpose of giving a true and fair view has been selected. The 
particular policies adopted by the Authority for the reportable period are 
described below. They have been applied consistently in dealing with items that 
are considered material to the accounts. 

Critical accounting judgments and key sources of estimation uncertainty 
In the application of the Authority s, management is required 
to make judgements, estimates and assumptions about carrying amounts of 
assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent from other sources. The 
estimates and associated assumptions are based on historical experience and 
other factors that are considered to be relevant. Actual results may differ from 
those estimates. The estimates and underlying assumptions are continually 
reviewed. Revisions to accounting estimates are recognised in the period in 
which the estimate is revised if the revision affects only that period, or in the 
period of the revision and future periods if the revision affects both current and 
future periods. 

Non current assets 

Intangible assets 

 Internally generated intangible assets 
 
An internally generated int
expenditure is recognised where all of the following conditions are met: 
 An asset is created that can be identified (such as bespoke software) 
 It is probable that the asset created will generate future economic benefits, 

and 
 The development cost of the asset can be measured reliably. 

 
Intangible fixed assets are valued at cost. 

 
For intangible assets with finite useful lives, amortisation is calculated so as to 
write off the cost of an asset, less its estimated residual value, over its useful 
economic life. 
 
Software is amortised on a straight-line basis over 10 years. 
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Property plant and equipment 
Non current assets other than computer software are capitalised as property, 
plant and equipment as follows: 

 
 Equipment with an individual value of £1,000 or more 

 Grouped assets of a similar nature with a combined value of £1,000 or more 

 Refurbishment costs valued at £1,000 or more. 
Under the principles of modified historic cost accounting, depreciated historical 
cost is deemed a suitable proxy where the asset has a short useful economic life 
or is of low value. Indexation has not been applied since 31 March 2008 as this 
would not be material. Asset valuations are reviewed on an annual basis, at each 
statement of financial position date, to ensure that the carrying value fairly 
reflects current cost. 
 
Depreciation is provided on a straight-line basis, calculated on the revalued 
amount to write off assets, less any estimated residual balance, over their 
remaining estimated useful life.  
 
The useful lives of non current assets have been estimated as follows: 
 
 Refurbishment costs, furniture and fittings over the remaining 

accommodation lease term 

 Computer equipment  three years.  
Depreciation is charged from the month in which the asset is acquired. 
 
Computer software costs are charged to the operating cost statement on an 
accruals basis. 

Cash at bank and in hand 
Cash is cash in hand and deposits with any financial institution repayable without 
penalty on notice of not more than 24 hours.  
 
In the statement of cash flows, cash is shown net of bank overdrafts held with the 
Government Banking Service (GBS) that form an integral part of the Authority
cash management and over which the Authority has a right of set off against 
other GBS accounts in credit. 

Grant in aid and general reserve 
The Authority is financed by grant in aid from the Department of Health. 
 
Revenue grant in aid received from the Department of Health, used to finance 
activities and expenditure which support the statutory and other objectives of the 
Authority, is treated as contributions from a controlling party giving rise to a 
financial interest in the residual interest in the Authority and therefore is 
accounted for as financing by crediting them directly to the general reserve on a 
cash received basis. 
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Financial contributions to the activities of the Authority from the devolved 
administrations are also accounted for as financing by crediting them directly to 
the general reserve on a cash-received basis. 

Operating income  

Operating income includes Section 29 case cost recoveries, premises income 
received from subtenants, fees received from carrying out a performance review 
of the Nursing Council of New Zealand and accreditation fees received from 
voluntary register applicants. 

Voluntary register income consists of non-refundable fixed accreditation fees 
payable when application documents are submitted to the Authority. Income is 
recognised in the operating cost statement in accordance with the completion of 
Authority . 

Comparative information and restatements 

Section 29 costs and recoveries 
Under its Section 29 powers, the Authority can appeal to the High Court against a 

disciplinary decisions. Costs incurred by the Authority in 
bringing Section 29 appeals are charged to the operating cost statement on an 
accruals basis. 
 
As a result of judgements made by the courts, costs may be awarded to the 
Authority if the case is successful (income), or costs may be awarded against the 
Authority if the case is lost (expenditure). Where costs are awarded to or against 
the Authority, these may be subsequently revoked or reduced as a result of a 
successful appeal either by the defendant or by the Authority. In the event that a 
case is settled by agreement between the parties the Authority will seek payment 
a reasonable proportion of its costs. Therefore in bringing either income or 
expenditure to account, the Authority considers the likely outcome of each case 
on a case-by-case basis. 
 
In the case of costs awarded to the Authority, the income is not brought to 
account unless there is a final uncontested judgement in the Authority
an agreement between parties of the proportion of costs that will be paid and 
submitted to the courts. When a case has been won but the final outcome is still 
subject to appeal, and it is highly probable that the case will be won on appeal 
and costs will be awarded to the Authority, a contingent asset is disclosed. 
 
In the case of costs awarded against the Authority, expenditure is recognised in 
the income and expenditure where there is a final uncontested judgement against 
the Authority. In addition, where a case has been lost, but the final outcome is 
still subject to appeal, and it is probable that costs will be awarded against the 
Authority, a provision is recognised in the accounts. Where it is possible but not 
probable that the case will be lost on appeal and that costs may be incurred by 
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the Authority, or where a sufficiently reliable estimate of the amount payable 
cannot be made, a contingent liability is disclosed. 

Value added tax 
Value added tax (VAT) on purchases is not recoverable, hence is charged to the 
operating cost statement and included under the heading relevant to the type of 
expenditure, or capitalised if it relates to an asset. 

Short-term employee benefits 
Salaries are recognised in the period in which the service is received from 
employees. The cost of leave earned but not taken by employees at the end of 
the year is recognised in the financial statements to the extent that employees 
are permitted to carry forward leave into the following period. 

Retirement benefit costs 
Past and current employees are covered by the provisions of the NHS Pension 
Scheme. The scheme is an unfunded, defined benefit scheme that covers NHS 
employers, general practices and other bodies, allowed under the direction of the 
Secretary of State, in England and Wales. The scheme is not designed to be run 
in a way that would enable NHS bodies to identify their share of the underlying 
scheme assets and liabilities.  
 
Therefore, the scheme is accounted for as if it were a defined contribution 
scheme: the cost to the NHS body of participating in the scheme is taken as 
equal to the contributions payable to the scheme for the accounting period.   
 
For early retirements other than those due to ill health the additional pension 
liabilities are not funded by the scheme. The full amount of the liability for the 
additional costs is charged to the income statement at the time the Authority 
commits itself to the retirement, regardless of the method of payment.   

Operating leases 
Rentals payable under operating leases are charged to the operating cost 
statement on an accruals basis. 

Foreign exchange 
Transactions which are denominated in a foreign currency are translated into 
sterling at the exchange rate ruling on the date of each transaction, except where 
rates do not fluctuate significantly, in which case an average rate for a period is 
used. Resulting exchange gains and losses are taken to the operating cost 
statement. 

Losses and special payments 
Losses and special payments are items that Parliament would not have 
contemplated when it agreed funds for the health service or passed legislation. 
By their nature they are items that ideally should not arise. They are therefore 
subject to special control procedures compared with the generality of payments. 
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They are divided into different categories, which govern the way each individual 
case is handled. 
 
Losses and special payments are charged to the relevant functional headings 
including losses which would have been made good through insurance cover had 
the Authority not been bearing their own risks (with insurance premiums then 
being included as normal revenue expenditure). The Authority does not generally 
hold insurance but has specific cover in respect of travel and business continuity. 

Financial instruments 
As required by the FReM, the Authority has accounted for financial instruments 
and made disclosures relating to those financial instruments, in accordance with 
International Accounting Standards 32 and 39 and International Financial 
Reporting Standard 7. 

International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRSs), amendments and 
interpretations in issue but not yet effective, or adopted 
International Accounting Standard (IAS) 8, accounting policies, changes in 
accounting estimates and errors, require disclosures in respect of new IFRSs, 
amendments and interpretations that are, or will be applicable after the 
accounting period. There are a number of IFRSs, amendments and 
interpretations issued by the International Accounting Standards Board that are 
effective for financial statements after this accounting period. The following have 
not been adopted early by the Authority: 
 
 IAS 1 Presentation of Financial Statements  

 IAS 19 Employee Benefits  

 IAS 32 Offsetting Financial Assets and Financial Liabilities  

 IFRS 9 Financial Instruments. 
None of these new or amended standards and interpretations are likely to be 
applicable or are anticipated to have future material impact on the financial 
statements of the Authority. 

Early adoption of IFRSs, amendments and interpretations 
The Authority has not adopted any IFRSs, amendments or interpretations early. 
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2. Analysis of net operating costs by segment 

Segmental analysis   
 

streams as follows. The Authority does not maintain separate statements of 
financial position for these teams. There were no inter-segment transactions in 
the year.  
 

Year ended 
31 March 

2013 

Standards 
and 

regulation 

Observatory Chargeable 
activities 

Voluntary 
registers 

Total 

      
Operating 

costs  3,026 - 318 174 3,518 

Operating 
income (268) - - (55) (323) 

Net operating 
costs 2,758 - 318 119 3,195 

Year ended 
31 March 

2012 

Standards 
and 

regulation 

Observatory 
 

Chargeable 
activities 

 

Voluntary 
registers 

 

Total 

      
Operating 

costs  2,368 82 247 19 2,716 

Operating 
income (275) - - - (275) 

Net operating 
costs 2,093 82 247 19 2,441 

 
3. Staff numbers and related costs 

 Permanently 
employed 

Other Total year 
ended 31 

March 
2013 

Permanently 
employed 

Other Total year 
ended 31 

March 
2012 

       

Salaries 1,179  1,179 965 - 965 

Social 
security 

costs 
92  92 93 - 93 

Super-
annuation 

costs 
150  150 121 - 121 

Agency/ 
temporary 

costs 
 71 71 - 2 2 

Total 1,421 71 1,492 1,179 2 1,181 
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Average number of persons employed 
The average number of full-time and part-time staff employed, including 
temporary staff, during the year is as follows: 

 

 Permanently 
employed Other 

Total year 
ended 31 

March 
2013 

Permanently 
employed Other 

 
Total year 
ended 31 

March 2012
  

Total 24.59 0.78 25.37 18.83 0.10 18.93 

 

Reporting of Civil Service and other compensation schemes  exit 
packages 
The Authority has not made any payments in respect of exit packages in the year 
ended 31 March 2013. 
 

4. Other expenditure 

 Notes Total year ended 
31 March 2013 

Total year ended 
31 March 2012 

    
  91 91 

Legal and professional fees 27     1,145 732 
Premises and fixed plant  519 477 
Training and recruitment  56 23 
PR, communications and 
conferences  14 14 

Establishment expenses   79 50 
External audit fee28  23 23 
Other costs  37 83 
Non cash expenditure 
(Profit)/loss on disposal of 
fixed assets  - 1 

Depreciation 6 62 41 
Total expenditure  2,026 1,535 

 
 
 

                                            
27  Legal and professional fees include £191k incurred by the Authority in respect of a Department of Health commissioned 

investigation into concerns raised by the former chair of the GDC upon her resignation from the GDC. 
28  The Authority made payments of £278k to the National Audit Office for non-audit work in respect of accommodation costs of 

Authority for use of office space at 157-197 Buckingham Palace Road, London. 
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5. Operating income 

 Total year ended 
31 March 2013 

Total year ended 
31 March 2012 

   
Section 29 cost recoveries 36 98 
Accredited voluntary registers 
income 55 - 

Fees from external customers 25 - 
Income from sub tenants 207 177 
Total operating income 323 275 

 
 
6. Non-current assets 

Property, plant and equipment   

31 March 2013 
Furniture, fixtures 

& fittings  
conversion costs 

IT equipment Total 

    
Valuation 
At 1 April 2012 117 238 355 
Additions - 14 14 
Disposals - - - 
At 31 March 2013 117 252 369 
 
Depreciation 
At 1 April 2012 62 131 193 
Charge in year 16 46 62 
Disposals - - - 
At 31 March 2013 78 177 255 

 
Net book value 
At 31 March 2013 39 75 114 
At 31 March 2012 55 107 162 

 
All assets above are wholly owned by the Authority without any related financial 
liabilities. 
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31 March 2012 
Furniture, fixtures 

& fittings  
conversion costs 

IT equipment Total 

    
Valuation 
At 1 April 2011 111 173 284 
Additions 8 89 97 
Disposals (2) (24) (26) 
At 31 March 2012 117 238 355 
 
Depreciation 
At 1 April 2011 50 127 177 
Charge in year 14 27 41 
Disposals (2) (23) (25) 
At 31 March 2012 62 131 193 

 
Net book value 
At 31 March 2012 55 107 162 
At 31 March 2011 61 46 107 

 
 
7. Intangible assets 

31 March 2013 Section 29 database 

  
Valuation 
At 1 April 2012 - 
Additions 390 
At 31 March 2013 390 
 
Net book value 
At 31 March 2013 390 

 
 
The Authority has modified and improved its business technology in the year to 
administer the additional functions it has taken on. This included the design and 
construction of a new database system, for Section 29 work, allowing improved 
data handling and usage, and improved efficiency of processing. 
 
The database system was not yet in use as at 31 March 2013 
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8. Trade receivables and other current assets 

Amounts falling due within one year: 
 

 31 March 2013 31 March 2012 

   

Trade and other receivables 102 83 
Prepayments 189 177 
Total trade and other receivables 291 260 
 

There are no trade receivables and other current assets falling due after more 
than one year. 

Intra government balances 
Intra government balances within the totals for trade receivables and other 
current assets are as follows: 
 

 31 March 2013 31 March 2012 

   

Balances with NHS bodies 21 24 

Balances with local authorities 141 138 

Total intra government balances 162 162 

Balances with bodies external to 
government 129 98 

Total trade and other receivables 291 260 
 
9. Cash and cash equivalents 

 31 March 2013 31 March 2012 

   

Balance at 1 April 2012 155 353 
Net changes in cash and cash 
equivalent balances 51 (198) 

Balance as at 31 March 2013 206 155 
The following balances were held at: 
Government Banking Service 205 153 
Commercial banks and cash in hand 1 2 
Balance as at 31 March 2013 206 155 
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10. Trade payables and other current liabilities 

Amounts falling due with one year: 
 

 
 

31 March 2013 
 

31 March 2012 

   
Trade and other payables 47 142 
Taxation and social security 41 32 
Accruals and deferred income 134 111 
Total trade and other payables 222 285 

There were no trade payables and other current liabilities falling due after more 
than one year. 

Intra government balances 
Intra government balances within the totals for trade payables and other current 
liabilities are as follows: 
 

 31 March 2013 31 March 2012 

   
Balances with other central government 
bodies 49 110 

Balances with NHS bodies 4 - 
Total intra government balances 53 110 
Balances with bodies external to 
government 169 175 

Total trade and other payables 222 285 
 
11. Provisions for liabilities and charges 

 HMRC provision 

  

Balance at 31 March 2012 3 

Arising during the year 8 

Provision used (5) 

Balance at 31 March 2013 6 
 

The HM Revenue and Customs provision as at 31 March 2013 represents the 
Authority estimated liability for income tax and National Insurance contributions 
in relation to Board member travel and subsistence expenses.  
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12. Contingent assets and liabilities 

Assets 
There were no contingent assets at the year end. 

Liabilities 
There were no contingent liabilities at the year end 
 

13. Capital commitments 

The Authority had no capital commitments as at the statement of financial 
position dates. 
 

14. Commitments under leases 

Operating leases 
The Authority include rent and service charge payments under 
operating lease rentals. 
 
The Authority had the following obligations under non-cancellable operating 
leases: 
 

Buildings 31 March 2013 31 March 2012 

   
Not later than one year 267 278 

Later than one year and not later than five years  423 718 

Total commitments under operating leases 690 996 

Finance leases 
The Authority did not have any finance leases in the year ended 31 March 2013 
 

15. Related parties 

The Authority has ultimate accountability to the UK Parliament.  
 
While CHRE was regarded as an executive non-departmental public body 
sponsored by the Department of Health, the Authority is an unclassified public 
body. While it continues to be funded by the Department of Health, it remains 
sponsored by the Department. 

 
The Department of Health is regarded as a related party. During the year to 31 
March 2013 the Department of Health provided total grant in aid of £3.30m 
(2011/12: £1.87m). 
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The Authority received funding contributions towards its activities in the year from 
the devolved administrations in Northern Ireland (£0.06m), Scotland (£0.20m), 
and Wales (£0.11m). In 2011/12 CHRE received £0.08m from Northern Ireland, 
£0.20m from Scotland and £0.11m from Wales.  

 
The Authority maintains a register of interests for the Chair and Board members 
which is available on the website. On a periodic basis the register is updated by 
the Executive Secretary to reflect any change in Board terests. 
During the period ending 31 March 2013 no Council member undertook any 
related party transactions with the Authority.  
 
The senior management team is also asked to disclose any related party 
transactions. During 2012/13 there were no disclosures. 
 

16. Losses and special payments 

There were no material losses and special payments in the period. 
 

17. Post statement of financial position events 

There are no material post statements of financial position events. These 
accounts were authorised for issue on 11 June 2013 by the Accounting Officer. 
 

18. Financial instruments 

Financial risk management 
Financial reporting standard IFRS 7 requires disclosure of the role that financial 
instruments have had during the period in creating or changing the risks a body 
faces in undertaking its activities.  
 
The relationship that the Authority has with the Department of Health, and the 
way it is financed, means that its exposure is reduced. In addition the Authority 
has limited powers to borrow or invest surplus funds and its financial assets and 
liabilities are generated by day-to-day operational activities, thus the effect of the 
financial instruments on changing the risk is again reduced. 
 
Debtors and creditors that are due to mature or become payable within 12 
months from the statement of financial position date have been omitted from all 
disclosures. 

Currency risk 
The Authority is a domestic organisation with the great majority of transactions, 
assets and liabilities being in the UK and Sterling based. Where the Authority is 
commissioned to carry out services for overseas organisations the associated 
costs are invoiced to third parties in Sterling which eliminates any currency risk. 
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Interest rate risk 
The Authority has no borrowing and relies primarily on grant in aid from the 
Department of Health and financial contributions from the devolved 
administrations. The Authority therefore has low exposure to interest rate 
fluctuations   
 
As at 31 March 2013 the Authority had a non-interest bearing cash balance of 
£206K. 

Credit risk 
Because the majority of the Aut  funding income comes from the 
Department of Health, with contributions from the devolved administrations, the 
Authority has low exposure to credit risk.   

Liquidity risk 
The Authority relies primarily on grant in aid from the Department of Health, 
financed from resources voted annually by Parliament, and contributions from the 
devolved administrations and therefore has low exposure to liquidity risk. 
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About the Professional Standards Authority 

The Professional Standards Authority for Health and Social Care1 promotes the health, 
safety and wellbeing of patients, service users and the public by raising standards of 
regulation and voluntary registration of people working in health and care. We are an 
independent body, accountable to the UK Parliament.    

We oversee the work of nine statutory bodies that regulate health professionals in the 
UK and social workers in England. We review the regulators’ performance and audit 
and scrutinise their decisions about whether people on their registers are fit to 
practise.   

We also set standards for organisations holding voluntary registers for people in 
unregulated health and care occupations and accredit those organisations that meet 
our standards.   

To encourage improvement we share good practice and knowledge, conduct research 
and introduce new ideas including our concept of right-touch regulation2. We monitor 
policy developments in the UK and internationally and provide advice to governments 
and others on matters relating to people working in health and care. We also 
undertake some international commissions to extend our understanding of regulation 
and to promote safety in the mobility of the health and care workforce. 

We are committed to being independent, impartial, fair, accessible and consistent. 
More information about our work and the approach we take is available at 
www.professionalstandards.org.uk. 

                                           
1  The Professional Standards Authority for Health and Social Care was previously known as the 

Council for Healthcare Regulatory Excellence  
2  Professional Standards Authority. 2010. Right-Touch regulation. Available at  

http://www.professionalstandards.org.uk/policy-and-research/right-touch-regulation
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1. Chief Executive’s foreword
 No one can be unaware this year of the challenges that professional 1.1

regulation faces. The Mid Staffordshire NHS Foundation Trust public inquiry 
report left no doubt as to the extent of regulatory failures among many others. 
In addition there have been two robust reports by the Health Committee into 
each of the General Medical Council and the Nursing and Midwifery Council.
Our own reports, A Strategic Review of the Nursing and Midwifery Council
and An Investigation Into Allegations Made by the Former Chair of the 
General Dental Council, also drew attention to different but significant internal 
governance problems in those bodies in the recent past. Public attention to, 
and expectation of, regulation in healthcare has rarely been greater. 

 It is in this context that we publish the 2012/13 performance review of the 1.2
nine regulators we oversee. 

 Despite those wider concerns I am pleased to report that overall the 1.3
regulators are performing well against the Standards of Good Regulation and 
are fulfilling their statutory responsibilities. However, not all regulators meet 
all the standards and in some cases this has implications for patient 
protection. We set out our findings in detail in this report. 

 Our paper on governance, Fit and Proper? Governance in the Public Interest,1.4
called for seriousness of purpose to be the hallmark of boards operating in 
the public interest. The reforms of Councils which the government 
implemented in 2012 are helping them to achieve this and we certainly see 
seriousness of purpose in the way that all the regulators are taking the 
lessons of the Mid Staffordshire inquiry to heart. The inquiry report was the 
subject of our annual Symposium in February 2013 and the regulators 
individually, and together, have considered the implications and are 
implementing those recommendations that are relevant to them.  

 We have operated the current performance review process using the 1.5
Standards of Good Regulation since 2007. Some amendments were made in 
2010 to reduce the number of standards and focus more strongly on 
outcomes. We have agreed with the regulators we oversee that it is time to 
review them again. We want our approach to continue to accord with our own 
principles of right-touch regulation; to be risk-based, proportionate and 
insightful. We will consult on a refreshed process during summer 2013. 

Harry Cayton 
Chief Executive 
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2. Executive summary
Introduction 

 The purpose of professional regulators is to protect patients, service users 2.1
and the public, to uphold the standards of their profession and to ensure 
public confidence in regulation. The Professional Standards Authority 
oversees the professional regulators and reports annually on their 
performance. We share with the regulators a commitment to the public 
interest and effective regulation. 

 This report contains both an overview of general findings from our 2.2
performance review of the regulators we oversee and our individual detailed 
reports about the performance of each of the regulators against the 
Standards of Good Regulation. The performance review took place between 
September 2012 and May 2013 and draws primarily on evidence of 
performance during the 2012/13 financial year. We have summarised our 
findings in Chapter 7.  

Changes to health and social care regulation during 2012/13

The National Health Service Reform and Health Care Professions Act 2002 

 On 1 December 2012 the Council for Healthcare Regulatory Excellence 2.3
(CHRE) became the Professional Standards Authority for Health and Social 
Care (the Authority) following the amendment to the NHS Reform and Health 
Care Professions Act 2002.  

 As part of these reforms to our legislation, we acquired new powers which 2.4
enhanced our ability to promote the public interest and included: 

An amendment of the Authority’s role to include oversight of the 
regulation of social workers in England, as a result of the transfer of the 
regulation of social workers in England to the Health and Care 
Professions Council (HCPC) from August 2012 following the abolition of 
the General Social Care Council (GSCC)  

Responsibility for advising the Privy Council on the quality of the 
processes the health and care professional regulators (excluding the 
Pharmaceutical Society of Northern Ireland (PSNI)) use to recommend
candidates for appointment as chairs and members of their councils from 
July 2012 and following the abolition of the Appointments Commission.

The Pharmacy (1976 Order) (Amendment) Order (Northern Ireland) 2012 

 There have also been changes to the regulatory framework in Northern 2.5
Ireland. The Pharmacy (1976 Order) (Amendment) Order (Northern Ireland) 
2012 came into force on 1 October 2012. The changes within the legislation 
addressed some concerns we previously highlighted about the limitations on 
the PSNI’s ability to run an effective fitness to practise process. In particular it 
changed the legislative framework to enable the PSNI to impose interim 
orders and impose a full range of sanctions at final fitness to practise panel 
hearings.  
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The Mid Staffordshire NHS Foundation Trust public inquiry report 

 In February 2013, the final report of the Mid Staffordshire NHS Foundation 2.6
Trust public inquiry3 was published. This report examined why the serious 
problems at the Mid Staffordshire NHS Foundation Trust were not identified 
and acted on sooner by the commissioning, supervisory and regulatory 
bodies in place at the time (January 2005 – March 2009). A number of 
recommendations were made (indirectly and directly) for implementation by 
the regulators we oversee.  

 The inquiry report also recommended that we work with the regulators we 2.7
oversee to devise procedures for dealing consistently, and in the public 
interest, with cases arising out of the same event or series of events but 
involving professionals regulated by more than one body. We are 
commencing work with the regulators we oversee to consider how to 
implement this recommendation and we will report on this in next year’s 
performance review.  
We welcome the Government’s recognition, in response to the Mid 2.8
Staffordshire NHS Foundation Trust public inquiry report, that the regulators 
that we oversee are hampered from performing as effectively as they could in 
some areas by an outdated legislative framework. We welcome the 
government’s commitment to implementing the Law Commissions’ review (of 
the law relating to the regulation of health professionals in the UK, and social 
workers in England) and radically overhauling 150 years of complex 
legislation into a single act. 

 In 2013 our annual schedule of audits of the cases closed by the regulators 2.9
at the initial stages of the fitness to practise process (without referral for a 
final fitness to practise hearing) will include the General Medical Council 
(GMC) and the Nursing and Midwifery Council (NMC). In these audits we will 
consider a sample of the cases that involved registrants employed at Mid 
Staffordshire NHS Foundation Trust. We will pay particular attention to the 
outcomes of final fitness to practise panel hearings concerning employees of 
the Mid Staffordshire NHS Foundation Trust.  

How are the regulators performing against the Standards of Good 
Regulation? 

 We have found that the regulators are generally performing well against most 2.10
of the Standards of Good Regulation and are meeting their statutory 
responsibilities, however, we have identified that three of the regulators (the 
General Chiropractic Council (GCC), General Dental Council (GDC) and
NMC) do not meet one or more of the Standards of Good Regulation. We 
have also reported on good practice in some areas by all the regulators.  

                                           
3  The Mid Staffordshire NHS Foundation Trust Public Inquiry, 2013. Report of the Mid Staffordshire 

NHS Foundation Trust Public Inquiry. London: The Stationery Office. Available at: 
http://www.midstaffspublicinquiry.com/report
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 A failure to meet certain standards (for example a failure to meet the 2.11
standards relating to timeliness of case progression or the quality of decision 
making in the fitness to practise function) may have serious implications for 
public protection. Failure to meet one standard in a particular function, 
however, may not be significant but instead reflect a regulator’s developing 
practice – this is the case in relation to those regulators who do not currently 
have a system to ensure registrants’ continuing fitness to practise. We judge 
whether a regulator has met or failed to meet a standard against our 
evidence framework. The individual reports for each regulator expand further 
on any concerns we have about the regulator’s performance against the 
Standards of Good Regulation. 
In relation to our general findings about the regulators’ performance in the 2.12
four regulatory functions which the Standards of Good Regulation cover, we 
have summarised our findings as follows: 

Guidance and standards 
 The four Standards of Good Regulation for guidance and standards require 2.13

regulators to ensure that the guidance they have in place prioritises safety 
and helps registrants to apply the regulators’ standards to address current 
issues and the diverse needs of the public.  

 All of the regulators we oversee are meeting the Standards of Good 2.14
Regulation for guidance and standards. We noted particular examples of 
good practice in relation to the approaches taken to stakeholder 
engagement, with regulators identifying a variety of means for gathering 
information such as identifying the greatest possible range of stakeholders to 
communicate with and how to best support stakeholders with providing 
feedback.  

Education and training 
 There are five Standards of Good Regulation for education and training 2.15

which require regulators to ensure that their standards for education are 
linked to their standards for registrants and that there is a proportionate 
process for the quality assurance of education programmes so the public can 
be assured that education providers provide students, trainees and 
professionals with the skills and knowledge to practise safely and effectively. 
The standards also require regulators to have a system in place to assure 
themselves of the continuing fitness to practise of registrants. 

 The Standards of Good Regulation are being met by all the regulators, with 2.16
the exception of the NMC and the PSNI which are not meeting the Standard 
of Good Regulation that requires regulators to have a system of continuing 
fitness to practise in place. They are not likely to meet this standard before 
2016. We note that the NMC’s Council is considering plans to implement a
scheme to be launched in December 2015 and that the PSNI’s Council will 
consider the implementation of a scheme after it has implemented its new 
legal requirement for registrants to complete compulsory continuing 
professional development (CPD). We understand the reasons for delay in 
both cases.  
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 The other seven regulators are currently developing schemes of continuing 2.17
fitness to practise and the GMC has implemented a scheme during 2012/13.  

Registration 
 There are five Standards of Good Regulation for registration which require 2.18

regulators to: ensure that only those that meet the regulator’s standards are 
registered; hold accurate information on the register about the current and 
historical fitness to practise of registrants; make this information publicly 
available so that employers are aware of the need to check the registration 
status of registrants; have processes in place to manage the registration 
process; and prevent individuals practising illegally.  

 The Standards of Good Regulation for registration are being met by all the 2.19
regulators, with the exception of the NMC, which is not meeting two of the 
five standards.  

 We were also pleased to note that all the regulators were able to 2.20
demonstrate improvements in their registration function during 2012/13 
including the NMC.  

 While significant improvements remain to be made by the NMC, including 2.21
enhancing its ability to identify for itself when amendments are needed to its 
register, we acknowledge the action that the NMC has already taken to 
address the errors in its register when we identified them, and to address the 
causes of those errors.  

 During 2012/13 the NMC itself identified that improvements were needed to 2.22
its procedure for validating identity requirements as it had been operating 
different systems for evaluating the training requirements for applicants from 
New Zealand, America, Canada and Australia compared with the system for 
evaluating the training requirements for applicants from other non-European 
Union countries. It also discovered that improvements were needed to its 
procedure for validating identity requirements. This is a serious matter but we 
commend the NMC for the way it is now dealing with it. The NMC is keeping 
us informed on its progress in dealing with this matter.

Fitness to practise 
 There are 10 Standards of Good Regulation for fitness to practise which 2.23

cover performance throughout the fitness to practise function. We check that 
regulators manage the function in a way that is transparent, fair, 
proportionate and focused on public protection. We are pleased to report that 
four regulators (HCPC, GMC, General Osteopathic Council (GOsC) and
General Optical Council (GOC)) are meeting all 10 of the Standards of Good 
Regulation for fitness to practise and are managing their caseloads 
effectively and efficiently. The GDC is meeting all but one of the standards for 
fitness to practise and therefore it needs to continue to seek improvement in 
the area we highlight. We are not able to confirm whether the GPhC is 
meeting the 10th Standard of Good Regulation for fitness to practise 
(information about fitness to practise cases is securely retained) because we 
are waiting for a ruling from the Information Commissioner’s Office about a 
data security breach. We are also not able to confirm whether the PSNI is 



6 

meeting the 4th Standard of Good Regulation for fitness to practise (all 
fitness to practise complaints are reviewed on receipt and serious cases are 
prioritised) as only one interim order has been imposed since the legislation 
came into effect. Please see the individual performance review reports for 
further details.  

 We have identified a continuing concern in relation to the performance of the 2.24
GCC (which is not meeting two standards for fitness to practise) and the 
NMC (which is not meeting five standards for fitness to practise) although we 
recognise that both the GCC and NMC have improved their performance in 
some aspects of fitness to practise since 2011/12. The GCC and NMC are 
already taking action to address the relevant areas for improvement and we 
acknowledge that improvement in their performance resulting from those 
actions will take some time to become evident. We will report on the progress 
and impact of the NMC and GCC’s remedial activities in next year’s 
performance review.  

 We are also pleased to note that during 2012/13 all the regulators have 2.25
implemented initiatives aimed at improvements to their performance in the 
fitness to practise function which has supported them to either improve or 
maintain their performance against the Standards of Good Regulation for 
fitness to practise.  

Conclusions and recommendations 
 We continue to be satisfied that most of the regulators are performing well 2.26

across their regulatory functions.  
 We have drawn attention, at the end of each of the sections within each 2.27

regulator’s performance review report, to the areas of that regulator’s work 
which we intend to follow up on in next year’s performance review. We have 
also included within each regulator’s performance review report any 
recommendations about areas of concern. In addition to this we make the 
following general recommendations:  

For the regulators 
 We recommend that the regulators should: 2.28

Review this year’s performance review report as a whole, taking account 
of our views, and consider whether they can learn and improve from the 
practices of the other regulators 

Address any areas of concern that are highlighted in this year’s 
performance review report 

Ensure that their Councils review and discuss the performance review 
report in a public Council meeting. 

For the Authority 
 We will continue to review and refine the approach we take to undertaking 2.29

the performance review process. We will consult on any proposed changes 
during 2013.  
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 The Mid Staffordshire NHS Foundation Trust public inquiry report makes 2.30
recommendations (indirectly and directly) that are relevant to us and to the 
regulators we oversee and we will monitor the regulators’ responses and 
report on this in next year’s performance review.

For the Departments of Health in the UK 
 During 2012 we have, at the request of the Department of Health in England,2.31

reviewed a number of proposals and suggestions from seven of the 
regulators we oversee for changes to their primary legislation through 
Section 60 orders.4 We were aware that many of the proposals we 
considered have been discussed by the regulators and the Department of 
Health for some time. We were asked to consider and prioritise those that are 
required to protect patients and the public, improve the efficiency and 
effectiveness of the regulatory body, are consistent with government policy 
and do not pre-empt or contradict any proposals from the Law Commissions.
We identified a number of changes that in our view fulfilled these criteria, 
including a number that would close potentially serious loopholes in current 
public protection arrangements. We recommended that the Department of 
Health in England considers these as candidates for a Section 60 order 
ahead of any changes that may be anticipated arising from the Law 
Commissions’ review.  

 In May 2013 the Department wrote to all the regulators stating that it was 2.32
'seeking an early legislative opportunity to bring forward the draft legislation 
being constructed by the Law Commission' and that consequently it would 
not proceed at this time with the recommendations we put forward for 
inclusion in Section 60 orders. We agree that the Law Commissions' 
legislative proposals are, if they can be implemented quickly, the best 
opportunity for reform. However, we recommend that this matter is kept 
under review by the Department and devolved administrations as the gaps in 
the regulators' powers to protect the public and do so efficiently and 
effectively remain. 

                                           
4 A Section 60 order allows Parliament to make changes to the regulators’ legislation without the need 

for an Act of Parliament. They can take up to two years to be approved.  
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3. The Professional Standards Authority 
 The Authority promotes the health, safety and well-being of patients, service 3.1

users and other members of the public through our scrutiny and oversight of 
the nine professional regulators that we oversee. We do this in six main 
ways: 

We annually review the performance of the regulatory bodies to identify 
areas where regulators are doing well and where they can improve 

We audit the initial stages of the regulators’ fitness to practise procedures. 
The audit has two aims: to assess whether the regulators’ decision-
making processes are effective; and to assess whether the decisions they 
make protect the public 

We examine final decisions made by the regulators’ fitness to practise 
panels about whether health professionals in the UK, and social workers 
in England, are fit to practise. We may refer decisions to court where we 
believe they are unduly lenient and do not protect the public

We conduct research, share learning with the regulators and hold events 
to explore ways of understanding and managing new regulatory 
challenges 

We advise the Secretary of State for Health and health ministers in 
Northern Ireland, Scotland and Wales on matters relating to the regulation 
of health professionals in the UK and social workers in England 

We keep up to date with European and international policies to improve 
our policy decisions on the regulation of health professionals in the UK 
and social workers in England. We inform colleagues in other countries of 
the outcome of our policy projects that might be relevant to them. 
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4. The health and care professional 
regulators

 The nine health and care professional regulators that we oversee are: 4.1
The General Chiropractic Council (GCC) 

The General Dental Council (GDC) 

The General Medical Council (GMC) 

The General Optical Council (GOC) 

The General Osteopathic Council (GOsC) 

The General Pharmaceutical Council (GPhC) 

The Health and Care Professions Council (HCPC) 

The Nursing and Midwifery Council (NMC) 

The Pharmaceutical Society of Northern Ireland (PSNI). 
 Details of the professions regulated by each body can be found at Annex 1. 4.2
 These regulatory bodies have four main functions. They: 4.3

Set and promote standards that professionals must meet before and after 
they are admitted to the register  

Maintain a register of those professionals who meet the standards. Only 
those who are registered are allowed to work as health professionals in 
the UK or as social workers in England

Take appropriate action when a registered professional’s fitness to 
practise has been called into question 

Ensure high standards of education for those training to be a health 
professional in the UK or a social worker in England. In some cases they 
set standards for those who continue to train and develop as health 
professionals in the UK or social workers in England.
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5. The performance review
 The performance review is our annual check on how effective the regulators 5.1

have been in protecting the public and promoting confidence in health 
professionals in the UK, social workers in England and in the regulators 
themselves. We are required to report our findings to Parliament and to the 
devolved administrations.  

 The performance review has two important outcomes: 5.2
It enables improvements in the work of the regulators, as we identify 
strengths and areas of concern in their performance and recommend 
changes  

It informs everyone about how well the regulators are protecting the public 
and promoting confidence in health professionals in the UK and social 
workers in England and the system of regulation in their work. 

How do we carry out the performance review? 
 The regulators are asked to provide evidence of how they meet the 5.3

Standards of Good Regulation. The standards describe what the public 
expect the regulators to do, but they do not set out how they should do it. The 
Standards of Good Regulation can be found at Annex 2.
To help us to judge the regulators’ performance, we use the standards to:5.4

Identify the strengths and areas for improvement in each regulator’s 
performance 

Identify good practice.  
 The Standards of Good Regulation are grouped under the four regulatory 5.5

functions:  
Guidance and standards 

Education and training 

Registration  

Fitness to practise. 
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The performance review process  
 The performance review took place between September 2012 and May 2013.5.7

There were seven stages to the performance review: 

Stage 1
The regulators provided written evidence of how they met the Standards of 
Good Regulation. 

Stage 2 
We examined and tested the regulators’ evidence using information we had 
collated from other sources, including our scrutiny of the regulators’ fitness to 
practise decisions, the complaints that we received from members of the 
public and others, and the third party feedback we received.

Stage 3
We wrote to the regulators with our requests for additional information or 
clarification of their evidence.

Stage 4
We held face-to-face meetings with each of the regulators to discuss our 
outstanding queries, areas of concern and/or areas of good performance. 

Stage 5
We considered any additional information provided by the regulators and 
reached a final view on their performance.

Stage 6
We drafted a report summarising our view on each regulator’s performance. 
We shared the report with each regulator and asked for their comments on 
the factual accuracy of the report.

Stage 7
We considered the comments made by the regulators and finalised each 
regulator’s performance review report. We also produced an overarching 
report which included our views on emerging themes and issues in health
and care professional regulation.

We are grateful for the feedback received from third parties. We found this 
information very helpful in forming our views about the regulators’ 
performance. A full list of third party organisations that provided feedback can 
be found at Annex 3. 
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6. Our approach to regulation
 In 2010 we published Right-Touch Regulation.5 We developed this approach 6.1

as a result of our experience working with the regulators and in advising 
government on areas of regulatory policy. Right-touch regulation builds on 
the principles of good regulation identified by the UK Better Regulation 
Executive. These are: proportionality, consistency, targeted, transparency 
and accountability. To these principles we have added a sixth principle of 
agility. Agility in regulation means looking forward to anticipate change, rather 
than looking back to prevent the last crisis from happening again.  

 Right-touch regulation is the minimum regulatory force required to achieve 6.2
the desired result. Too little regulation is ineffective, too much is a waste of 
effort and resources. We have identified the following eight elements to help 
us, and others who work in regulation, to focus on right-touch regulation in 
practice: 

Identify the problem before the solution  

Quantify the risks  

Get as close to the problem as possible  

Focus on the outcome  

Use regulation only when necessary  

Keep it simple  

Check for unintended consequences  

Review and respond to change.  
 We consider that there are a number of benefits to using right-touch 6.3

regulation in our work. These include: 
Describing outcomes in terms of the beneficiaries of regulation 

Enabling organisations to react appropriately to issues as they arise 

Enabling collaboration and co-operation across the regulatory and 
health/social care system 

Enabling regulation to remain relevant to the needs of today’s society

Considering whether the costs of regulation are really worth the benefits. 
 We have used right-touch regulation as a framework to guide our 6.4

consideration of each regulator’s performance, and when discussing the 
current issues and concerns we have identified in health and care 
professional regulation. 

 We expect and want to be challenged if our own approach is not right-touch; 6.5
that is risk-based, proportionate, outcome focused and agile.

                                           
5 CHRE, 2010. Right-Touch Regulation. London: CHRE. Available at: 

http://www.professionalstandards.org.uk/policy-and-research/right-touch-regulation
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7. How are the regulators performing against 
the Standards of Good Regulation?

 We assess the performance of the regulators we oversee against our 7.1
Standards of Good Regulation (see Annex 2). These standards are grouped 
under four headings relating to the regulators’ core functions: guidance and 
standards, education and training, registration and fitness to practise.  

 When we identify that a standard is not met it is because we have judged that 7.2
the regulator has not been able to demonstrate that the standard is met 
based on the evidence the regulator has presented. A single major failure or 
several minor failures might indicate that a standard is not met if they reveal 
an underlying weakness in or absence of policy or process. We set out the 
evidence that regulators could present to us in the ‘evidence framework’.6 An 
intention to meet a standard in the future does not mean that a standard is 
met.  

 We set out below an overview of the general performance of all of the 7.3
regulators in each of these core functions (see para 7.7 – 7.31). 
This year’s performance review has identified that the regulators are 7.4
generally fulfilling their responsibilities with the exception of the NMC which is 
not yet meeting eight of the 24 Standards of Good Regulation. We have 
found that all the regulators have focused on public protection, including the 
NMC, despite the challenges faced by several of them in 2012/13 such as 
the continuing rise in fitness to practise cases (affecting the GDC and GMC) 
and the changes in scope (affecting the PSNI and the HCPC). We note that 
some regulators, including the NMC, have experienced year-on-year 
increases in referrals for a number of years. 
In each of the individual regulator’s performance review reports we have 7.5
identified where we consider their performance has improved in response to 
the concerns we identified in the 2011/12 performance review and where we 
think there are new or continuing areas of concern following this year’s 
performance review.

 We have found that, while most of the regulators are performing well against 7.6
most of the Standards of Good Regulation, some improvements in 
performance are needed in relation to certain standards, most of which relate 
to the regulators’ fitness to practise functions. In particular we have identified 
that:  

Seven regulators (the NMC, GDC, GCC, PSNI, GPhC, GOsC and HCPC) 
are at different stages of development for establishing robust systems to 
assure themselves of the continuing fitness to practise of registrants. The 
PSNI and the NMC do not yet meet the related standard (2nd Standard of 
Good Regulation for education and training) because they do not have 
any system in place, either by means of revalidation or continuing 

                                           
6  Available at: http://www.professionalstandards.org.uk/docs/scrutiny-quality/120720-evidence-

framework-%28updated%29-psa-version.pdf?sfvrsn=0  
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professional development (CPD), to assure themselves of the fitness to 
practise of registrants, and these two regulators are not likely to have a 
system in place before 2016. We acknowledge that the PSNI and NMC 
have justifiable reasons for the timescales within which they are aiming to 
achieve this work  

Three regulators (the NMC, GDC and GCC) were not able to demonstrate 
that fitness to practise cases were being dealt with as quickly as possible 
(taking into account the complexity and type of case and conduct on both 
sides), and therefore have not met the 6th Standard of Good Regulation 
for fitness to practise 

Two regulators (the NMC and the GCC) were not able to demonstrate 
that parties were consistently being kept up to date on the progress of 
their cases and supported to participate effectively in the fitness to 
practise process. These two regulators have therefore not met the 7th
Standard  of Good Regulation for fitness to practise 

One regulator (the NMC) was not able to demonstrate that information 
about fitness to practise cases was being securely retained and its 
confidentiality protected, and therefore has not met the 10th Standard of 
Good Regulation for fitness to practise. We were not able to identify 
whether the GPhC has met this standard as we are waiting for a ruling 
from the Information Commissioner’s Office about a data security breach. 

Guidance and standards 
 There are four Standards of Good Regulation for guidance and standards 7.7

(see Annex 2). We are pleased to report that all of the regulators are meeting 
all of the Standards of Good Regulation in this area. These standards require 
the regulators to ensure that the guidance documents they have in place 
prioritise safety and help registrants to apply the regulators’ standards to 
address the current issues and the diverse needs of the public. We check 
that guidance and standards are publicly available and that regulators take 
account of the views of stakeholders when developing new guidance.   

 We were pleased to note that, after the GOsC published new standards in 7.8
September 2011, it tested awareness of the standards among registrants in 
April 2012 and continued with awareness raising activities until September 
2012 when the standards came into effect. We were pleased to see that 
three regulators (the GMC, PSNI and GCC) are setting guidance in new 
areas where there is relatively little existing guidance and that the guidance 
reflects issues currently affecting their registrants. 

Education and training 
 There are five Standards of Good Regulation for education and training (see 7.9

Annex 2). These standards require the regulators to ensure that their 
standards for education are linked to their standards for registrants and that 
there is a proportionate process for the quality assurance of education 
programmes so that the public can be assured that education providers 
provide students, trainees and professionals with the skills and knowledge to 
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practise safely and effectively. We also require regulators to have a system in 
place to assure themselves of the continuing fitness to practise of registrants. 

 We note that the regulators are at different stages of the implementation of a 7.10
scheme to provide assurance about the continuing fitness to practise of their 
registrants. We have published guidance about the role that professional 
regulation plays in supporting registrants to demonstrate that they are fit to 
practise throughout their practising lives in our paper, An Approach to 
Assuring Continuing Fitness to Practise based on Right-Touch Regulation 
Principles.7

The GMC’s revalidation scheme launched, for all doctors with a licence to 7.11
practise, on 3 December 2012. Over the following three years the GMC aims 
to have the first revalidation recommendation submitted to the GMC by the 
responsible officer for the majority of doctors. We note that a number of the 
other regulators have expressed an interest in the GMC’s scheme and it may 
serve as a model for them. In the GMC’s performance review report we have 
summarised the actions which the GMC took to prepare for the launch, which 
we hope will be helpful to regulators wishing to adapt the GMC’s scheme. 
The GOC launched its continuing fitness to practise scheme (Continuing 
Education and Training) on 1 January 2013. We have identified the use of 
peer review within the GOC’s scheme as an example of good practice which 
other regulators may find useful to consider in developing their own systems 
of continuing fitness to practise. Our view is that peer review can be a 
particularly useful component of a continuing fitness to practise scheme for 
registrants who are self-employed and/or work alone or with a small number 
of colleagues and who therefore may be at risk of becoming isolated from the 
rest of their profession.

 We were pleased to note that the GDC has established an expert advisory 7.12
group of individuals with relevant experience to provide advice about how its 
new outcome-focused Standards for Education could best be incorporated 
into the quality assurance of education programmes. 

Registration  
 There are five Standards of Good Regulation for registration (see Annex 2). 7.13

We think it is important for public protection and for maintaining confidence in 
the system of regulation that regulators hold accurate information on the 
register about the current and historical fitness to practise of registrants and 
make this information publicly available. It is important that employers are 
aware of the need to check the registration status of registrants and that the 
regulators have processes in place to manage the registration process and 
prevent individuals practising illegally.  

 As part of our performance review process we check the accuracy of a7.14
sample of the entries on each of the regulator’s registers – incorrect and 
outdated entries have obvious implications for public protection and can cast 

                                           
7  CHRE, 2012. An Approach to Assuring Continuing Fitness to Practise Based on Right-Touch 

Regulation Principles. London: CHRE. Available at http://www.professionalstandards.org.uk/docs/psa-
library/november-2012---right-touch-continuing-fitness-to-practise.pdf
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doubt on the integrity of the register. We are pleased to report that this 
checking exercise did not reveal any errors in the registers of eight of the 
regulators.  
Our check did reveal errors on the NMC’s register. The NMC is taking action 7.15
to rectify those errors and the errors we found in last year’s performance 
review. During this year’s performance review we also identified a number of 
areas in which the NMC needs to improve its registration process and we set 
out a number of recommendations for the NMC in its individual report.  

 During 2012/13 the NMC itself identified that improvements were needed to7.16
its procedure for validating identity requirements as it had been operating 
different systems for evaluating the training requirements for applicants from 
New Zealand, America, Canada and Australia compared with the system for 
evaluating the training requirements for applicants from other non-European 
Union countries. It also discovered that improvements were needed to its 
procedure for validating identity requirements. The NMC stopped processing 
these types of applications in February 2013 and conducted a review of 
policy and processes in relation to overseas applications for registration to 
address deficiencies and stabilise the current process. It has also consulted 
with the Equality and Human Rights Commission in the redevelopment of its 
approach and resumed processing applications in April 2013. This is a 
serious matter but we commend the NMC for the way it is dealing with it. We 
are currently working with the NMC to follow up on this matter.  

 We note that the HCPC worked with its key social care stakeholders during 7.17
2012 in order to ensure an effective transfer of regulation of social workers in 
England from the General Social Care Council (GSCC) to the HCPC – this 
represented the largest external register transfer that the HCPC has 
conducted. We are pleased that the HCPC considers the exercise to be a 
success, as do we.  

 We noted that a number of regulators have taken steps to improve their 7.18
processes for curtailing illegal practice such as an individual using a 
protected title or carrying out a protected act.  

Fitness to practise 
 There are 10 Standards of Good Regulation for fitness to practise (see 7.19

Annex 2). These standards cover performance throughout the fitness to 
practise function. We check that regulators manage the function in a way that 
is transparent, fair, proportionate and focused on public protection.  

 Meeting and maintaining performance against the 10 Standards of Good 7.20
Regulation for fitness to practise requires regulators to have effective internal 
monitoring systems to facilitate continuous improvement as well as internal 
systems to monitor compliance with procedures. Many regulators use audits 
to identify areas of weakness that the regulator is then able to target with the 
aim of improving the quality of decisions. We noted that the GDC’s system of 
audits of the quality of its fitness to practise decisions targets high-risk cases, 
which we think is an area of good practice. We note that the NMC also audits 
high risk cases. Other initiatives include the HCPC that has a new team –
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part of its role is to review cases where interim orders have been applied for, 
in order to improve consistency within this group of cases.  

 We highlight the three following areas related to the regulators’ performance 7.21
of their fitness to practise function during 2012/13:  

(i) Timeliness and increased volumes of cases 
In this year’s performance review, three regulators (the NMC, GDC and 7.22
GCC) were not able to demonstrate that they are meeting the 6th Standard of 
Good Regulation for fitness to practise (fitness to practise cases are dealt 
with as quickly as possible taking into account the complexity and type of 
case and the conduct of both sides). However, we note that all three 
demonstrated some improvements in the timescales for case handling 
compared with 2011/12. We acknowledge that improvement in the timeliness 
of case progression will take some time to become evident. We will report on 
progress in next year’s performance review. 

 Some regulators have experienced an increase in the number of fitness to 7.23
practise allegations they have received this year compared to 2011/12. 
These increases appear to have been caused by a number of factors: 
legislative changes have increased the scope of cases that can be 
considered by the PSNI and HCPC and the GDC and GMC have noted a 
year-on-year increase in the numbers of complaints and referrals. We note 
that some regulators, including the NMC, have experienced year-on-year 
increases in referrals for a number of years.

 The failure to predict a significant increase in case numbers can present 7.24
resourcing challenges for a regulator and, therefore, make it more difficult to 
maintain a system of regulation that ensures public confidence. Resources 
may need to be re-allocated and, in any event, cases will need to be 
progressed appropriately to ensure they are actively managed and to ensure 
that action is taken promptly where necessary to protect the public.  

 Some regulators are working to identify and understand the reasons for 7.25
delays in different parts of their fitness to practise processes and some are 
trialling different initiatives aimed at making the process quicker and less 
costly. We welcome this work and will share any good practice that we 
identify.   

 Over the last year we have, at the request of the Department of Health, 7.26
reviewed a number of proposals and suggestions from seven of the 
regulators we oversee for changes to their primary legislation through 
Section 60 orders. We were aware that many of the proposals we considered 
have been discussed by the regulators and the Department of Health for 
some time. We were asked to consider and prioritise those that are required 
to protect patients and the public, improve the efficiency and effectiveness of 
the regulatory body, are consistent with government policy and do not pre-
empt or contradict any proposals from the Law Commissions. We identified a 
number of changes that in our view would improve the timeliness of fitness to 
practise processes. 
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 In May 2013 the Department wrote to all the regulators stating that it was 7.27
'seeking an early legislative opportunity to bring forward the draft legislation 
being constructed by the Law Commission' and that consequently it would 
not proceed at this time with the recommendations we put forward for 
inclusion in Section 60 orders. 

(ii) Raising concerns 
 The Mid Staffordshire NHS Foundation Trust public inquiry report 7.28

recommended a statutory duty of candour to apply to healthcare 
professionals. It encouraged all regulators to consider whether they operate 
robust and transparent systems enabling anyone to raise a concern about 
the fitness to practise of registrants. We note that the 1st Standard of Good 
Regulation for fitness to practise (anybody can raise a concern, including the 
regulator, about the fitness to practise of a registrant) is met by all the 
regulators and all regulators: undertake activities to publicise how individuals 
can raise concerns; have publicly available information which sets out how to 
raise a concern about the fitness to practise of a registrant and take steps to 
actively promote awareness including working with employers to help them 
understand when to make a referral to the regulator.  

 We note that during 2012/13 the PSNI conducted a survey of employers and 7.29
the public to gauge attitudes about when and how registrants should raise 
concerns about other health professionals. The survey showed that 38% of 
respondents did not feel that any action should be taken against a health 
professional who failed to report a concern about a fellow health professional.
This is a worryingly high figure and our concern is shared by the PSNI. We 
will comment in next year’s performance review on any action the PSNI takes 
during 2012/13 in response to that survey. We also note that the GMC has 
recently introduced a confidential helpline, aimed at enabling doctors to raise 
serious concerns and to seek advice about patient safety. We will follow up 
on the impact of that confidential helpline in next year’s performance review. 

(iii) Maintaining information security 
 We have found that the NMC has not met the 10th Standard of Good 7.30

Regulation for fitness to practise (information about fitness to practise cases 
is securely retained). We have also been unable to identify whether the 
GPhC has met this standard as we are waiting for a ruling from the 
Information Commissioner’s Office. Failures to protect information can cause 
harm to individuals and can damage public confidence in the regulator. We 
highlight the need for regulators to have comprehensive information security 
policies and procedures in place, to ensure that their staff are trained on 
these policies, and to ensure compliance with the policies is monitored. 
Failing to have such systems in place may increase the likelihood of an 
information security incident occurring.  
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 We note that the GDC is introducing electronic (rather than paper) case 7.31
bundles for use by its fitness to practise panels (including its Investigating 
Committee) which should reduce the risk of data security breaches. We will 
follow up on the effect of this in next year’s performance review. In the 
meantime we highlight the GDC’s initiative to move away from paper-based 
hearing bundles as potentially representing good practice.  

Good practice examples 
 We have identified examples of good practice, where relevant, within the 7.32

reports for the individual regulators. In this section we highlight examples of 
good practice that we consider other regulators might find helpful.  

Stakeholder engagement  
 We have identified examples of good practice in terms of active stakeholder 7.33

engagement activities in relation to policy development within the regulators’
guidance and standards functions:  

The GMC has expanded its techniques for gathering evidence and 
opinions and has tailored some of these methods to address particular 
groups, such as young people or people with learning disabilities, that 
research showed may be disadvantaged when receiving medical 
services. This led to a large number of diverse responses being received 

The GDC engaged with stakeholders prior to a full consultation on the 
revised Standards for Dental Professionals and Standards of Conduct, 
Performance and Ethics, which enabled the GDC to listen to concerns 
about proposed changes and either address them or provide a better 
explanation about the reasons behind the potential changes being 
consulted upon. 

Maximising the use of online resources for registrants 
 The GMC and GOC launched mobile-optimised websites in March 2012 and 7.34

October 2012 respectively, providing registrants with instant access to 
guidance and online resources from their mobile devices. In addition, in April 
2012, the GMC launched a new online resource offering practical learning 
tools and advice on the key issues doctors need to consider when treating a 
patient who has a learning disability. This was launched in response to the 
GMC noting that there was a growing trend of registrants using mobile 
devices to access web content and thousands of registrants are noted to 
have used the mobile site to access both the guidance and the new mobile 
version of the online learning resource for doctors.  

 We note that several regulators are exploring the potential for engagement 7.35
with registrants through social media.  
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Induction of those who trained overseas 
 The GMC launched a pilot study aimed at ensuring doctors who received 7.36

training and education overseas are properly inducted into UK medical 
practice, with a particular focus on ensuring familiarity with the UK health 
system and an understanding of professional and ethical obligations. We 
consider that there might be aspects of this pilot study which could be 
usefully adopted and adapted by other individual regulators.  

Examining the challenges for students with vulnerabilities 
 One of the ways that the regulators can evidence that they have met the 1st7.37

Standard of Good Regulation for education and training (‘…the process for 
reviewing or developing standards for education and training should 
incorporate the views and experiences of key stakeholders…’) is to provide 
guidance to education and training establishments to help ensure disabled 
students do not face unnecessary barriers to successful careers in health.  

 We found that the GMC displayed good practice by establishing the Health 7.38
and Disability in Medical Education and Training Group in early 2012 to 
examine the challenges faced by disabled students and doctors in medical 
education and training and to determine the implications for regulation. The 
group recommended: that there should be no special categories of 
registration for disabled students; a review of practical procedure 
requirements for training programmes and the inclusion of ‘named experts’ in 
schools and deaneries to be responsible for ensuring that disabled students 
have access to support and services.

 We also note that the GMC has commenced work to examine how medical 7.39
schools can support students with mental health concerns and that in 2013 
the GMC will be publishing a risk assessment tool for medical schools to help 
identify problems in support systems for students with mental health 
concerns. We consider that there might be aspects of this work that could be 
usefully adopted and adapted by other regulators.  

Supporting witnesses and registrants during the fitness to practise 
process 

 We highlighted in the 2011/12 performance review examples of regulators’7.40
activities in the provision of support to witnesses at fitness to practise panel 
hearings. During 2012/13 this work has been continued by some regulators. 
The GMC has extended the eligibility for its ‘Witness Support Services’ 
programme to all witnesses and complainants irrespective of circumstances 
(except expert witnesses) and implemented a pilot study to provide access to 
independent and confidential emotional support to registrants from the 
initiation of fitness to practise proceedings, in order to limit the negative 
impact on some registrants from being involved in proceedings. It is also 
developing a protocol for the sensitive handling of cases involving doctors 
who are perceived to be at risk of self-harm once fitness to practise cases 
against them are initiated.  
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 The HCPC has: increased the use of preliminary meetings to resolve issues 7.41
in advance of substantive hearings; ensured that it contacts witnesses two 
weeks in advance of a hearing to identify any issues; ensured that staff who 
will be present on the hearing day contact witnesses in advance of the 
hearing to provide continuity of support for witnesses; instructed case 
presenters to de-brief witnesses who have provided lengthy or disturbing 
evidence before they leave the HCPC premises, even if this involves a short 
adjournment to of the hearing, and emailed fitness to practise panel 
decisions to witnesses in order to inform them of the outcome. 

Implementing right-touch regulation 
 We note the following examples where a regulator has demonstrated its 7.42

focus on the principles of right-touch regulation in developing a new 
approach in one of its function areas:  

Risk-based approach: The GMC commissioned the Social Research 
Centre (SRC) to independently audit its processes for developing 
guidance. In partnership with the SRC, risk profiles for the types of data 
gathered were used to inform the GMC’s guidance, with the aim of 
facilitating the identification of key points as well as the assessment of 
how evidence and views should be represented. The GMC’s view is that 
this risk profiling exercise helped to ensure that data was taken into 
account and that themes were identified and addressed in the guidance 

Agility: The HCPC issued a joint communication with the GSCC to 
education providers to request pass lists for social work graduates. The 
HCPC’s view is that this action enabled it to begin processing applications 
made by social work graduates as soon as possible on the transfer of 
regulatory responsibility from the GSCC as well as enabling education 
providers to be prepared for the new registration process. We consider 
that this approach is an example of good practice – the HCPC looked 
forward to anticipate the change  

Outcomes-focused: The GPhC and GDC both produced outcome-focused 
standards which aim to ensure that those who are required to meet 
regulatory requirements focus on achieving the desired outcomes rather 
than simply focusing on putting a process in place. This is in line with our 
right-touch regulatory approach, which prioritises outcome over process. 
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8. The regulators in numbers
In this section, we provide some basic numerical data on the regulators’ 8.1
performance. The regulators themselves have provided this information and 
it has not been audited by us.  

 The data provides some context about the size of the regulators, in terms of 8.2
the number of professions and professionals that they regulate and the size 
of their workloads.  

 When reading this data for each of the regulators, care should be taken to 8.3
ensure that misleading comparisons are not made. There are differences in 
the size of the regulators both in terms of staff numbers and registrants, they 
all work to differing legislation, rules and processes, they have a varying 
caseload in terms of registration applications and fitness to practise referrals, 
and are dependent to a greater or lesser extent on information from third 
parties, which can impact on the timeliness of their work. Furthermore the 
time period to which some of the data relates is not directly comparable, as it 
is only for part of the financial year 2012/13. 
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Notes 

GDC 
(1) The GDC has explained that this case proceeded under the previous legislation which 

allowed a decision on impairment to be deferred to enable the registrant to undertake 
steps to be able to demonstrate fitness to practise 

(2) The GDC has explained that under its new IT system, introduced in April 2012, the 
GDC is unable to distinguish between the two available methods of initiating an interim 
order hearing (registrar referrals and Investigating Committee referrals) 

GMC
(3) 33 medical schools and 22 deaneries 

(4) These figures have been rounded to the nearest whole week 

(5) The period in which the appeals were received is 1 January 2012 to 22 April 2013 

GOC
(6) The number of registrants is recorded as at 4 April 2013, representing the register 

following the end of the 2013/14 annual renewal period (and consequently reflect the 
removals from the register following the end of that period) 

(7) The GOC has changed the way it defines: 

- 7A - number of cases ‘considered’ by Investigation Committee – this now 
excludes multiple considerations by the Investigation Committee of individual 
cases (they now count the first appearance only), and now includes each 
individual registrant whose case is considered (they previously counted as a 
single case one where a single referral featured multiple registrants)  

- 7B - ‘final fitness to practise committee’ – this now excludes reviews of 
suspension/conditions imposed at final hearings 

GOsC 
(8) The number of registrants is recorded as at 4 April 2013 

(9) For overseas and non-practising osteopaths the figures are 2nd year £230, subsequent 
years £340   

(10) The GOsC has explained to us that this was a health case suspended for 43 weeks in 
accordance with legislation 

(11) The GOsC has defined ‘open cases’ as ones that have been screened in for 
investigation but where a final determination has not been made 

(12) One appeal which was reported in the 2011/12 performance review report was heard 
and upheld this year 

GPhC 
(13) The data is for the period 1 July 2012 to 31 March 2013, for eligible and complete 

applications. The GPhC has informed us that for applications from EU pharmacist 
applicants which were complete the general processing times are: 

- European automatic applications – 10 days 
- European applications via the comparative assessment route – four months 
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(14) The GPhC has told us that it does not collect this data 

(15) Education and Training Committee 

HCPC
(16) Includes 120 social worker cases transferred from the General Social Care Council 

(GSCC) on 1 August 2012 

(17) Includes 27 social worker cases transferred from the GSCC 

(18) Includes 22 social worker cases transferred from the GSCC 

The HCPC has provided data for social worker cases transferred from the GSCC on 1 
August 2012 as follows: 

- 120 cases considered by an investigating committee   
- 120 cases concluded by an investigating committee 
- 27 cases considered by a final fitness to practise committee 
- 22 cases concluded by a final fitness to practise committee 

Receipt of initial complaint to final investigating committee: 
- 7 weeks Median time to conclude 
- 22 weeks Longest  
- 7 weeks Shortest 

Receipt of initial complaint to final fitness to practise hearing 
- 34 weeks Median time to conclude 
- 36 weeks Longest  
- 20 weeks Shortest 

18 weeks median time taken from final investigating committee decision to final fitness 
to practise hearing decision 

 6 weeks median time taken from initial receipt of complaint to interim order decision 

4 weeks median time taken from receipt of information indicating the need for an 
interim order and an interim order decision 

(19) HCPC has defined ‘open cases’ as those which are still under investigation and which 
have not yet been listed for a hearing 

NMC 
(20) This data is for average processing times rather than median. As the measure only 

relates to the time taken once all relevant information is received, the recent pause on 
processing overseas applications is not reflected in this data 

(21) The NMC has told us that it does not collect this information as it measures from the 
receipt of a referral (complaint) 

PSNI

(22) One case has progressed from an initial complaint to final hearing determination during 
this reporting period
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9. The individual regulators’ performance 
review reports

 Our individual performance review reports for the regulators set out:9.1
Whether the regulators have met or not met the 24 Standards of Good 
Regulation which cover the four regulatory functions 

How the regulators have demonstrated that they have met or not met the 
24 Standards of Good Regulation and the reasons for our view 

The areas for improvement we have identified  

The areas we will follow up on in next year’s performance review. 
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10. The General Chiropractic Council (GCC)
Overall assessment

 The GCC has met the majority of the Standards of Good Regulation during 10.1
2012/13 but it is not meeting two of the Standards of Good Regulation for 
fitness to practise.  

 In the 2011/12 performance review we noted that three Standards of Good 10.2
Regulation were not being met and a further three were being inconsistently 
met. The GCC has taken steps to address some of our concerns and, as a 
result, the GCC has improved its performance in some areas. We note that 
during 2012/13 the GCC completed a review of its regulatory model in order 
to determine whether it was proportionate and delivered efficiency in terms of 
speed and cost. This review (which was commenced during 2011/12) led the 
GCC to conduct a further review of its internal ways of working to ensure 
compliance with its legislation. This led to improvements in processes and 
training which has contributed to the GCC improving its performance.   

 We do however find that two standards are not met for fitness to practise and 10.3
this is of some concern. We provide more detail about this in the fitness to 
practise section. We will expect to see improvements in next year’s 
performance review.  

Guidance and standards 
The GCC is meeting all of the Standards of Good Regulation for guidance 10.4
and standards.  

 We note that in 2012/13 the GCC introduced two new guidance documents: 10.5
Student Fitness to Practise and Principles of Students Acting as Models for 
Other Students of the Same or Different Sexes, both published in May 2012.
We look at this guidance in more detail in the education and training section 
of this report.  

 In the 2011/12 performance review we reported that the GCC was in the 10.6
process of developing procedures for chiropractors in relation to the Ionising 
Radiation (Medical Exposure) Regulations 2000 following a concern raised 
by the Health Protection Agency and the Care Quality Commission about the 
quality of radiographic imaging in chiropractic practices. Since the 2011/12 
performance review, the GCC has decided that because the number of 
chiropractors with their own radiography equipment is small, a more 
proportionate response is to refer registrants to the existing guidance and to 
develop improved guidelines for referral of patients for x-rays. The Health 
Protection Agency is now taking forward the development of procedures 
relating to these regulations.  

 In the 2011/12 performance review we noted that the GCC was in the 10.7
process of reviewing its supplementary guidance on the advertising of 
chiropractic services. During 2012/13, following consultation with the 
professional associations, the GCC withdrew its supplementary guidance 
altogether and it now refers chiropractors to the existing Code of Practice and 
Standard of Proficiency. We note that we were told by the GCC that in 
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2011/12 it had identified a number of websites that were not compliant with 
its advertising guidance and we recommend that the GCC considers whether 
this would be best addressed by simply referring chiropractors to the existing 
Code of Practice and Standard of Proficiency.

 We think it is confusing for registrants, and does not maintain confidence in 10.8
the GCC as a regulator, for the GCC to say it will introduce new guidance 
and subsequently decide not to. We recommend that the GCC’s Council 
considers more carefully whether guidance is needed before this is 
communicated externally.  
In next year’s performance review we will follow up on:10.9

The review of the Code of Practice and Standard of Proficiency which is 
scheduled for 2013/14 (with publication scheduled to take place prior to 
June 2014)  

The review of the Degree Recognition Criteria scheduled for 2014 (with 
publication in 2015). The Degree Recognition Criteria document sets out 
the programme outcomes that students need to achieve at the point of 
graduation to ensure that they are fit to practise as a chiropractor, as well 
as the criteria that chiropractic programmes and programme providers 
must meet if their programmes are to be recognised by the GCC. 

Education and training 
 The GCC has continued to meet the Standards of Good Regulation for 10.10

education and training. During 2012/13 the GCC has undertaken various 
pieces of work in the two areas set out below.  

(i) Continuing fitness to practise and continuing professional 
development (CPD) 

 During 2012/13 the GCC carried out: a review of the CPD learning cycles 10.11
undertaken by registrants; a review of the responses to an online 
questionnaire it used in order to gain registrants’ views about the current 
CPD scheme; and an analysis of other regulators’ CPD schemes. The GCC 
has used these pieces of work to develop updated guidance for registrants 
on the current CPD scheme. That guidance was sent to all registrants in 
September 2012.  

 In 2012/13 the GCC completed a consultation on its proposed approach for 10.12
the introduction of a scheme to provide assurance about the continuing 
fitness to practise of its registrants based on a five-yearly self-assessment by 
chiropractors, combined with audits of compliance by independent (lay and 
chiropractic) trained assessors appointed by the GCC. If the assessors 
consider that a registrant has submitted insufficient evidence of their 
continuing fitness to practise, they will be asked to identify additional 
evidence. The GCC anticipates that a relatively small number of registrants 
who provide insufficient evidence will be asked to complete a test. The GCC 
also proposes to allow some registrants to be registered as ‘revalidated with 
conditions’.  
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 The GCC said that its final proposal for a scheme of continuing fitness to 10.13
practise will take into account the responses to the GCC’s consultation. We 
note the GCC’s commitment to taking into account our own paper on 
continuing fitness to practise8 in the development of its approach. We will 
follow up on the progress of this work in next year’s performance review.

(ii) New guidance  
 In May 2012 the GCC issued guidance for both education providers and 10.14

students entitled Student Fitness to Practise. This was developed following a 
review of the outcomes of the annual monitoring of education providers which 
suggested there might be inconsistency in approaching student fitness to 
practise issues across education providers. In developing the guidance the 
GCC took note of academic research which suggested that certain 
behaviours as a student might be indicators of future fitness to practise 
issues as a practitioner. The GCC sought agreement from education 
providers to provide copies of the guidance to students and also set this out 
as an expectation in separate guidance issued to education providers. The 
guidance requires education providers and students to inform the GCC about 
student fitness to practise cases that are dealt with by the providers’ formal 
disciplinary mechanisms, so that the GCC can monitor trends. 

 In June 2012 the GCC published Students Acting as Models for Other 10.15
Students of the Same and Different Sexes. This guidance aims to provide 
clarity about the practice of students treating each other as part of their 
training to treat patients of either gender (including ensuring that students are 
aware of their rights to refuse to be treated by another student). It was 
developed following an issue being raised by one of the education providers 
and takes account of safety issues as well as cultural and religious 
differences. We find the GCC’s work in this area to be good practice.

Registration 
 The GCC now meets all of the Standards of Good Regulation for registration.   10.16
 Examples from this reporting year of how the GCC is demonstrating that it is 10.17

meeting these standards include:  
Amending its registration process so that the ‘application for retention’
form now requires registrants to sign to say that they have read the Code 
of Practice and Standard of Proficiency. The GCC said that all registrants 
have now provided signed statements – which represent a significant 
improvement on the position in 2011/12, at which time 40% of registrants 
had not returned a signed statement to say they had read the Code of 
Practice

                                           
8  CHRE, 2012. An Approach to Assuring Continuing Fitness to Practise Based on Right-Touch 

Regulation Principles. London: CHRE. Available at: 
http://www.professionalstandards.org.uk/docs/psa-library/november-2012---right-touch-continuing-
fitness-to-practise.pdf
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Developing a new code of practice which formalises the exercise of the 
registrar’s powers relating to registration decisions and sets out the 
process for dealing with any applicants that have been using the title of 
‘chiropractor’ while not being registered with the GCC.  

Dealing with misuse of title and unregistered practice 
 In the 2011/12 performance review we reported concerns that while the GCC 10.18

was sending ‘cease and desist’ letters to individuals practising chiropractic 
without being registered with the GCC, it did not have a recorded or 
formalised process for sending these letters, or for conducting follow-up. We 
found that the 5th Standard of Good Regulation for registration (risk of harm 
to the public and of damage to public confidence in the profession related to 
non-registrants using a protected title or undertaking a protected act is 
managed in a proportionate and risk based manner) was not met.  

 In response to our concerns the GCC has carried out the following activities 10.19
during 2012/13: 

Introduced an automated system which ensures that a case officer follows 
up on cease and desist letters – if an undertaking to comply is not 
provided by the individual, then the GCC will commence a criminal 
prosecution. If the individual does undertake to comply, the automated 
system ensures that a case officer checks their continued compliance 
after six months  

Clarified its policy in relation to individuals applying for re-registration who 
admit to having practised chiropractic in the past while unregistered.  

 During 2012/13 the GCC has dealt with 36 complaints involving individuals 10.20
illegally using the title of ‘chiropractor’ while not being registered. 

 We now find that the 5th Standard of Good Regulation for registration is 10.21
currently met based on the activities the GCC has carried out in response to 
our concerns. We will follow up on this area of work in next year’s 
performance review. 

Fitness to practise 
 The GCC now meets eight of the Standards of Good Regulation for fitness to 10.22

practise and is not meeting two standards.  
 We note that the GCC has improved its performance in some areas during 10.23

2012/13. The Chief Executive began annual internal and external audits of 
the GCC’s fitness to practise processes. We note that the latest internal audit 
report produced in 2012 demonstrates that the improvements made to 
processes have been implemented by staff during 2012/13. Further 
improvements are required however to raise the GCC’s performance in
fitness to practise.  
We set out below the concerns we raised in 2011/12 about the GCC’s 10.24
performance against the Standards of Good Regulation for fitness to practise
and the action the GCC has taken to improve its performance during 
2012/13. 



32

Unprocessed complaints 
 In early 2012 the GCC discovered 128 fitness to practise complaints (or 10.25

enquiries that might subsequently have become complaints) that had not 
been properly recorded or processed. This raised concern about the past 
effectiveness of the GCC which risked undermining public confidence in it as 
a regulator and we were concerned that there was a potential serious risk to 
the public. The GCC took a pragmatic and proportionate approach to 
rectifying the situation – it notified the Council for Healthcare Regulatory 
Excellence (CHRE) immediately in the interests of transparency, it assessed
the extent of the problem, it took remedial action (where it remained possible 
to do so) and it reviewed its procedures to determine how to prevent a similar 
situation from occurring again. At that time we independently audited the 
cases and determined that public protection risks were adequately managed 
by the action the GCC was taking. 

 The GCC sought to investigate the 128 unprocessed complaints but its ability 10.26
to do so was hampered in some cases by practical difficulties resulting from 
the length of time that had passed since the complaints were first received. 
By March 2013, the GCC had concluded 109 of the cases and a further 13 
were awaiting determination by the Investigating Committee (IC). The GCC 
anticipates that all the 128 unprocessed complaints will have been concluded 
by August 2013. We will follow up on this in next year’s performance review. 

 In the circumstances we concluded in the 2011/12 performance review that 10.27
the GCC had not met three of the Standards of Good Regulation for fitness to 
practise and that a further three standards were not consistently being 
achieved. We consider that during 2012/13 the GCC’s current performance 
has improved in relation to the two standards that were not being met and 
these are now being met. We however find that the three standards that were 
inconsistently being met last year are now not met. Further details are set out 
below and we will also follow up on the GCC’s handling of fitness to practise 
complaints in our next audit of the cases closed at the initial stages of the 
GCC’s fitness to practise process.  

Anybody can raise a concern, including the regulator, about the fitness to 
practise of a registrant (1st standard)

 The GCC found that one of the root causes of the 128 unprocessed 10.28
complaints not being progressed was that its usual practice was to only act 
once a complaint was received in writing. The GCC now appreciates that this 
was in breach of its own legislation which does not require an allegation to be 
made in writing before it is investigated.  

 During 2012/13 the GCC amended its procedures to reflect its obligations to 10.29
investigate all allegations, whether or not they are received in writing, and the 
GCC has trained staff in the new procedures. The GCC has informed us that 
it now routinely explains the complaints process to complainants in a simple 
way, in response to our concern that complainants might be ‘put off’ by the 
apparent complexity of the process. Copies of the GCC’s leaflets explaining 
the complaints process are now provided in the first piece of correspondence 
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sent to a complainant by the GCC – although it is disappointing that this has 
not been part of the GCC process until this year.  

 Based on these activities we find that this standard is now met.  10.30

Where necessary, the regulator will determine if there is a case to answer 
and if so, whether the registrant’s fitness to practise is impaired or, where 
appropriate, direct the person to another relevant organisation (4th standard)

 Case officers are now prompted to consider whether another body (for 10.31
example another regulator or the police) needs to be informed about the case 
at an early stage of the investigation. IC members have undertaken refresher 
training on the ‘case to answer’ test and the GCC has identified that this has 
resulted in improved reasons being set out in decision letters. We anticipate 
that these activities should help the GCC to achieve consistent performance 
against this standard. We find that this standard is currently met and we will 
also expect to see evidence of this in our next audit of the cases closed at 
the initial stages of the GCC’s fitness to practise process.  

Fitness to practise cases are dealt with as quickly as possible taking into 
account the complexity and type of case and the conduct on both sides. 
Delays do not result in harm or potential harm to patients and service users. 
Where necessary the regulator protects the public by means of interim orders 
(6th standard) 

 We noted in our 2011/12 performance review report that the GCC appeared 10.32
to be performing inconsistently in relation to the 6th standard. Our conclusion 
was reached based on our concerns about the weaknesses in the GCC’s 
performance in progressing cases due to the discovery of the unprocessed 
complaints which had not been taken forward in a timely manner.  

 Following the discovery of the 128 unprocessed complaints (referred to 10.33
above), the GCC’s Chief Executive reviewed the work of the fitness to 
practise department in 2011/12 and discovered that there were a further 65 
cases that had not been progressed as quickly as possible due to these 
cases not being actively managed.  

 In 2012/13 one additional area requiring improvement has been identified 10.34
relating to the timeliness of imposing interim orders. Cases that require the 
regulator to impose interim orders must be dealt with as quickly as possible 
so registrants are restricted from practising when necessary to protect the 
public. In this year’s performance review, we have noted an increase in the 
median time taken for the GCC to progress a complaint from initial receipt of 
the complaint to interim order decision from six to 17 weeks – which is 
among the lengthiest across the regulators that we oversee. The GCC said
that the reason for this relates to three cases about one registrant where the 
police instructed the GCC to take no further action. In another case, there 
was a failure to identify that an immediate suspension order was required 
when the complaint was received in 2011 – following the GCC’s review of its 
procedures in 2012 an immediate suspension order was requested. We note 
that the GCC handles a relatively small number of cases and therefore a 
delay in one case may have a significant effect on the median. We will follow 
up on this timescale in next year’s performance review. 
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 It is the responsibility of the GCC to actively manage cases and track and 10.35
monitor the progress of cases to prevent undue delays of this nature. We 
note that the median time taken from the receipt of information indicating the 
need for an interim order to an interim order decision being made has also 
increased – from six to 11 weeks. We will follow up on this timescale in next 
year’s performance review. 

All parties to a fitness to practise case are kept updated on the progress of 
their case and supported to participate effectively in the process (7th
standard) 

In our last audit of the cases closed at the initial stages of the GCC’s fitness 10.36
to practise process (in 2011) we expressed concern about delays in 
communicating the outcomes of IC meetings. Following this, in the 2011/12 
performance review we concluded that these delays meant there was 
inconsistent compliance with the 7th standard for fitness to practise. The 
GCC advised us that it would amend its processes in light of our audit 
findings and it has taken action during 2012/13 to do so, including moving to 
a system where the allegations are drafted by a lawyer and approved by the 
IC, rather than being drafted by the IC itself. 

 The GCC has introduced a new requirement that the minutes of IC meetings 10.37
are to be agreed within two weeks (rather than five weeks as previously) and 
decisions that there is ‘no case to answer’ are to be communicated within 24 
hours. Decisions that there is a ‘case to answer’ are also to be 
communicated within 24 hours although the full reasons for that decision 
(and an explanation of the process) are provided at a later stage. We 
recognise that the GCC has achieved improvements in the speed at which it 
communicates the outcomes of IC meetings during 2012/13, but we remain 
concerned that the timescales for provision of the reasons for decisions 
remains lengthy despite the relatively low volume of cases handled by the 
GCC compared to other regulators we oversee. This has the potential to 
undermine confidence in the GCC’s regulatory process.

 We encourage the GCC to look at any further measures it can take to 10.38
improve the speed of the IC process.  
We also note that the development of the GCC’s website to enable 10.39
complaints to be made online has not been completed although this was 
work that has continued from 2011/12. Given our concerns about the GCC’s 
performance against the 7th standard, we recommend that the GCC ensures 
that this work progresses more quickly than it has.  

 Based on our findings relating to the timeliness of imposing interim orders 10.40
and the timeliness of the IC process, we find that the 6th and 7th standards 
are not met. We will consider the timeliness of imposing interim orders and 
the IC process in more detail in our next audit of the cases closed at the 
initial stages of the GCC’s fitness to practise process and also in next year’s 
performance review. 
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Information about fitness to practise cases is securely retained (10th
standard) 

 In the 2011/12 performance review we noted that there were weaknesses in 10.41
the GCC’s system for ensuring the security of fitness to practise data. As a 
result we concluded that the GCC did not meet this standard. The GCC’s 
Council reviewed its operational procedure in September 2012; permanent 
staff have now been trained on this procedure and temporary staff are being 
supervised. We find that the GCC now meets this standard.  
In next year’s performance review report we will follow up on:10.42

The outcome of a planned external audit which will consider case 
progression, delays caused by the regulator, adherence to procedures, 
consideration of the need for interim order applications and further 
improvements  

The outcome of a planned external review of feedback from witnesses, 
registrants and other parties involved in fitness to practise hearings 

The timeliness of the GCC’s fitness to practise process, including the IC 
process and the time taken to impose interim orders 

The GCC’s progress in completing the 128 unprocessed complaints found 
in 2012 

The development of the GCC’s website to enable complaints to be made 
online (which is work continued from 2011/12) 

Outcomes from the further training identified for IC and Professional 
Conduct Committee members 

Progress with the production of a ‘conditions bank’ to support panel 
members with imposing consistent and comprehensive conditions of 
practice orders 

The development of support processes for witnesses. We note that this is 
also work that has continued from 2011/12 and we therefore recommend 
that the GCC ensures that a process is in place as soon as possible. We 
draw the GCC’s attention to the work of the GMC and HCPC in this area,
both of which operate systems and process for supporting witnesses from 
which the GCC may be able to learn. 
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11. The General Dental Council (GDC)
Overall assessment 

 The GDC meets all but one of the Standards of Good Regulation.  11.1
 In February 2013 we published our report to the Secretary of State for Health 11.2

in response to his request to us to investigate the concerns that were raised 
by the former Chair of the GDC upon her resignation in May 2011.9 Those 
concerns related to the GDC’s governance and the fulfilment of its statutory 
duties and we were asked to pay particular attention in our investigation to 
the GDC’s performance of its fitness to practise function.  
In that report we concluded that, ‘notwithstanding … the fact that 11.3
improvements can still be made … we do not consider based on the 
evidence that the GDC has failed or is failing to carry out its statutory 
functions’. 

 The GDC investigation report also identified that the GDC did not take 11.4
effective action to address the weaknesses in its fitness to practise process 
that we identified in our 2009/10 and 2010/11 audits of the cases closed at 
the initial stages of the fitness to practise process and in our performance 
review for 2009/10 (published in summer 2010) more promptly which was the 
responsibility of the Chair, the Council and the executive in place at the time.  

 In the 2011/12 performance review we noted that the GDC was not meeting 11.5
two of the Standards of Good Regulation for fitness to practise relating to the 
timeliness of case progression and the quality of decision making. We 
anticipated seeing improvements in these two areas in our audit of the cases 
closed of the initial stages of the GDC’s fitness to practise process in 2012, 
following improvement measures that the GDC was in the process of 
implementing.10 Only a relatively small number of the cases we audited in 
2012 were opened after the GDC had implemented its improvement 
measures and we therefore had a limited opportunity to assess the 
effectiveness of the improvement measures. We were, however, pleased to 
note in our audit report that the positive impact of the changes introduced in 
2011/12 was visible in the small of number of relevant cases that we audited. 
There appeared to be, in general, good compliance with the changes to 
process that have been introduced and we also did not identify any decisions 
made at the initial stages of the fitness to practise process that might pose 
immediate risks to patient safety. We will follow up on this in our next audit of 
the cases closed at the initial stages of the GDC’s fitness to practise process 
in 2013.  

                                           
9  Professional Standards Authority, 2013. An Investigation into Concerns Raised by the Former Chair of 

the GDC. London: CHRE. Available at: http://www.professionalstandards.org.uk/docs/special-reviews-
and-investigations/130204-gdc-investigation-report-final.pdf (para 6.20) 

10  CHRE, 2012. Audit of the General Dental Council’s Initial Stages Fitness to Practise Process. London: 
CHRE. Available at: http://www.professionalstandards.org.uk/docs/audit-reports/gdc-ftp-audit-report-
2012.pdf?sfvrsn=0\   
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Guidance and standards 
 The GDC continues to meet the Standards of Good Regulation for guidance 11.6

and standards. Examples of ways in which the GDC has continued to meet 
these standards include:  

Completion of a consultation on the revised Standards for Dental
Professionals and Standards of Conduct, Performance and Ethics

Active stakeholder engagement activities in relation to policy development 
for standards and guidance. Many of these engagement activities were 
carried out prior to full consultation, so that the feedback from the 
engagement activities could improve the quality of the consultation and 
provide key stakeholders with helpful background information in advance. 
These activities also enabled the GDC to listen to concerns about 
proposed changes and either address them or explain the reasons behind 
the changes so stakeholders were supported to understand the changes 
resulting from the projects. We consider that this is good practice

Extensive distribution of the GDC’s Smile leaflet (which explains the role 
of the GDC). The GDC ran an email campaign to raise awareness of 
these leaflets with 63 community groups and 33 local authorities with 
significant ethnic minority populations. This is also an area of good 
practice.  

In next year’s performance review we will follow up on:  11.7
The GDC’s plans to raise awareness of its revised Standards for Dental 
Professionals that were approved by its Council in March 2013 (following 
the completion of the consultation on the Standards of Conduct, 
Performance and Ethics in December 2012). These plans will be
implemented in early 2013 

The GDC’s plans to improve its analysis of fitness to practise case data, 
to facilitate the monitoring and evaluation of trends indicating areas where 
further standards and guidance might be needed. This work is scheduled 
for completion in August 2013 

The outcome of a consultation on the proposal made by the Direct Access 
Working Group for patients to have direct access to any registered dental 
professional for the provision of dental care and treatment which is within 
the dental professional’s scope of practice and for which that professional 
is trained and competent, without the prior need for referral from a dentist 

The GDC’s review of its Scope of Practice guidance – this work was 
paused pending the outcome of the consultation on Direct Access. The 
Scope of Practice is the GDC’s document setting out the skills that can be 
expected of a GDC registrant on qualification, ‘additional skills’ which a 
registrant in that group might go on to develop during their career and 
duties which registrants in that group are not permitted to carry out. 

Education and training 
 The GDC continues to meet all the Standards of Good Regulation in 11.8

education and training. 



38

 In addition, the GDC has carried out some development work in two 11.9
particular areas of its education and training function. We describe some 
aspects of this work below: 

(i) Continuing fitness to practise 
 During 2012/13 the GDC published a literature review entitled, Effectiveness 11.10

of CPD in Dentistry and a research report, Registrant and Provider 
Perspectives on Mandatory CPD in Dentistry in the UK. The GDC found that 
these two pieces of work have helped it to understand what its registrants 
currently do to maintain their fitness to practise, as well as the context within 
which they carry out continuing professional development (CPD). During this 
period the GDC also commissioned research into information and evidence 
sources for its proposed scheme of continuing fitness to practise. One of the 
conclusions of that research was that a continuing fitness to practise scheme 
should require individuals to have personal development plans with elements 
that are both formative (ie where participants receive developmental and 
qualitative feedback throughout the process) and summative (ie where 
participants are required to undergo an assessment of learning).  

 Following consultation in 2010 on the GDC’s proposals for a scheme of 11.11
revalidation, the GDC agreed in August 2012 to introduce an enhanced CPD 
scheme. The CPD scheme will be the first step in developing plans for a 
scheme to provide assurance about registrants’ continuing fitness to practise. 
The GDC’s proposal is to link the registrant’s reflective practice (where this is 
carried out) and planned learning and development to the GDC’s standards 
and retention of registration. The GDC consultation on the enhanced CPD 
scheme closed at the end of January 2013. We will follow up on the outcome 
of this work in next year’s performance review. 

 We anticipate that our paper about continuing fitness to practise11 will be 11.12
useful to the GDC in the development of its continuing fitness to practise 
system. In this paper, we recommend that regulators take a proportionate 
and outcome-based approach to developing a continuing fitness to practise 
system. We also recommend that regulators gain a clear understanding of 
what registrants do and the context in which they do it to help quantify risks 
presented – this means that the GDC will need to develop a risk based model 
to provide assurance about continuing fitness to practise which takes account 
of the different types of professionals that the GDC regulates.  

(ii) Quality assurance of education programmes 
 The GDC developed new Standards for Education which became applicable 11.13

from September 2012. The GDC is using the new standards to provide the 
framework for the quality assurance of new programme submissions and for 
the inspection of existing programmes. The GDC has updated its quality 
assurance process based on the revised standards and this became 

                                           
11  CHRE, 2012. An Approach to Assuring Continuing Fitness to Practise Based on Right-Touch 

Regulation Principles. London: CHRE. Available at: 
http://www.professionalstandards.org.uk/docs/psa-library/november-2012---right-touch-continuing-
fitness-to-practise.pdf
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operational from November 2012. In our view the GDC demonstrated good 
practice in its work in this area by establishing an expert advisory group of 
individuals with relevant experience to provide advice about how the 
standards could best be incorporated into the GDC’s quality assurance 
process.
The new standards aim to set out the GDC’s expectations more clearly and 11.14
to ensure that students achieve the learning outcomes set out in Preparing 
for Practice (the GDC’s document that describes the outcomes an individual 
must be able to demonstrate at the end of their training in order for them to 
be registered with the GDC, eg the ability to describe the principles of an 
evidence-based approach to learning, clinical and professional practice and 
decision making). We consider that this outcome-based approach accords 
with the principles of right-touch regulation and we regard this work as an 
example of good practice.  
In next year’s performance review we will examine the following activities:  11.15

The development, delivery and evaluation of the GDC’s approach to 
assuring continuing fitness to practise 

The GDC’s review of its Standards for Education which is planned for the 
2013/14 academic year. These standards set out the criteria against 
which the GDC will quality assure educational providers to enhance the 
transparency and the consistency of the inspection process from the 
perspectives of both the GDC and the education provider, ensuring that 
providers are clear about the standards against which they are being 
assessed 

Any planned changes to the GDC’s education programme quality 
assurance process, following its analysis of feedback from education 
providers in 2012/13 

The GDC’s review of the purpose and usefulness of Specialist Lists12 in 
2013 (a continuation of the work commenced in 2011/12). This review will 
consider the purpose and usefulness of Specialist Lists in light of the 
need for public protection and the oral health needs of patients 

The outcomes of the research and stakeholder engagement work on pre-
registration training, looking for evidence of any particular risks to patient 
safety during the transition of a student to fully unsupervised practice as a 
registered professional. The GCC’s Council established a working group 
in September 2012 to explore the case for introducing pre-registration 
vocational training for dental graduates. The working group considered
the available evidence from healthcare and other professions in the UK 
and from dentistry in other jurisdictions. It made a recommendation to the 
Council in December 2012 on the scope of a full evaluation of this area 
and the report of the working group was produced in April 2013. 

                                           
12  Specialist Lists are held by the GDC and are lists of registered dentists who meet certain conditions 

and are entitled to use a specialist title. Any registered dentist can work in a particular field of dentistry 
(eg oral surgery) but only those on specialist lists can call themselves a 'specialist' because they have 
met certain requirements and been given the right by the GDC to use the title 'specialist’.
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Registration 
 The GDC continues to meet the Standards of Good Regulation for 11.16

registration. 
 In addition, the GDC has completed a number of activities aimed at 11.17

improving or maintaining its performance – either by improving 
communication with its stakeholders or by maintaining the accuracy of the 
registers. These activities included:  

The introduction of a three-stage checking procedure as part of the 
process for assessing registration applications as well as restoration 
applications made by UK applicants. This has reduced the number of 
serious and non-serious errors in the processing of applications 

Proactively contacting registrants to improve the timeliness of applications 
for registration renewals. This has resulted in a reduction in the numbers 
of administrative ‘lapses’ from the register, which occur when a registrant 
fails to apply for renewal of their registration in time for it to be processed 
before their current registration expires and can disrupt patient services 
as registrants are unable to practise lawfully while their registration has 
lapsed 

Planning for a potential increase in activity in the registrations department 
after July 2013, when over 37,000 dental care professionals are expected 
to complete their first five-year cycle of CPD activity. Those that have not 
undertaken the required 150 hours of CPD (of which a minimum of 50 
hours must be verifiable) may need to be removed from the register  

Improving the procedures of the GDC’s illegal practice team which has 
included introducing meetings between the illegal practice team lawyers 
and investigators on an individual and regular basis to ensure 
investigators have regular access to legal advice and lawyers provide 
advice or direction on each investigation. The GDC said that this has 
resulted in matters being concluded quicker and in a larger number of 
investigations resulting in successful prosecutions.  

Administrative lapses from the register of registrants who are the 
subject of fitness to practise allegations 

 The GDC will remove from the register any registrant who has not paid their 11.18
annual retention fee and/or complied with their CPD requirements. However 
the GDC’s policy is that removal from the register on these grounds should 
not take place in circumstances where the registrant is currently subject to a 
fitness to practise investigation as the GDC needs to retain its jurisdiction so 
that it can take appropriate action if that registrant’s fitness to practise is 
ultimately found impaired. Unfortunately it appears that on 13 occasions in 
2012/13 this policy was not adhered to by GDC staff and the GDC had not 
identified this had occurred because it did not have systems in place to check 
or audit compliance of the policy.
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 This meant that registrants who were the subject of fitness to practise 11.19
allegations were incorrectly removed from the GDC’s registers, which 
resulted in the investigations and/or hearings terminating without any findings 
being reached. While their removal from the registers means those 
individuals are no longer legally able to practise as GDC registrants (and 
therefore there should be no direct risk to public protection), it also means 
that the allegations against them were not adjudicated upon or even 
necessarily fully investigated.  

 This is an undesirable outcome both for any individual complainants involved 11.20
in the allegations and for wider public protection – should any of those 
individuals apply for restoration to the GDC’s registers in the future, the GDC 
may find it difficult to obtain evidence relating to the original allegations. It 
also does little to maintain public confidence in the regulatory process.  

 We note that the GDC has put in place a new procedure to prevent a 11.21
recurrence of this situation, which involves the fitness to practise 
administration team manually checking the fitness to practise history of a 
registrant before they are removed from the register. This should mitigate the 
risk but it does not eliminate it altogether as there is still the possibility of 
human error.    

Practising without indemnity insurance 
 When harm has been caused as a result of negligence by a professional, the 11.22

patient who has been harmed should be able to obtain financial redress. 
Such redress is usually provided through the professional’s insurance 
arrangements. We note that the GDC does not currently have a process 
requiring registrants to provide assurance that indemnity insurance is in 
place. In 2011 we exercised our powers under Section 29 of the NHS Reform 
and Health Care Professions Act 2002 to refer a GDC case to the High Court 
of England and Wales. One of the reasons for this was that the fitness to 
practise panel had not taken seriously the fact that the registrant did not have 
indemnity insurance in place. We were successful in that the High Court 
remitted the case back to the GDC to be heard again by a newly constituted 
panel.  

 We were disappointed that in April 2013 we again had to refer a GDC case to 11.23
the High Court where the fitness to practise panel did not take sufficiently 
seriously the fact that the registrant did not have indemnity insurance in 
place. This appeal has not yet been heard. 

 We note that the GDC intends to revise its approach to annual declarations, 11.24
so that individuals will be required to self-declare each year on a number of 
factors including their indemnity cover. In order to introduce these changes, 
the GDC will need to amend its rules and it is working with the Department of 
Health to introduce rule changes in 2013. In the meantime, we recommend 
that the GDC considers what steps it can take now to gain better assurance 
that registrants have indemnity insurance in place and thereby maintain 
confidence in its system of regulation.  
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In next year’s performance review we will follow up on:  11.25
The implementation of a new IT system in the registrations directorate 
which commenced in January 2013 and is aimed at facilitating online 
registration applications (this is work that is ongoing from 2011/12) 

The outcomes of work that the GDC plans to undertake to contact former 
dental care practitioners to ensure they are aware of their ineligibility to 
practise following removal from the register for non-payment of the annual 
retention fee. 

Fitness to practise 
 The GDC has met nine of the Standards of Good Regulation for fitness to 11.26

practise, however one remains not met.  
 In the 2011/2012 performance review we noted that the GDC was not 11.27

meeting two standards and was inconsistently meeting one further standard. 
We outline the GDC’s performance in 2012/13 against these standards 
below.  

Fitness to practise cases are dealt with as quickly as possible, taking 
into account the complexity and type of case and the conduct of both 
sides (6th standard) 

 In the 2011/12 performance review we found evidence that demonstrated a 11.28
failure to progress cases as quickly as possible. During 2012/13, in response 
to our concerns and as part of its own programme of improvement work in 
fitness to practise, the GDC has introduced a number of changes which 
include:  

Greater numbers of decision makers at the triage stage, in order to 
manage more effectively the increase in the number of complaints that 
the GDC is receiving each year 

Greater scrutiny of the timeliness of case progression by means of audits 
by the Compliance Team, which considers whether key performance 
indicators are being met and whether agreed procedures are being 
followed. This information is fed back to individuals where necessary and 
may lead to training 

An increased pool of clinical experts and legal advisers for panels in order 
to minimise any delays in obtaining advice due to lack of availability 

An amendment to the investigation process so that from April 2012 
clinical advice is obtained earlier in the process – under the previous 
process the first opportunity to obtain clinical advice was at the
Investigating Committee (IC) stage. The advice is provided by the 
National Clinical Assessment Service (NCAS), which provides a view 
about whether the clinical care provided by the registrant was care that 
could reasonably have been expected of a dentist working in the same 
discipline. Where the GDC assesses that the case relates to a single, 
non-serious, clinical issue with no other aggravating features, and NCAS 
finds that the registrant was working at the level of professional practice 
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reasonably expected of a registrant in the same discipline, the case is 
likely to be closed at assessment and not referred to the IC at all  

The introduction of the Pre-Hearings Case team (from April 2012) to 
improve case management to reduce the numbers of hearing 
adjournments. 

 The GDC has introduced a change to its process whereby casework 11.29
managers are now permitted to be single decision makers at the initial stage 
of the investigation process – the previous process required decisions to be 
made by three members of staff. The GDC states that this change has 
improved overall timeliness. We are concerned that casework managers are 
permitted to close individual cases before a framework of assessment 
criteria, to ensure consistent decision making, has been established. 
However we acknowledge that the GDC’s quality assurance process has not 
identified any inappropriate closure decisions made using this process (only 
administrative errors) and that it is developing assessment criteria which will 
be used in future internal audits. We will look for evidence of consistent and 
appropriate decision making using this process in our next audit of the GDC’s 
handling of the cases closed at the initial stages of its fitness to practise 
process in summer 2013 (although we appreciate that we will only have a 
limited opportunity to assess this as the process will only apply to a 
proportion of cases).  

 We note that the GDC has reduced the numbers of cases which were 11.30
received three or more years ago from 55 in the 2011/12 performance review 
to 16, which is a positive indicator of improvement in timeliness. We 
recognise that the progression of these older cases has had an adverse 
impact on the following measures: 

The median time taken to conclude cases from receipt of initial complaint 
to the final IC decision has increased by 10 weeks and is now 33 weeks  

The median time taken from the final IC decision to the final fitness to 
practise panel decision has increased by two weeks and is now 52 
weeks. 

 We also note that the median time taken from the receipt of the initial 11.31
complaint to an interim order decision is 23 weeks for referrals by the IC and 
the registrar13 although we note that the median time taken from receipt of 
information indicating the need for an interim order and an interim order 
decision is five weeks. Delays in applying for interim orders have the 
potential to directly impact on public protection and confidence in the 
regulator. This is because the passage of time can expose patients to risk 
during that period if the registrant is able to practise when they are not safe to 
do so. The regulator may also find it harder to convince a panel that an 
interim order is necessary if no further incidents have occurred during the 
period of delay. We recognise that the GDC’s registrar, under its legislation, 
is not able to refer a case to the Interim Order Committee independently 
which has an impact on the length of this process. 

                                           
13  We recognise that the timeframe may be different for referrals made by the IC and by the registrar.  



44

 In our view, while some improvements have been made to progress cases 11.32
more quickly and prevent blockages in the process, delays remain in some 
areas of the process. We are particularly concerned about the length of time 
taken for a decision to be made about an interim order. This demonstrates 
that the GDC is not yet meeting this standard.  

All fitness to practise decisions made at the initial and final stages of 
the process are well reasoned, consistent, protect the public and 
maintain confidence in the profession (8th standard) 

 In the 2011/12 performance review we found that this standard was not met 11.33
and we referred to examples of GDC decision letters (identified during our 
2011 audit of the cased closed at the initial stages of the GDC’s fitness to 
practise process) which did not fully address all the issues or properly explain 
why the GDC was not taking any further action. In response to our concerns, 
and as part of its own programme of improvements in fitness to practise, the 
GDC has introduced the following during 2012/13:  

An updated Indicative Outcomes guidance document to be used by the IC 
to improve consistency in decision making. Training for the IC members 
on the new guidance has been conducted 

Audits of the quality of decisions made at the triage stage and the IC 
stage by the Compliance Team, which has been in place since November 
2011. We note that the Compliance Team targets high risk cases, which 
we regard as good practice  

A review programme to evaluate the performance of fitness to practise 
panels – which involves assessment, peer review and training of 
panellists. 

 We were pleased to note that we found some examples of better quality 11.34
decision letters during our audit of the cases closed at the initial stages of the 
GDC’s fitness to practise process14 in 2012. We will look for further evidence 
of improvement in this area in our next audit in 2013.  

 We find this standard is currently met and we hope to report on consistent 11.35
performance against this standard in next year’s performance review. 

Information about fitness to practise cases is securely retained (10th
standard) 
In last year’s performance review we reported inconsistent compliance with 11.36
this standard, due to a data breach that had resulted from a past IC chair 
being sent IC papers in error. We note that the GDC has undertaken further 
staff training in 2012/13 to ensure awareness of the relevant policies.  

                                           
14  See footnote 10. 
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 We also note that during 2012/13 the GDC has introduced the use of 11.37
electronic (rather than paper) case bundles for its fitness to practise panels 
and the IC committee. The GDC plans to complete the transition to electronic 
bundles by 2015. This should reduce the risk of data security breaches and 
as such is an area of potential good practice. We consider that this standard 
is now met.   
In next year’s performance review we will follow up on: 11.38

The outcomes from the GDC’s ongoing work to make it easier to raise a 
fitness to practise concern – which includes making the online form more 
visible on its website, updating the leaflet How to Raise a Concern and 
meeting with the Dental Complaints Service to improve the referral criteria 
for concerns referred on to the GDC  

The outcomes of the initiatives to improve the GDC’s performance against 
the 6th and 8th Standards of Good Regulation for fitness to practise 

The implementation of any recommendations following our next audit of 
the cases closed at the initial stages of the GDC’s fitness to practise 
process (in summer 2013). 
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12. The General Medical Council (GMC)
Overall assessment 

 The GMC meets all of the Standards of Good Regulation. It has continued to 12.1
maintain its performance as an effective regulator across all its regulatory 
functions. This is commendable as the GMC has also acted to develop its 
work and drive improvement across its functions including the finalisation of 
its development of a scheme for continuing fitness to practise. It has also 
implemented new governance arrangements and appointed a chair and 
council. 

Guidance and standards 
 We consider that the GMC continues to meet the Standards of Good 12.2

Regulation for guidance and standards. The GMC has developed a number 
of initiatives and in particular, a new edition of its foundation guidance for 
registrants, Good Medical Practice (GMP), was published in March 2013. 

 We consider that the GMC has demonstrated good practice in setting 12.3
guidance and standards in the following two ways which relate to all four of 
the Standards of Good Regulation for guidance and standards. We set out 
examples under each heading:  

(i) Standards and guidance prioritise patient safety, are evidence-
based, address current issues in practice and are easily 
accessible  

The GMC’s new edition of GMP reflects current issues in medical practice 12.4
and we find this to be an area of good practice. GMP includes guidance 
about the use of social media and gives prominence to doctors’ 
responsibilities for ensuring patients get help with basic care. This takes 
account of public concern and concerns expressed in the media about the 
standards of care for older patients and those with dementia and learning 
disabilities. The explanatory notes for GMP also include information about 
the conflicts of interest of doctors and the issue of doctors commissioning 
local services. This was in response to the need to manage conflicts of 
interests effectively in clinical commissioning groups to ensure the probity of 
commissioning decisions and to protect the integrity of the doctors involved in 
such decisions.  

 The GMC commissioned the Social Research Centre (SRC) to independently 12.5
audit its processes for developing guidance. In partnership with the SRC, risk 
profiles for the types of data gathered were used to inform its guidance. This 
was intended to enable key points to be identified and to evaluate how 
evidence and views should be represented. The GMC said risk profiling 
helped ensure data was taken into account and themes identified and 
addressed in the guidance. 

 The GMC launched two pieces of guidance relating to assisted suicide – one 12.6
aimed at fitness to practise panels dealing with doctors who have been 
involved in an assisted suicide case; and the other at registrants.  
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 The GMC launched a mobile-optimised website in March 2012, providing 12.7
doctors with instant access to GMC guidance and online resources from their 
mobile devices. 

 The GMC extracted data from fitness to practise cases to inform its new child 12.8
protection guidance. This was in response to concerns in the medical press 
that paediatricians raising child protection concerns were more likely to be 
complained about to the GMC and more likely to be treated harshly during 
fitness to practise procedures. 

(ii) Methods for engagement are maintained and expanded in the 
development of new standards and guidance  

 The GMC used a range of techniques to gather evidence and opinions in 12.9
developing the new edition of GMP. These techniques included 
questionnaires, an online poll, ballot box postcards, meetings, focus-groups 
and in-depth interviews with interested parties.  

 In addition, the GMC tailored some of these methods to address particular 12.10
groups (such as young people and people with learning disabilities) that 
research showed may be disadvantaged when receiving medical services. 

 In April 2012, the GMC launched a new online resource offering practical 12.11
learning tools and advice on the key issues doctors need to consider when 
treating a patient who has a learning disability (such as communication, 
consent and assessing and maximising the patient’s capacity to consent).  
In next year’s performance review, we will follow up on the outcomes of the 12.12
following pieces of work:  

Research into the factors that influence doctors’ decisions to follow 
guidance and standards and the barriers that prevent registrants from 
raising concerns when patient care or safety may be at risk. This is work 
that has continued from 2011/12  

The strategic work the GMC is considering on the way it uses information 
to determine how and in what areas the GMC develops guidance 

The development of a patient version of GMP and the planned new 
guidance, Good Practice in Prescribing, following the outcome of 
research on prescribing in general practice 

The development of a programme to assist doctors in their treatment of 
older people which will commence in 2014, similar to the online resource 
for the treatment of those with learning disabilities. 

Education and training 
 In our 2011/12 performance review, our view was that the GMC was not yet 12.13

meeting the standard relating to the continuing fitness to practise of 
registrants (through the regulator’s continuing professional 
development/revalidation systems, registrants maintain the standards 
required to stay fit to practise). We find that this standard is met and the GMC 
is therefore now meeting all of the Standards of Good Regulation for 
education and training.   
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We highlight the GMC’s activities in this function in two particular areas:12.14

(i) Continuing fitness to practise 
 The GMC launched revised guidance in June 2012 on continuing 12.15

professional development (CPD) to provide a framework for doctors to 
maintain and improve their practice and which describes how doctors should 
plan, carry out and evaluate their CPD activities. Registrants are required to 
reflect their learning needs based on GMP and consider patients and the 
wider healthcare team when considering their learning needs.  
The GMC’s revalidation scheme launched, for all doctors with a licence to 12.16
practise, on 3 December 2012. Over the following three years the GMC aims 
to have the first revalidation recommendation submitted to the GMC by the 
responsible officer for the majority of doctors.  

 We note that a number of other regulators we oversee have expressed an 12.17
interest in the GMC’s scheme and it may serve as a model for them. We note 
that in readiness for the launch the following steps were completed: 

Information systems and processes were in place to receive 
recommendations from responsible officers and designated bodies and to 
make revalidation decisions 

Processes were tested with key stakeholders to ensure they were simple 
and compatible with local systems 

Guidance for doctors was published, as well as protocols and guidance 
for responsible officers and employers 

Principles were developed and agreed with the UK health departments to 
ensure consistency 

Quality assurance processes and controls were established from the 
outset, including a legal framework, local governance arrangements, 
guidance, training and development of responsible officers and advisory 
services for responsible officers and registrants 

Connections were established with local designated bodies whose role 
will be to monitor and assist registrants with complying with their 
obligations.  

 The new Employer Liaison Service (ELS) was set up to create a stronger 12.18
local GMC presence with employers. The GMC anticipates that the ELS will 
maintain confidence in the GMC’s system of regulation by making it easier to 
share information between the GMC and employers about the (continuing) 
fitness to practise of doctors. The ELS supports the GMC’s scheme by 
ensuring that revalidation schedules are administered, responsible officers 
are supported and employers provide feedback to the GMC about fitness to 
practise issues. 
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 Further developments within this programme of work in 2013, which we will 12.19
follow up on in next year’s performance review, will include:

Finalising a ‘regulatory intelligence model’, including developing a dataset 
for monitoring continuing fitness to practise activity of doctors and 
outcomes  

Establishing a national advisory forum to assess the information received  

Planning to design and commission research into the effectiveness of the 
continuing fitness to practise scheme for doctors  

Working with the wider healthcare community to develop sustainable, 
stable networks of responsible officers following the recent restructuring 
of the NHS in England. 

(ii) The quality assurance of medical education and training 
programmes 

 In the 2011/12 performance review we noted that the GMC had introduced a12.20
team to enhance its ability to respond promptly to concerns about education 
and training providers. The team focuses on specialties where concerns are 
most likely to arise (emergency medicine, obstetrics and gynaecology and 
surgery). This year, the team has been deployed on 10 visits and feedback 
from deaneries has been that the specialist GMC perspective adds weight to 
local processes. The team’s work also enables the GMC to be involved with 
designing solutions and monitoring and the GMC said that it enables better
and timelier assurance that serious issues are being addressed 
appropriately. 
The GMC’s performance against standards in this function has been 12.21
innovative and displayed good practice. We highlight the following activities: 

The establishment of the Health and Disability in Medical Education and 
Training Group in early 2012 to examine the challenges faced by disabled 
students and doctors in medical education and training to determine the 
implications for regulation. The group recommended that there should be
no special categories of registration for disabled students, a review of 
practical procedure requirements for training programmes and the 
inclusion of ‘named experts’ in schools and deaneries responsible for 
ensuring disabled students have access to support and services 

Work with the Medical Schools Council15 to examine how medical schools 
can support students with mental health concerns and the publication of a
risk assessment tool in July 2013 for medical schools to help identify 
problems in support systems for students with mental health concerns 

                                           
15  The Medical Schools Council represents the interests and ambitions of UK medical schools as they 

relate to the generation of national health, wealth and knowledge through biomedical research and the 
profession of medicine. 
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Continuing research on the Working Time Regulations (which set limits on 
the numbers of hours that can be worked in an average working week) to 
examine ways to examine the impact of the Working Time Regulations on 
medical education and training  

The launch of a pilot programme aimed at ensuring doctors new to UK 
practice are properly inducted into UK medical practice, with a particular 
focus on the ethical and professional standards that they will be expected 
to meet. 

In next year’s performance review we will follow up on: 12.22
The outcomes of the implementation of the continuing fitness to practise 
(revalidation) scheme and the revised CPD guidance, including how these 
are ensuring registrants maintain the standards required to stay fit to 
practise 

The evaluation of the impact of the Regional Liaison Service, which is 
aimed at promoting understanding of continuing fitness to practise, 
engaging with medical students on professionalism and broadening the 
GMC’s understanding of patient and public representation in the NHS 

The development of a medical education risk profile to inform future 
quality assurance visits to identify concerns earlier 

The outcome of the review of the quality assurance of medical education 
and training, commenced in 2012 (which will continue in 2013 to draw on 
lessons from the Mid Staffordshire NHS Foundation Trust public inquiry 
report) and the outcome of the complementary review of education and
training standards in 2013 

The outcomes from publishing the risk assessment tool in July 2013 for 
medical schools to help identify problems in support systems for students 
with mental health concerns 

The work to review the impact of Tomorrow’s Doctors (2009), the GMC’s
standards for teaching, learning and assessment for education providers, 
beginning with research which will commence in 2013/14. 

Registration 
 We consider that the GMC continues to meet all the Standards of Good 12.23

Regulation for registration.   
 Examples from 2012/13 of how the GMC is demonstrating that it is meeting 12.24

these standards include:  
The introduction of a Quality Assurance Team aimed at raising 
awareness among operational teams about common types of error, with a 
view to preventing them. System reports alert advisers about minor 
mistakes that are rectified before they impact services and checklists 
provide additional prompts to staff who access applications  
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The temporary registration of over 850 international doctors for the 2012 
Olympic and Paralympic Games. The GMC will use the learning from this 
exercise to inform the way it registers doctors for the 2014 Glasgow 
Commonwealth Games 

The use of audits of registration applications to identify areas for 
improvement and training. Changes have been made to the methods for 
auditing the acceptability of certain types of evidence such as overseas 
postgraduate qualifications and sponsorship agreements for doctors 
gaining GMC registration 

The sharing of data with other stakeholders (such as the NHS) and 
locating registered doctors when returned correspondence indicates the 
doctor may have moved to ensure that the public and employers can trust 
the integrity and accuracy of the register. We find this to be an area of 
good practice.  

In next year’s performance review we will follow up on: 12.25
The changes to regulations (for implementation in 2013/14) that will limit 
the time a doctor can be provisionally registered to no more than three 
years and 30 days. At the moment, there is no legal limit on the length of 
time a doctor can practise while provisionally registered, which has led to 
a number of doctors remaining on provisional registration for excessive 
lengths of time 

The progress of work (commenced in 2011/12) to review the Professional 
and Linguistic Assessments Board (PLAB) test which is one of the means 
by which doctors who qualify outside the European Economic Area 
demonstrate they have the required knowledge and skills to practise in 
the UK 

The outcome of a study by the GMC to assess whether the International 
English Language Testing System offers the appropriate measure of the 
language ability of prospective doctors and whether the current level 
required is appropriate 

The continuing work to review the information that the GMC collects, 
retains and publishes about registered doctors which commenced in 
2011/12. 

Fitness to practise 
 The GMC continues to meet the Standards of Good Regulation for fitness to 12.26

practise. It has maintained an effective, transparent, proportionate and 
secure fitness to practise process and has achieved this against a backdrop 
of rising fitness to practise case volumes.  

 Examples from 2012/13 of how the GMC is demonstrating that it is meeting 12.27
these standards include:  

Launching ‘Your Health Matters’ – an internet resource for doctors in 
fitness to practise proceedings due to health reasons  
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Publishing high level principles (which will apply to the nine health and 
social care professional regulators we oversee) on the power to make a 
referral to the Independent Safeguarding Authority (ISA) or Disclosure 
Scotland. This clarifies that a regulator may not use its powers to make a 
referral where the concerns about an individual relate to their professional 
competence and there are no wider safeguarding concerns which cannot 
be solely mitigated by regulatory action. The GMC has also led 
discussions with the ISA to develop guidance for regulators on the power 
to refer to the vetting and barring scheme. This includes guidance on the 
criteria which should be used to decide whether a referral may be 
appropriate  

Reducing the time for an interim order hearing to be held to 2.3 weeks 
(from the point at which information is received indicating the need for an 
interim order) thereby ensuring that registrants who are not safe to 
practise are prevented from doing so as quickly as possible in the public 
interest 

Identifying learning points from cases that are closed with a finding of ‘no 
case to answer’ and sending these to the registrant. 

 In this reporting year, the GMC has implemented the following two important 12.28
initiatives: 

(i) Medical Practitioners Tribunal Service (MPTS) 
 The MPTS, launched in June 2012, is the part of the GMC that adjudicates 12.29

on cases that proceed to a final fitness to practise hearing or meeting and is 
operationally separate from the GMC’s Investigation Team. It is funded by 
and responsible to the GMC for its efficiency and performance and was 
created to provide an operational separation between the investigation and 
prosecution functions and the adjudication process. The separate 
governance and accountability arrangements are intended to increase public 
and medical confidence in the impartiality of the adjudication process.  

 The MPTS maintains a Quality Assurance Group which monitors MPTS’s12.30
hearing outcomes, identifies continuous improvement and addresses quality 
assurance issues with panels. All Fitness to Practise and Interim Order Panel 
decisions taken in cases where the outcome does not match the outcome the 
GMC asked the Fitness to Practise Committee to impose are reviewed by the 
Quality Assurance Group. 

 The GMC also operates a Decision Review Group to monitor decision 12.31
making throughout all aspects of the fitness to practise work. There is formal 
correspondence between the two groups which allows the case management 
and MPTS teams to raise points with one another about case management 
and adjudication.  

(ii) Employer Liaison Service (ELS) 
 As we note above (see para 12.18), the ELS was set up in January 2012 to 12.32

create a stronger local GMC presence with employers. The GMC anticipates 
that the ELS will maintain confidence in the GMC’s system of regulation by 
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making it easier to share information between the GMC and employers.
Employment Liaison Advisers feed employer perspectives and queries on 
case handling back into GMC procedures and provide feedback to employers 
about fitness to practise processes. It was anticipated that one of the benefits 
of the ELS would be to increase understanding among medical directors 
about when to make a referral. While it is difficult to gauge precise figures, 
the GMC notes that between April and December 2012 there were 138
employer referrals where there had been explicit intervention by an 
Employment Liaison Adviser. 

Supporting parties during the fitness to practise process 
 The GMC has undertaken a number of activities to support participants in the 12.33

fitness to practise process and examples include: 
Extending eligibility for its Witness Support Services programme to all 
witnesses and complainants irrespective of circumstances (except expert 
witnesses)  

Implementing a pilot study to provide access to independent and 
confidential emotional support to registrants from the initiation of fitness to 
practise proceedings to limit the negative impact on some registrants of 
being involved in proceedings 

Developing a protocol for sensitively handling the cases of doctors who 
are perceived to be at risk of self-harm once fitness to practise 
proceedings are brought against them.   

In next year’s performance review we would like to follow up on: 12.34
The evaluation of two separate pilot studies of meetings with doctors and 
complainants. One pilot involved offering meetings to doctors in which 
they were given the opportunity to agree the proposed sanction and avoid 
the need for the hearing to take place; the other pilot involved meetings 
with complainants at the outset and conclusion of a case to ensure the 
complainant’s understanding of the process and outcome

The evaluation of the pilot to provide access to independent and 
confidential emotional support to registrants from the initiation of fitness to 
practise proceedings 

Outcomes following the completion of the complainant experience survey  
in 2013 

Outcomes from the Lean review of the fitness to practise process, 
commenced in 2013, which will be used to review the end-to-end fitness 
to practise process with the aim of streamlining processes and seeking 
efficiencies. ‘Lean’ is a term used to describe a range of process review 
methodologies based on five stages: diagnosis, focus, improve, sustain 
and implementation 

The pilot study of sending registrants copies of complaints closed at initial 
assessment that may have some learning value for a doctor. 
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13. The General Optical Council (GOC)
Overall assessment 

 The GOC continues to perform as an effective regulator and meets all of the 13.1
Standards of Good Regulation.  

 We consider it has demonstrated good practice in relation to its Continuing 13.2
Education and Training (CET) scheme, which will support the GOC with 
obtaining robust evidence to provide assurance about the continuing fitness 
to practise of registrants. 

 In the 2011/12 performance review we found that 10th Standards of Good 13.3
Regulation for fitness to practise (information about fitness to practise cases 
is securely retained) was not met and inconsistent performance was 
demonstrated in relation to the 6th standard (fitness to practise cases are 
dealt with as quickly as possible taking into account the complexity and type 
of case and the conduct of both sides). We note that both these standards 
are now met. 

Guidance and standards 
 We consider that the GOC continues to meet the Standards of Good 13.4

Regulation for guidance and standards. We highlight two areas of the GOC’s 
activities in 2012/13.

(i) Standards framework review project 
 The GOC is undertaking a project to review its processes for setting, 13.5

developing and publishing its standards of competence, conduct and 
performance. The project will ensure the standards are up to date and 
consistent with good practice in order to promote high standards of practice 
in the profession. It is informed by feedback from the GOC’s education and 
fitness to practise teams so that current issues facing registrants, and 
examples of their good practice, are reflected in the revised standards. For 
example, the Investigation Committee (IC) recommended that the Code of 
Conduct for Business Registrants should make explicit reference to 
registrants’ responsibilities for handling fitness to practise complaints about 
registered employees.  

 The GOC has worked with other professional health and social care 13.6
regulators to identify good practice models for standards frameworks and 
documentation. It has used opportunities for collaborative working, 
particularly to explore whether common standards of conduct and ethics are 
achievable. The approach will aid consistency for professionals and the 
public and make accessible standards up to date in terms of both practice 
and legislation. The revised framework will be informed by input from optical 
professionals and the public through the GOC’s two Stakeholder Reference 
Groups. The GOC expects to propose the revised standards framework to its 
Council in November 2013, following consultation in autumn 2012.   
We will follow up on this work and the GOC’s activities to evaluate the 13.7
effectiveness of this project in next year’s performance review. 
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(ii) The provision of advice and guidance 
 The GOC has introduced a Clinical Advisory Panel to support GOC staff with 13.8

responding to enquiries from third parties about standards to improve both 
the speed and quality of response. The GOC intends to gauge the impact of 
this additional resource in 2013, as well as assessing stakeholder 
expectations of its role in providing advice generally.

 The GOC issues an electronic bulletin which has featured articles on issues 13.9
that have previously generated queries about standards and fitness to 
practise complaints. The topics highlighted will be monitored to assess 
whether fitness to practise referrals and enquiries reduce. 

 Guidance has been made available in conjunction with partner organisations 13.10
on areas of confusion for the public; for example a factsheet on the sale and 
supply of low vision aids was produced with the Royal National Institute for 
the Blind and Association of British Dispensing Opticians.   

 In October 2012 the GOC completed work to make its internet site easier to 13.11
use on mobile devices and, since the re-launch, internet traffic to the Codes 
of Conduct has increased significantly. We find this to be an area of good 
practice.  
In next year’s performance review we will follow up on: 13.12

The outcomes following the completion of the standards framework 
review in November 2013 

The outcomes following the GOC’s activities to evaluate the effectiveness 
of the revised standards (particularly in relation to fitness to practise) and 
its role in providing advice and guidance to stakeholders 

The identification of risks to the public of features of optical businesses, 
particularly in light of the research report received in March 2013, to 
inform a review of its current model of optical business regulation. 

Education and training 
The GOC continues to meet all the Standards of Good Regulation for 13.13
education and training. We highlight the GOC’s activities in two particular 
areas. 

(i) Continuing fitness to practise scheme 
We consider that the GOC’s new CET system, introduced on 1 January 2013 13.14
is capable of providing assurance about a registrant’s continuing fitness to 
practise and supports the GOC with meeting the 2nd Standard of Good 
Regulation for education and training (through the regulator’s continuing 
professional development/revalidation systems, registrants maintain the 
standards required to stay fit to practise). It is too soon to judge whether or 
not these ambitions will be achieved.
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 The CET system is proportionate in the breadth and depth of the activities it 13.15
requires registrants to undertake. Within a three-year period registrants are 
required to demonstrate that they have:   

Participated in peer review 

Reflected on their own practice, the practice of other registrants and on
feedback from patients and peers 

Used interactive learning methods with peers and experts in relation to 
half of the required elements 

Completed activities in all the competencies relevant to their professional 
group and scope of practice. 

 The CET record will be monitored and steps taken where necessary to 13.16
ensure each registrant has undertaken learning and development activity 
specific to their scope of practice each year. 
We note the data generated for CET will inform the development of the 13.17
GOC’s education standards and that the new CET IT system will allow the 
GOC to audit 100% of the CET portfolio of activities of all registrants, collect 
information about the quality of education and training provision (which can 
be related to risks in practice) and collect feedback from patients and the
public.
We consider that the use of peer review within the GOC’s continuing fitness 13.18
to practise scheme to be an example of good practice. This mode of learning 
is particularly useful in situations where registrants work alone or with a small 
number of colleagues and can become isolated from the profession. 

(ii) The quality assurance of education programmes 
 The GOC identified from its quality assurance of education providers in 2012 13.19

that assessors required greater clarity regarding the attainment of core 
competencies by students. Guidance and a template record were devised by 
the GOC in July 2012 to provide a robust audit trail of each student’s 
competence assessment compiled by the provider identifying how, when and 
by whom assessments were conducted. This record will be maintained 
irrespective of which qualifications an individual has studied for and will be 
audited by the awarding body prior to issuing professional qualifications.

 The GOC has developed case studies from fitness to practise cases and 13.20
registration declarations for use in the ‘professional conduct’ module of 
undergraduate training programmes and introduced compulsory discussion 
about the Codes of Conduct and Competency Framework with students 
during quality assurance visits for education providers. We find this to be 
good practice because it supports students’ understanding of the importance 
and practical application of professional standards. 



57

 The use of case studies has also informed the peer review activities for 13.21
registrants in the CET scheme. This approach directly links education and 
training requirements with the standards required of registrants and supports 
the GOC with meeting the 1st Standard of Good Regulation for education 
and training (standards for education and training are linked to standards for 
registrants).

In next year’s performance review we will follow up on:13.22
The outcomes of the GOC’s continuing fitness to practise scheme, 
particularly related to registrants’ compliance with the requirements of the 
first year of the CET scheme and the GOC’s assessment of the scheme’s 
effectiveness  

The challenges of sharing data with other organisations involved in, and
publishing reports of, visits to education providers conducted jointly (in 
whole or in part) with other agencies 

The outcomes from the review of the effectiveness of the use of dedicated 
visit panels which are tailored for each of the five types of quality 
assurance visits that are conducted of education providers. This will be 
conducted in March 2014. 

Registration 
 The GOC meets all of the Standards of Good Regulation for registration. The 13.23

following examples show how it has achieved this in this year’s performance 
review:   

All registrant groups are now able to complete their retention online from 
January 2012. We agree with the GOC that this facility enables 
improvement in the efficiency of the retention process and the accuracy of 
the online public register 

In order to be able to identify GOC-registered professionals working in or 
contracted by the NHS, the GOC was working on utilising a unique 
identifier with the body responsible for IT infrastructure in the NHS 
Connecting for Health.16 This improves transparency in the registration 
process and the accessibility of information to relevant parties 

The GOC consulted in July 2012 on the draft guidance for registrants 
setting out how its registrar will decide on the action to take in response to 
declarations about ill health. This aims to help applicants to join and be 
retained on the register and to understand their responsibilities in relation 
to declarations, as well as the way in which the GOC will deal with those 
declarations. 

Unregistered practice 
 The GOC has increased resourcing in its Illegal Practice Unit to meet the 13.24

demands of increased illegal practice, such as unlawful sight tests and fitting 
of contact lenses, unlawful supply of spectacles, prescription and zero-

                                           
16  From April 2013 this role has moved to the Health and Social Care Information Centre. 
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powered contact lenses and the misuse of a protected title. Activity in relation 
to the sale of zero-powered contact lenses accounts for over 70% of the 
GOC caseload. 
The GOC has successfully used its ‘cease and desist’ action to curtail illegal 13.25
activity where it suspects unregistered practice has occurred. We also note 
that the GOC has commissioned research, with a report due in April 2013, 
into the risks to the public of different types of practice, both legal and illegal. 
This will inform the subsequent development of a strategy. 

 In next year’s performance review we will follow up on:13.26
The implementation of an independent quality assurance monitoring 
process in the registration directorate and the impact this has had on 
improving processing times 

Plans to introduce a monitoring process linked to the delivery of its 
customer relationship management (CRM) database. We note that the 
new CRM system was originally scheduled to be fully operational in 2012 
but is unlikely to be in use before the end of 2013  

A revised strategy to tackle illegal practice, including any prosecutions 

The outcomes of the research conducted into business regulation, from 
which a report was produced in March 2013, and the outcomes of the 
research into student regulation, which will include reviewing alternative 
systems and stakeholder feedback. We note that this work was 
commenced in 2011/12 and has been delayed 

The outcomes of a pilot study into sharing indemnity insurance data to be 
undertaken from April 2013. 

Fitness to practise 
 The GOC has demonstrated that it meets all the Standards of Good 13.27

Regulation for fitness to practise.   
 Examples of ways that the GOC has achieved this include: 13.28

Obtaining expert input from the charity Victim Support to supplement its 
established witness support programme and using this to develop a more 
personalised and responsive programme 

Improving the fitness to practise area of its website to make it more user-
friendly and provide direct contact details for the fitness to practise team 

Revising template letters to remind registrants of the need to inform 
primary care trusts and clinical commissioning groups about the 
investigation. 

 We note that the average number of days taken to hear a case has increased 13.29
from 1.3 to 2.7 days. The GOC has tried to analyse why hearings are taking 
longer. It has found that expert witnesses are being used more often and that 
cases are therefore becoming more complex leading to longer hearings. It 
has therefore begun to facilitate meetings at which experts can identify and 
narrow the areas on which they disagree, which serves to focus expert 
evidence given at hearings.  
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 In the 2011/12 performance review we concluded that there was inconsistent 13.30
performance in meeting the 6th Standard of Good Regulation and the 10th
standard was not met. We provide more information about how the GOC has 
improved its performance against these standards below.  

Fitness to practise cases are dealt with as quickly as possible taking 
into account the complexity and type of case and the conduct of both 
sides (6th standard) 

 We were concerned in the 2011/12 performance review about the time taken 13.31
from the final Investigation Committee (IC) decision to the final fitness to 
practise hearing decision. The GOC took action to address our concerns by 
making further hearing days available in 2012/13 and using external venues 
where required which has included utilising those run by other regulators. It 
has also made staff resource available to support the increased activity. 
However, we note that the median time taken from the final IC decision to the 
final fitness to practise hearing decision has increased by 12 weeks (from 54 
weeks in 2011/12 to 66 weeks in 2012/13).17

 We note that in 2012/13 the median time taken for cases to progress from 13.32
initial receipt to the final IC decision has been maintained at 26 weeks,
despite an increase in the numbers of referrals and a 20% increase in cases 
considered or concluded by the IC. This is positive and we note that further 
hearing days will be made available from April 2013 which the GOC 
anticipates will make further improvements. We will follow this up in next 
year’s performance review. 

 We also note a substantial reduction in the length of time taken from the 13.33
receipt of a complaint to the interim order decision (from 12 weeks in 2012/13 
compared with 37.5 weeks in 2011/12). This was achieved by making more 
hearing days available and improves the GOC’s ability to protect the public. 
While this is positive, the length of the GOC’s end-to-end fitness to practise 13.34
process has increased as follows:

The shortest length of time taken to conclude a case increased by 14 
weeks (from 30 weeks in 2011/12 to 44 weeks in 2012/13)  

The longest length of time taken to conclude a case increased by 32 
weeks (from 152 weeks in 2011/12 to 184 weeks in 2012/13). 

 We note that the GOC is exploring further ways in which it can improve its 13.35
performance against this standard. We find this standard is currently met, 
notwithstanding that there are some weaknesses in performance. We will 
examine the timescales for the GOC’s fitness to practise process closely in 
next year’s performance review.

                                           
17  The GOC has changed the way it measures performance for IC and fitness to practise cases. The 

figures presented here for 2011/12 have been newly provided by the GOC in April 2013 for the 
purposes of comparison in this year’s performance review.
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Information about fitness to practise cases is securely retained (10th
standard) 

 We found that this standard was not met in the 2011/12 performance review 13.36
because of a number of information breaches at the adjudication stage of the 
fitness to practise process. In response to the concerns we raised about the 
security of its data and information governance, the GOC’s registrar issued 
guidance to all staff, the Council and panellists. External experts have been 
engaged to develop a comprehensive strategy to devise and embed 
appropriate robust processes; the processes should be ready for testing by 
April 2013. This project will include the development of policies, in relation to 
data protection, access to information and records management and 
retention. These will be underpinned by changes to processes in ICT and 
operational areas, by the identification of staff responsibilities, by improving 
the risk register, improving business continuity plans and training for all staff, 
Council members and panellists who handle data. The project will deliver a 
framework to provide for the review and audit of the system.   

 Based on this comprehensive strategy we find that this standard is currently 13.37
met. We will follow up on the implementation of this strategy in next year’s 
performance review and expect to see that the GOC is continuing to meet its 
responsibilities for information governance.  

 In next year’s performance review we will follow up on: 13.38
The implementation of the CRM system at the end of 2013, along with the 
introduction of internal quality assurance systems and planned review of 
its end-to-end processes in the fitness to practise function  

The outcomes of planned improvements to its work to support witnesses 
including introducing tailored guidance for witnesses and a feedback 
mechanism  

The implementation of its strategy for information governance. 
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14. The General Osteopathic Council (GOsC)
Overall assessment 

 The GOsC has maintained its effectiveness as a regulator and is meeting all 14.1
the Standards of Good Regulation across its regulatory functions.  

 We note that the GOsC has evaluated our previous performance review 14.2
reports to identify learning from the activities of other regulators and best 
practice. It used this to identify new areas of work in its corporate plan for 
2013 – 2016. We anticipate that this will lead to improvement and we will 
follow up on this in next year's performance review.  

Guidance and standards 
 The GOsC continues to meet the Standards of Good Regulation for guidance 14.3

and standards.  
 The GOsC has achieved this in 2012/13 in the following ways: 14.4

The GOsC has conducted activities to raise awareness about its new 
Osteopathic Practice Standards (OPS) which came into effect from 1 
September 2012. In April 2012 the GOsC tested awareness of the new 
OPS (published in September 2011) through its registrant opinion survey 
and results indicated that 72% of respondents said they were aware of 
the new OPS. The GOsC continued with awareness raising activities until 
September 2012 when the standards came into effect. The GOsC is 
working to evaluate the effectiveness of its work in this area. We consider 
this to be an example of good practice

The GOsC has set up a Patient and Public Partnership Group to provide 
patient and public perspectives about standards and guidance and assist 
in the development of communication materials. The group has helped 
develop new public information leaflets and has fed back on draft 
guidance on consent. This is an improvement which should help ensure 
stakeholder involvement in the GOsC’s development of guidance and 
standards

Following consultation in 2012, the GOsC formed a steering group (with 
professional, educational and osteopathic research bodies in the UK) to
promote professional standards and values across the profession. The 
GOsC is adopting a facilitating role in the group. This approach aims to 
provide support for the future development of the osteopathic profession 
by those organisations best placed to do so 

The GOsC has worked with the National Council for Osteopathic 
Research and the British Osteopathic Association (BOA) to establish a 
repository of information about risks in osteopathic care. The GOsC 
intends for this to be used to inform the development of additional 
guidance and standards 
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In 2009 the GOsC commissioned a number of research projects exploring 
adverse events associated with osteopathy to improve understanding of 
these risks. The GOsC published the final research findings in August 
2012 and these have contributed to the GOsC’s review of its guidance on 
consent and revised public and practitioner information  

The GOsC has adopted a common system of classification for claims and 
complaints about osteopaths made to the regulator, the BOA and the 
professional indemnity insurance providers from January 2013 to identify 
trends.  

In next year’s performance review we will follow up on:14.5
Progress with the GOsC’s research into the effectiveness of osteopathic 
regulation and how this can help to ensure registrants meet and maintain 
standards 

Any early outcomes from the analysis of the data from the common 
system for categorising complaints about osteopaths (which the GOsC 
aims to complete by April 2014) with a view to developing standards and 
guidance to address weak areas of osteopathic practice  

Progress with the GOsC’s collaborative work with professional, 
educational and osteopathic research bodies in the UK on the future 
development of the osteopathic profession. 

Education and training 
 The GOsC meets all the Standards of Good Regulation for education and 14.6

training.   

Guidance on osteopathic pre-registration education 
 In August 2012, the GOsC published Preparedness to Practise, the findings 14.7

of research commissioned by the GOsC to help it to identify whether further 
support is required to help students make the transition to being a 
practitioner. The research found that new graduates are safe to start 
practising independently after graduation and they are familiar with the 
current standards. However, it also identified areas that could benefit from 
further education and training or other support (such as clinical and 
communication skills).  

Continuing fitness to practise  
 In September 2012 the GOsC successfully concluded a 12-month pilot study 14.8

for its proposed continuing fitness to practise scheme, which had involved 
5% of all registered osteopaths. The proposed scheme had four stages and 
the pilot study was limited to the first of these stages: self-assessment. The 
other three stages involve clarification, peer review and a formal assessment 
of clinical performance. Registrants are only required to proceed to the next 
stage when responses at the earlier stage are unsatisfactory. The registrant 
can be directed to undertake remedial activities at any stage of the process, 
and a referral can be made using the GOsC’s fitness to practise procedures if 
significant concerns arise.  
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 The aim of the pilot was to explore how osteopaths can best demonstrate 14.9
that they continue to be fit to practise, given that they are often self-employed 
and/or work alone which can limit their opportunities for peer review or 
evaluation from colleagues. The pilot used tools such as clinical audit, patient 
feedback and structured reflection to support osteopaths to demonstrate their 
continuing fitness to practise.  

 We note that an independent evaluation of the pilot found that 75% of 14.10
participants reported that they reflected more on their clinical practice and 
40% reported that their participation benefitted patients. We were pleased to 
note that many participants said they would continue to use pilot tools such 
as patient feedback and peer review to develop their practice in future, and 
that taking part in the pilot had enabled them to document their practice 
better. Some registrants perceived the scheme to be complex and 
administratively burdensome, and the GOsC is considering how to develop 
the scheme while addressing these issues. We acknowledge the work 
involved in the pilot. We note the GOsC’s commitment to considering our 
paper on continuing fitness to practise18 in developing its scheme and note it 
will approve a scheme design for further consultation in 2013/14. 
In next year’s performance review, we will follow up on the following: 14.11

The development of guidance on osteopathic pre-registration education to 
ensure learning outcomes are aligned with the new OPS, which is being 
undertaken by the GOsC’s Osteopathic Pre-registration Working Group
(comprising education providers, patients and students)  

The design for a scheme of continuing fitness to practise which combines 
the outcomes of the revalidation pilot and the CPD consultation, due to be 
consulted on at the end of 2013 

The outcomes from the development of ‘professionalism in osteopathy’
tools which are web-based inventories that pose ethical scenarios for 
student participants and elicit their views on the seriousness of the ethical 
case posed and what action they would take in certain situations (such as 
breaches of patient confidentiality). The student is able to compare their 
responses to those of other participants so that they can evaluate where 
their view fits within their student cohort. 

Registration 
 We consider that the GOsC continues to meet the Standards of Good 14.12

Regulation for registration.  
 We note that the GOsC completed a review of the appearance and 14.13

functionality of the online register. Additional information was made available 
on the register in 2012/13. Information about a registrant’s gender and the full 
date of registration is available and the register can be searched by 

                                           
18  CHRE, 2012. An Approach to Assuring Continuing Fitness to Practise Based on Right-Touch 

Regulation Principles. London: CHRE. Available at: 
http://www.professionalstandards.org.uk/docs/psa-library/november-2012---right-touch-continuing-
fitness-to-practise.pdf
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registration number. These improvements should make it easier for the public 
and employers to access information about registrants. 

 In the GOsC’s 2012 survey of registrants the GOsC queried the attitudes and 14.14
responses to unregistered practice. The survey found that 96% of osteopaths 
would take action if they knew of an unregistered person claiming to be an 
osteopath and 84% of these respondents would contact the GOsC. Some of 
these respondents said they would also talk to the person directly about the
issue or spread the word locally and others would refer the matter to 
professional bodies, the police and their local trading standards organisation. 
Based on this, the GOsC wants to clarify to its registrants that the purpose of 
regulatory action by the GOsC is patient protection rather than safeguarding 
the market. The GOsC has added to its website more information regarding 
the risks to patients of being treated by an individual who is not registered by 
the GOsC.  

 The GOsC is reviewing its process for registration appeals. The GOsC 14.15
received feedback on procedures from Council members involved in the two 
most recent appeals to inform improvements to the procedures. The GOsC 
will introduce the new procedure in 2013. The GOsC has not reviewed its 
approach to registration appeals since 1998. We note that appeal numbers 
are low (there was only one in 2012/13); nonetheless, it is important that 
procedures reflect operational reality and reviewing procedures at regular 
intervals ensures they remain accurate and aligned with overall business 
systems. We therefore recommend that a shorter timeframe is agreed for 
future reviews of the procedure.  

 The GOsC used to have a policy of listing certain osteopaths on its register 14.16
as non-practising while in limited circumstances they may have been taking 
clinical responsibility for patients. In October 2012, the GOsC’s Council 
reconsidered its position and removed this anomaly to ensure that any 
osteopath listed as non-practising must in no circumstances be taking clinical 
responsibility for patients. The GOsC has written to the small number of 
osteopaths affected to explain the position. It has also updated publicly 
available information to communicate this to registrants and patients.  
In next year’s performance review, we will follow up on:  14.17

Any outcomes of the work to design and conduct a public survey to test 
the usability and accessibility of the online register, with the aim of 
identifying where improvements may  be needed 

The outcomes of the work on illegal practice including ensuring that those 
reporting concerns about unregistered individuals practising osteopathy 
are informed about the regulatory action taken, the GOsC’s development 
of guidance and its work to link register searches to advice about the 
appropriate action to take in the event of discovering an unregistered 
practitioner. 

Fitness to practise 
 The GOsC has demonstrated that it continues to meet the Standards of 14.18

Good Regulation for fitness to practise.  



65

 Examples of how the GOsC has achieved this are set out below:  14.19
Agreeing a policy in December 2012 that convictions or cautions involving 
drugs or alcohol will be investigated as evidence of a possible underlying 
health problem. We note that other regulators who have adopted a similar 
approach have found it useful in identifying health and performance 
concerns which might not otherwise be apparent  

Conducting a hearings management audit considered by the GOsC’s 
Audit Committee in November 2012 which concluded that hearings were 
conducted appropriately, were well managed by chairs and 
determinations were well set out and reasoned  

Developing new guidance to assist the Professional Conduct Committee 
(PCC) when it is considering the imposition of conditions of practice 
orders. This was the subject of a consultation which closed in May 2013. 

 We note that the GOsC closed a consultation in May 2013 on its revised 14.20
Indicative Sanctions Guidance (ISG) which sets out guidance to the PCC 
when considering the appropriate sanction to impose. We note that before 
the Fitness to Practise Policy Committee’s review of this guidance in 2012 
the ISG had not been reviewed since November 2007. We therefore reiterate 
our recommendation (see para 14.15) that a shorter timeframe is agreed for 
future reviews. 

Re-introduction of Rule 8 of the GOsC’s Professional Conduct 
Committee (Procedure) Rules 2000 

 Rule 8 allows certain cases which have been referred by the Investigating 14.21
Committee (IC) to the PCC to be disposed of without a hearing. Rule 8 may 
be used where the registrant admits all allegations, the registrant accepts 
that the allegations amount to unacceptable professional conduct and the 
PCC concludes admonishment is the appropriate sanction. Rule 8 only 
operates in the time between a referral from the IC and the hearing of the 
PCC. The GOsC has not exercised its discretionary powers under Rule 8 
since 2003. 
Our response to the GOsC’s targeted consultation in August 2012 asked the 14.22
GOsC to consider how such cases would be included on the public register, 
whether there was provision for quality assurance of these types of 
decisions, particularly to ensure consistency and what approach would be 
taken if a complainant objected to the GOsC dealing with a case under Rule 
8, which could impact on confidence in the GOsC’s system of regulation. We 
also recommended that the GOsC consulted more formally and widely 
particularly because most complaints come from members of the public so, in 
our view, their opinions should be considered. 

 We are pleased that the GOsC concluded that wider public consultation 14.23
would be appropriate before any decision to re-introduce Rule 8. This 
consultation concluded on 31 January 2013. Despite efforts to engage 
patient groups, the GOsC noted that responses were almost exclusively from 
osteopaths who favoured the re-introduction of Rule 8. In March 2013 the 
GOsC therefore recommended to its Council that Rule 8 be re-introduced. 
We will follow up on this in next year’s performance review and we will also 
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review decisions made using Rule 8 using our powers under Section 29 of 
the NHS Reform and Health Care Professions Act 2002. 
In next year’s performance review we will follow up on:14.24

The changes made as a result of the public consultation on the revised 
ISG and guidance for the PCC on conditions of practice orders  

The outcomes from the decision of the GOsC’s Council that Rule 8 of the 
GOsC’s Professional Conduct Committee (Procedure) Rules 2000 is re-
introduced 

The plans to improve registrants’ understanding of and confidence in the 
fitness to practise process, share learning from the fitness to practise 
process with registrants and set out the regulatory role of the GOsC 
related to providing assurance about the fitness to practise of osteopaths, 
in light of the GOsC’s analysis of the 2012 survey of osteopaths.
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15. The General Pharmaceutical Council 
(GPhC)
Overall assessment 

 The GPhC meets all but one of the Standards of Good Regulation. We are 15.1
not able to confirm whether the GPhC meets the 10th Standard of Good 
Regulation for fitness to practise (information about fitness to practise cases 
is securely retained) as we are waiting for a ruling from the Information 
Commissioner’s Office about a data breach incident that occurred in 2012/13. 

 We noted in the 2011/12 performance review that the GPhC was 15.2
inconsistently meeting the 2nd and 3rd Standards of Good Regulation for 
registration due to the accuracy of registration applications for pharmacy 
technicians, the time taken to process these applications as well as the 
accuracy of the online register. We also found that the 6th Standard of Good 
Regulation for fitness to practise (fitness to practise cases are dealt with as 
quickly as possible taking into account the complexity and type of case and 
the conduct of both sides …) was not met. We are pleased to report that the 
GPhC has taken steps to address the concerns we highlighted in the 2011/12 
performance review.  
We commend the GPhC’s development of new, outcomes-focused 15.3
Standards for Registered Pharmacies as good practice which emphasises 
the responsibilities of pharmacy owners and superintendent pharmacists to 
ensure compliance. 

Guidance and standards 
 We consider that the GPhC has continued to meet all the Standards of Good 15.4

Regulation for guidance, as demonstrated by the examples below.  

Standards for Registered Pharmacies 
The GPhC’s new standards, entitled Standards for Registered Pharmacies,15.5
were launched in September 2012 after consultation with stakeholders 
including groups representing patients, registrants, pharmacy owners and 
primary care commissioning organisations across England, Scotland and 
Wales. The standards are distinct from those that apply to registered 
pharmacy professionals and will refer to the GPhC’s new enforcement 
powers to issue improvement notices, to impose conditions or, in serious 
cases of non-compliance, to close pharmacies.  

 Responsibility for compliance rests with pharmacy owners and 15.6
superintendent pharmacists whose decisions have a powerful impact on 
patient safety and service delivery and quality. We note the GPhC will not 
have full enforcement powers until Parliament has approved the new 
standards as Rules. The consultation and Parliamentary approval necessary 
for the standards to be adopted as Rules is unlikely to happen before 
October 2013. However, during 2013 the GPhC plans to develop a new 
framework for inspections to determine if the new standards are being met. 
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 The new standards are compliant with the principles of right-touch regulation, 15.7
in particular their focus on outcomes rather than processes. We commend 
the GPhC for its development and implementation of these standards which 
we consider to be good practice. 

Encouraging public and patient participation  
 Prior to the consultation on the Standards for Registered Pharmacies, the 15.8

GPhC held four patient and public workshops and devised a consultation 
toolkit which included a short guide to consultation best practice and was 
circulated to 35 organisations representing patients and the public across 
Great Britain. The toolkit was aimed at encouraging stakeholders to 
communicate their views and demonstrate the GPhC’s commitment to 
carrying out engagement activities. Early stakeholder engagement helps to 
ensure that patient and public perspectives inform the GPhC’s development 
of standards and guidance and we find this to be an area of good practice.  
In next year’s performance review we will follow up on:15.9

The impact of stakeholder engagement activities on developing a new 
approach to inspections 

The additional guidance planned on the provision of internet pharmacy 
services, the preparation of unlicensed medicines and the supply of 
Pharmacy only (P) medicines (as opposed to medicines that are available 
for purchase by the public over the counter) 

The outcomes of the stakeholder survey in 2013 to test awareness and 
perceptions of the GPhC’s core outputs, including standards and 
guidance.

Education and training 
 The GPhC meets all the Standards of Good Regulation for education and 15.10

training. The GPhC has carried out a number of activities to develop its 
performance in this function, details of which are set out below.   

 During 2012/13 the Pharmaceutical Society of Northern Ireland (PSNI) 15.11
adopted the GPhC’s Future Pharmacists: Standards for the initial education 
and training of pharmacists in Great Britain and agreed a joint accreditation 
process for master’s degree programmes with the GPhC, to include a six-
year accreditation cycle and three yearly practice placement reviews. This 
joint working between the two regulators for pharmacy in the UK should 
enhance public protection and public confidence by ensuring that standards 
for pharmacy education and training continue to be consistently applied 
throughout the UK. 

Outcome-focused standards  
 The GPhC has made an initial evaluation of the impact of Future 15.12

Pharmacists: Standards for the initial education and training of pharmacists,
which it introduced in 2011. Feedback from one education provider was that 
the clarity of the standards and the framework they provided helped it to 
design a course focused on ensuring students can deliver safe and 
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successful patient care, as well as displaying the necessary competence 
levels in traditional science-based skills such as pharmaceutical chemistry 
and pharmaceutics. This is good practice and an illustration of how 
outcomes-focused standards can help to ensure that education provision 
remains current and relevant to patient needs.

Continuing fitness to practise
In 2012 the GPhC’s Council agreed that the general principles for the 15.13
continuing fitness to practise scheme that is introduced must be consistent 
with those previously identified by the Department of Health’s Non-Medical 
Revalidation Working Group.19 The Council concluded that the scheme 
should: 

Focus on providing assurance about continuing fitness to practise rather 
than on a fixed point assessment 

Consider more than one source of information 

Assess against a standard based on the GPhC’s Standards of Conduct, 
Ethics and Performance ’that apply to all registrants 

Take full account of the structure of the pharmacy workforce 

Be appropriately costed and subject to testing, including piloting. 
 Following a stakeholder workshop in July 2012 and Council discussions in 15.14

December 2012, the GPhC identified further themes for development of a 
model. These included clarifying roles and responsibilities and providing 
guidance on how the Standards of Conduct, Ethics and Performance should 
be used in evaluation. We hope the GPhC also finds the Authority’s paper20

on continuing fitness to practise helpful in the development of its thinking. 
The GPhC aims to agree a model by 2015 and we will follow up on the 
GPhC’s activities to prepare for this in next year’s performance review. 

Quality assurance of education programmes  
 In November 2012 the GPhC published procedures with the Pharmaceutical 15.15

Society of Northern Ireland (PSNI) for the mutual recognition of initial 
education and training. This means that both the GPhC and the PSNI will 
recognise the other’s pre-registration training and master’s degrees, although 
the registrant must complete their training and registration assessment in one 
jurisdiction to be eligible for recognition by the other. This is an improvement 
as it should help to maintain consistency with the standards required for 
registration as a pharmacist throughout the UK.

                                           
19  The Department of Health Non-Medical Revalidation Working Group was established to take forward 

the recommendations in the 2007 White Paper Trust, Assurance and Safety. The working group 
produced a report defining revalidation and setting out principles to guide the development of 
revalidation. 

20  CHRE, 2012. An Approach to Assuring Continuing Fitness to Practise Based on Right-Touch 
Regulation Principles. London: CHRE. Available at: 
http://www.professionalstandards.org.uk/docs/psa-library/november-2012---right-touch-continuing-
fitness-to-practise.pdf
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 The GPhC has introduced competency-based recruitment procedures for its 15.16
education accreditors who carry out the quality assurance of education 
programmes. It has also specifically recruited newly graduated registrants to 
these roles, following its review of a similar initiative carried out by the 
General Medical Council.  
In next year’s performance review we will follow up on: 15.17

The outcomes of the GPhC’s evaluation of the impact of continuing 
professional development (CPD) rule changes introduced in July 2011. 
From July 2012 the GPhC began carrying out checks to ensure that the 
CPD entered was relevant to the scope of the registrant’s practice and 
relevant to the provision of safe and effective patient care. Under this new 
framework the GPhC has the power to remove registrants from the 
register for non-compliance with CPD requirements  

The progress of the work to agree the GPhC’s scheme for continuing 
fitness to practise in 2015. 

Registration 
 We find that the GPhC meets all of the Standards of Good Regulation for 15.18

registration. We note the following activities in 2012/13:  
From 26 September 2012, pharmacy professionals returning to the GPhC 
register after more than a year’s absence need to provide a portfolio of 
evidence that maps their current competence against the GPhC’s core 
Standards of Conduct, Ethics and Performance. After evaluation, the 
registrar decides whether registration should be granted. This is an 
improvement as it helps the GPhC to ensure that only those registrants 
with the necessary skills, knowledge and competences are registered

The GPhC has successfully prosecuted two cases of unregistered 
practice. In one case the pharmacist practised while suspended, and in 
the other case an individual practised after they had been erased from the 
register. The GPhC now requires applicants who are seeking restoration 
to the register to complete an additional declaration that they have not 
worked as a pharmacist or pharmacy technician in Great Britain while 
unregistered other than on occasions known and investigated by the 
GPhC 

The registration process now includes checking mechanisms to help 
ensure the accuracy of the process for approving registration applications. 

In the 2011/12 performance review we raised concerns about the GPhC’s 15.19
inconsistent compliance with the 2nd and 3rd Standards of Good Regulation 
for registration. We provide an update about the GPhC’s performance 
against these two standards below.   
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The registration process including the management of appeals is fair, 
based on the regulators’ standards, efficient, transparent, secure and
continuously improving (2nd standard) 
We welcome the GPhC’s decision to remove the previous requirement for 15.20
European-qualified applicants to the GPhC register to submit health/medical 
declarations. European-qualified applicants now only need to make a self-
declaration, which brings them into line with the process that applies to UK 
applicants. We view this as a proportionate and right-touch approach which 
promotes fairness and equal opportunities. 

 In the 2011/12 performance review we recommended that the GPhC review 15.21
its handling of the processing of registration applications, and raised 
concerns about difficulties it experienced with timely processing of 
applications from pharmacy technicians. We noted that approximately 33% of 
grandparenting applications21 and 40% of other pharmacy technician 
applications contained errors and considered that any reduction in errors 
would have a positive impact on the time taken to process applications. The 
GPhC has revised the application form and guidance notes and subsequently 
reported improvements in the quality of pharmacy technician applications, as 
in 2012/13 approximately 20% of applications needed further evidence or 
information before an assessment could be completed. It also found that the 
management and processing of applications has become less 
administratively onerous. Based on this improvement we now find that this 
standard is met.  

Accuracy of the online register 
 As part of our performance review of the regulators, we conduct an accuracy 15.22

check of the regulators’ registers and this helps us assess compliance with 
the 3rd standard (through the regulators’ registers, everyone can easily 
access information about registrants). Incorrect or outdated entries have 
obvious implications for public protection and cast doubt on the integrity of a 
register.  

 In the 2011/12 performance review we noted that one entry did not attach the 15.23
relevant fitness to practise determination as per the GPhC’s policy. The 
GPhC took steps to address this and ensure it would not be repeated. We 
are pleased to report that in this year’s register check no errors were found. 
Based on this we find that the 3rd standard is now met. 
In next year’s performance review we will expect to see evidence that the 15.24
GPhC is maintaining its performance and continuing to meet the Standards 
of Good Regulation for registration. 

                                           
21  Whenever a new profession becomes regulated, and titles are protected, there is a ‘grandparenting’ 

period. The grandparenting period allows people who have previously been practising the profession, 
but who do not hold an approved qualification to become registered if they can demonstrate they meet 
certain criteria. 
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Fitness to practise 
 The GPhC is meeting nine of the Standards of Good Regulation for fitness to 15.25

practise. We are not able to confirm whether the GPhC meets the 10th
Standard of Good Regulation for fitness to practise (information about fitness 
to practise cases is securely retained) as we are waiting for a ruling from the 
Information Commissioner’s Office about a data breach incident that 
occurred in 2012/13.  

 The GPhC has undertaken a number of activities to meet the standards, 15.26
which we highlight below: 

Providing a bulletin to Statutory Committee members to update them on 
relevant matters between training sessions from September 2012 

Introducing routine quality checks at each stage of the investigation and 
case management process from January 2013 

Conducting monthly reviews of the outcomes of all Investigation 
Committee and Fitness to Practise Committee cases and issuing learning 
points to inform internal training. Further bespoke training was designed 
as a result of reviews of transcripts of Interim Order Panel hearings and
panel members are not permitted to sit on Interim Order Panel hearings 
unless they have completed the training  

Introducing a ‘Quality Circle’ for staff across the teams to ensure staff 
views about improvement and innovation are captured and acted upon. 
Broader themes are communicated to practitioners through newsletters 
and the GPhC website 

Implementing an accountability framework in January 2013 setting out the 
levels and types of management and statutory authority delegated to staff 
across the organisation. Quality assurance checks of delegated decision 
making have been built in to the process to ensure decisions are taken at 
the proper level 

Producing a staff guidance document on letter writing and updating staff 
guidance on the use of voluntary undertakings in health cases where 
misconduct is linked to a registrant’s adverse health. 

Fitness to practise cases are dealt with as quickly as possible taking 
into account the complexity and type of case and the conduct of both 
sides. Delays do not result in harm or potential harm to patients or 
service users. Where necessary the regulator protects the public by 
means of interim orders (6th standard) 

 In the 2011/12 performance review we found that this standard was not met 15.27
due to the timeliness of case progression. In the 2011/12 performance review 
we noted that the GPhC aimed to conclude all cases that were transferred 
from the Royal Pharmaceutical Society of Great Britain (RPSGB)22 by 
September 2012. We note that the GPhC has not achieved this. However, by 

                                           
22  589 fitness to practise cases were transferred from the RPSGB when the GPhC took over 

responsibility for the regulation of the pharmacy professions and pharmacy in September 2010. 
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March 2013, only 11 cases remained open and we will follow up on this in 
next year’s performance review. 

 In the 2011/12 performance review we noted that no stage specific 15.28
performance measures were in place to enable the GPhC to evaluate how 
quickly cases were progressing through the fitness to practise process. 
Instead, the GPhC measured the ‘end to end’ performance and had a 
general service standard that all cases should conclude within 12 to 15
months. In our view, the absence of stage-specific measures limits the 
GPhC’s ability to adequately demonstrate to its Council and other 
stakeholders that timeliness issues are being properly addressed. Similarly, 
there is unlikely to be sufficient management information available to help 
identify and address any issues in parts of the fitness to practise process that 
might be particularly problematic. It is essential to manage workflow evenly, 
because delays in one part of the process that cause backlogs will stress the 
system unless relieved quickly. 

 We note that the GPhC has taken a number of positive steps to address our 15.29
concerns, including:  

Monthly case conference meetings with all investigations staff 

Team-specific case progression meetings, at which all cases over target 
timeframes are reviewed to identify and resolve case progression issues

The introduction of new investigations and case management procedures 
with key performance indicators for the completion of key case 
management tasks which are reviewed at a team level 

Reviewing data about fitness to practise cases which is supplied as part 
of the operational and financial performance monitoring reporting to 
Council.

 Our audit of the cases closed at the initial stages of the GPhC’s fitness to 15.30
practise process23 in 2012 concluded that the majority of cases we audited 
met the GPhC’s key performance indicators for closure. We also noted 
particular good practice as 21 cases (out of the 100 cases we audited) were 
closed well within the GPhC’s targets for doing so. This demonstrated that 
the new processes introduced in May 2012 with the intention of improving 
timeliness were effective. All of the delays we found in our audit related to 
cases closed prior to the new processes being introduced.  

 Based on these improvements we now find that this standard is met.  15.31

Information about fitness to practise cases is securely retained (10th 
standard) 

 We note a data security breach occurred in February 2013 when the GPhC 15.32
inadvertently included the address of a witness in the bundle sent to the 
registrant in advance of an interim order hearing. In this case there was 

                                           
23  CHRE, 2012. Audit of the General Pharmaceutical Council’s Initial Stages Fitness to Practise Process.

London: CHRE. Available at: http://www.professionalstandards.org.uk/docs/audit-reports/gphc-ftp-
audit-report-2012.pdf?sfvrsn=0
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potential for substantial distress to be caused and actual harm to the witness. 
The GPhC reported the matter to the Information Commissioner’s Office and 
commissioned an external audit to determine what steps needed to be taken 
to prevent this occurring again. We note that the GPhC has policies in place 
related to disclosure of information and staff have been trained on them. The 
GPhC is waiting for a ruling from the Information Commissioner’s Office 
about this incident and we are therefore not able to confirm if the GPhC has 
met this standard. We will follow up on the actions that the GPhC has taken 
in relation to this incident in next year’s performance review. 
In next year’s performance review we will follow up on: 15.33

The outcomes from the introduction of the quality assurance function 
across the fitness to practise process  

Updates about the action plan produced in response to recommendations 
made in our audit of the cases closed at the initial stages of the GPhC’s 
fitness to practise process 2012 

The outcomes of the work on engagement with vulnerable registrants, 
witnesses and complainants to help these stakeholders to engage with 
the fitness to practise process 

The development of a new case management system, work that 
commenced in 2011/12 

The guidance for registrants involved in fitness to practise complaints 
which the GPhC expects to roll out in October 2013 

The closure of cases transferred from the RPSGB. 



75

16. The Health and Care Professions Council 
(HCPC)
Overall assessment 

 The HCPC has maintained its performance as an effective regulator across 16.1
each of its regulatory functions. This is notable given that it has completed a 
significant amount of work to prepare for and implement the transfer of 
regulation of social workers in England from 1 August 2012. In particular this 
has included working with the General Social Care Council (GSCC), the 
Social Care Councils in Scotland, Wales and Northern Ireland and a broad 
range of other key stakeholders. The HCPC has set out the framework for 
regulation and the approval of education programmes, published standards 
of proficiency and communicated the key changes to relevant groups.  
Since much of the HCPC’s activity in 2012/13 has focused on the preparation 16.2
for and implementation of the transfer of regulation of social workers in 
England, we have reported specifically about these activities. Despite the
additional work involved, the HCPC has maintained its performance across 
all areas of its responsibility. 

 We noted in the 2011/12 performance review that the HCPC was not meeting 16.3
the 3rd Standard of Good Regulation for education and training (the process 
for quality assuring education programmes is proportionate and takes 
account of the views of patients, service users, students and trainees…)
because, while the HCPC had a quality assurance in place, in our view the 
perspectives of service users were not properly taken into account. We are 
pleased to report that this standard is now met and that the HCPC now 
meets all of the Standards of Good Regulation.   

Guidance and standards 
 The HCPC continues to meet all the Standards of Good Regulation for 16.4

guidance and standards. Its work in this area has included:  
Continuing with its programme of work to revise the standards of 
proficiency for each professional group it regulates 

Consulting on the implications of the Department of Health’s 
announcement in July 2012 that medicines legislation would be amended 
to enable chiropodists, podiatrists and physiotherapists to independently 
prescribe medicines where this was clinically appropriate and where this 
falls in the professional’s scope of practice 

Participating in initiatives on professionalism for health professionals 
including beginning a dialogue with health professionals about the 
concept of professional behaviour.  
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Changes following the transfer of regulation of social workers in 
England in August 2012 

 Social work is one of a number of professions in which people can train to 16.5
become ‘approved mental health professionals’ (AMHPs). AMHPs exercise 
functions under the Mental Health Act 1983 relating to decisions made about 
patients with mental health disorders, including the decision to apply for 
compulsory admission to hospital. Before working as an AMHP, a social 
worker needs to complete the appropriate training. The GSCC previously had 
responsibility for approving these training programmes, as part of their role 
for regulating social workers. The HCPC acquired powers in August 2012 to 
approve education programmes for AMHPs when the Health and Social Care 
Act 2012 amended the HCPC’s governing legislation. 

 As part of the preparations for the transfer of regulation of social workers in 16.6
England to the HCPC, the GSCC re-approved all such programmes to 
ensure they met the GSCC’s requirements. As a result the HCPC will not visit 
these programmes until 2013/14.  
The HCPC’s new powers include the powers to set criteria for approving 16.7
education programmes for AMHPs, publishing those criteria and 
communicating the criteria to education providers. The HCPC developed 
interim criteria based on the GSCC’s latest reports and the HCPC is working 
on developing stand-alone criteria for dealing with concerns if they arise and 
to approve and monitor education programmes for AMHPs going forward. 
We will follow up on this in next year’s performance review. 

 The HCPC has also taken action to raise awareness amongst social work 16.8
professionals and their employers about the changes in standards for social 
workers in England. This has included an information mailing to all social 
work registrants, articles in the professional press, a live web session, events 
and presentations. This is an area of good practice.  
In next year’s performance review, we will follow up on: 16.9

The completion of the revised guidance, A Disabled Person’s Guide to 
Becoming a Health Professional, which will involve commissioning 
research, involving disabled people and students in developing the 
guidance and public consultation 

The mapping of UK wide advocacy and patient groups as part of a wider 
stakeholder mapping exercise. This work commenced in 2011/12 but was 
delayed due to the HCPC’s prioritisation of work to implement the transfer 
of regulation of social workers in England. The HCPC now aims to 
complete this in 2013  

The progress of the development of stand-alone criteria for dealing with 
concerns about education programmes for AMHPs 

The progress of the review of Standards of Conduct, Performance and 
Ethics which commenced in July 2012 and will be concluded in 2016. We 
will also follow up on the outcomes of research conducted in 2013 which 
aimed to find out whether registrants were aware of the standards, if they 
understood them, whether the standards reflected professional practice 
and the public’s expectations of registered professionals, whether the 
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standards were applicable across all the professions, whether the 
standards were accessible to a range of audiences and whether any 
further principles may need to be included in the standards.  

Education and training 
 The HCPC is meeting all the Standards of Good Regulation for education 16.10

and training.  

The process for quality assuring education programmes is 
proportionate and takes account of the views of patients, service users, 
students and trainees (3rd standard) 

 We concluded in the 2011/12 performance review that this standard was not 16.11
met although we noted that the HCPC had made progress towards meeting 
it. This was because the HCPC was not incorporating the views and 
perspectives of service users in its quality assurance process. The HCPC 
had sought to satisfy itself that there was an evidence base demonstrating 
the benefits of involving service users’ perspectives in the quality assurance 
process.  

 During 2012/13 the HCPC has been working on the development of a new 16.12
standard of education and training which will make service user involvement 
an express requirement in the design and delivery of programmes. The 
HCPC is reviewing its definition of ‘lay visitor’ to remove the requirement for 
educational experience and thereby attract a service user perspective. We 
are therefore pleased to report that this standard is now met. 

Changes following the transfer of regulation of social workers in 
England in August 2012 

 Under the previous regulatory system, the GSCC held a register of social 16.13
work students. The HCPC decided not to continue with the registration of 
social work students. This decision was taken after considering the 
responses to a consultation and the findings of a literature review. Following 
this it was concluded that the most proportionate and effective means of 
managing the fitness to practise fitness to practise of students was through 
the HCPC’s standards for education and training and through the quality 
assurance of education and training programmes.  

 The HCPC set up the Social Work Student Suitability Scheme on 1 August 16.14
2012 to manage the transitional arrangements for the registration of social 
work students in England from the GSCC. This scheme will be in place until 
the HCPC has visited all social work education and training programmes to 
check whether these institutions meet the HCPC’s standards for education 
and training. This scheme enables the HCPC to: 

Provide an opinion, in exceptional circumstances, to a social work 
education provider about whether an applicant is of suitable character to 
be admitted to a programme 

Investigate where the HCPC considers that an education provider has 
failed to deal with a credible complaint about a student appropriately 
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Maintain a record of students who are not permitted to participate in a 
social work programme in England 

Manage open cases concerning individuals applying to be on the student 
register maintained by the GSCC 

Consider the outcomes of an education provider’s fitness to practise 
procedures to determine whether a student should be prohibited from a 
programme. We note that by December 2012 the HCPC had placed 
seven students on the prohibited list, as they had been struck off the 
GSCC student register following concerns raised about their conduct and 
competence, and they were therefore not permitted to participate in the 
education programme.  

 As we set out above (see para 16.6) all programmes which were approved 16.15
by the GSCC automatically received transitional approval from the HCPC 
once the regulation of social workers in England transferred to the HCPC in 
August 2012. Under these arrangements, 282 pre-registration social work 
programmes and 30 education programmes for AMHPs were transitionally 
approved. 

 The HCPC developed a three-year schedule of quality assurance visits for 16.16
education programmes that were previously under the GSCC’s remit. The 
prioritisation of visits for education providers across academic years took 
account of certain factors (such as the GSCC’s quality assurance evidence at 
the point of transfer and the supply and demand of placements within 
regions). It also involved applying timelines for visits flexibly so that relevant 
factors could be taken into account (such as new concerns arising about the 
transitionally approved programme).

 This approach was considered to be the most proportionate, while also taking 16.17
into account current issues in the social work education sector which include 
the development of a professional body and uncertainty around student 
bursaries. The HCPC’s process included a review of the quality assurance 
visits of education programmes in summer 2013 to ensure there were no 
risks of education providers developing students who do not meet the 
HCPC’s standards. 

Continuing fitness to practise
 The HCPC began a schedule of audits in 2008 which selected a random 16.18

sample of registrants and asked for evidence that the HCPC’s continuous 
professional development (CPD) standards were met. In cases where 
registrants fail to provide a CPD profile within the allowed timeframe, or if a 
submitted CPD profile is rejected, registrants are given notice that they will 
be removed from the register in 28 days. The HCPC has continued with 
these CPD audits this year. The majority of registrants selected for a CPD 
audit were found to be meeting the CPD standards.

 In the 2011/12 performance review we reported that the HCPC was planning 16.19
to undertake two multi-variant analyses. The first related to CPD audit data 
looking at correlations between the outcomes of CPD audits and variables 
such as age, gender and place of registration. We note that this has not yet 
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commenced. The second related to data about registrants who have had a 
sanction imposed on them at a final fitness to practise hearing between 2003 
and 2009 to determine whether there were any predictive factors in these 
cases. We noted that the findings from this work will inform the HCPC’s 
proposals for a continuing fitness to practise scheme.  
We were pleased to note that the HCPC’s Council considered our policy 16.20
paper on continuing fitness to practise24 in May 2013 as part of its review of 
the approach to putting in place a continuing fitness to practise scheme. The 
HCPC agree with our view that the focus of any regulator’s approach to 
continuing fitness to practise should be on outcomes and the scheme that is 
put in place can be and, in most cases, should be achieved by means other 
than revalidation (where revalidation is defined as a periodic assessment of 
fitness to practise).
In next year’s performance review we will follow up on:16.21

The outcomes of the work aimed at achieving greater service user 
involvement in the quality assurance of education programmes and the 
review of the definition of ‘lay visitor’ to remove the requirement for 
educational experience

The review of CPD standards and the process for auditing against the 
CPD standards which the HCPC advised us will take place in the 2013/14 
business year. 

Registration 
 The HCPC is meeting all of the Standards of Good Regulation for 16.22

registration.  
 As part of our performance review of the regulators we conduct an accuracy 16.23

check of the regulators’ registers and this helps us assess compliance with 
the 3rd standard for registration (everyone can easily access information 
about registrants, except in relation to their health, including whether there 
are restrictions on their practice). Incorrect or outdated entries have obvious 
implications for public protection and cast doubt on the integrity of a register. 
In last year’s performance review we noted inconsistent performance against 
this standard as we identified one entry on the HCPC’s register that was 
incorrect. The HCPC took steps to address this error and ensure it would not 
be repeated. We are pleased to report that in this year’s accuracy check of 
the register no errors were found.  

 The HCPC has continued to make improvements to its registration function 16.24
and the approach continues to be efficient and effective. The following 
improvements are noted:  

The HCPC has agreed on two tests to satisfy the English language 
proficiency requirement (rather than a much larger number) to enhance 

                                           
24  CHRE, 2012. An Approach to Assuring Continuing Fitness to Practise Based on Right-Touch 

Regulation Principles. London: CHRE. Available at: 
http://www.professionalstandards.org.uk/docs/psa-library/november-2012---right-touch-continuing-
fitness-to-practise.pdf
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confidence that the applicants who need to provide evidence of English 
language proficiency meet requirements 

The introduction of an online process to reduce the time taken to process 
readmission forms when a registrant fails to apply for renewal of their 
registration in time for it to be processed before their current registration 
expires (which can disrupt patient services as registrants are unable to 
practise lawfully while their registration has lapsed).  

Changes following the transfer of regulation of social workers in 
England in August 2012 

 The transfer of the social work register to the HCPC occurred over the 16.25
summer 2012 when social work students were receiving final results and 
needed to register with the regulator for the first time. The HCPC 
implemented the learning from its experience of introducing new groups to 
the HCPC register in the past. For the transfer of social work regulation, the 
HCPC issued joint communication with the GSCC to education providers to
request that a full set of pass lists for social work graduates be available to 
the HCPC in advance of the date of transfer. Building on its previous 
experience, this enabled the HCPC to begin processing applications from the 
date of transfer and the HCPC feels it processed applications more quickly 
because of this. We find this to be an area of good practice as the HCPC’s 
approach was to look forward to anticipate the change and it enabled 
education providers to be prepared for the new requirements.   

 We have noted above (see para 16.8) the HCPC’s activities to engage with 16.26
stakeholders in the social work sector. The HCPC’s engagement activities 
included contact with key employers, organisations representing social work 
employers and direct engagement with directors and assistant directors of 
adult and children’s services to ensure that these stakeholders were mindful 
of the importance of social workers renewing their registration. We note that 
the exercise to manage the process for social workers in England joining the 
HCPC register was the largest external register transfer that the HCPC has 
conducted. We are pleased that the HCPC considers the exercise to be a 
success, as do we. 

Fitness to practise 
 The HCPC has continued to meet all of the Standards of Good Regulation for 16.27

fitness to practise. This is particularly noteworthy because when the HCPC 
became responsible for the regulation of social workers in England from 
August 2012 it saw an increase in the volume of allegations it was dealing 
with and an expansion of its scope.  

 The HCPC has also acted to develop its work across the fitness to practise 16.28
function to drive improvements. This has included the following activities:  

Training in mental health awareness, by the mental health charity Mind, to  
improve awareness and to enable fitness to practise staff to assist 
individuals identified as having mental health issues 
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The introduction of a Case Advancement Team which was set up to 
manage the cases which are identified at an early stage as needing more 
time or effort to complete in a timely manner. The team aims to ensure 
that adequate support is provided to complainants who find the fitness to 
practise complaints process more difficult (such as complainants who 
have difficulty articulating their concerns). To support this team with 
progressing cases, an additional monthly meeting is held to focus on case 
handling strategy and focuses solely on the advancement of cases. There 
are also monthly meetings with the Communications Team to consider 
any issues related to high-profile cases and anticipating any media issues 
and a monthly meeting with the Hearings Team, which is responsible for 
providing support to witnesses, to consider the disclosure of evidence or 
complex witness management issues   

The introduction of an electronic case management system (CMS) which 
was aimed at creating a paperless system and greater efficiency. 
Efficiency improvements are expected as a result of the increased ability 
for monitoring workloads, improved management information, reduction of 
the risks around information security and improved tracking of sanctions   

The introduction of the new Assurance and Development Team – one of 
the roles for this team will be to review cases where interim orders have 
been applied for. The team will use the information learned from these 
reviews to feed into the review of staff guidance and the review of the 
HCPC’s Interim Order Practice Note (issued by the Council as guidance 
for interim order panels). As the HCPC identifies, it is important to ensure 
consistency in the decisions made in cases involving registrants that may 
pose a risk to public protection and this is particularly so when greater 
numbers of staff are involved in making such decisions. We will consider 
the effectiveness of this initiative further in our audit of the initial stages of 
the HCPC’s fitness to practise process in 2013.  

Changes following the transfer of regulation of social workers in 
England in August 2012 
The HCPC’s engagement activities were noted above (see para 16.8) as 16.29
good practice. In relation to the fitness to practise function, this has also 
included communication with all local authority social services to advise them 
of the different powers the HCPC has in relation to fitness to practise cases.  
The Council agreed ‘Just Disposal’ criteria in July 2012 which included 16.30
processes and provisions to ensure the continuity of the regulatory process 
for those social work registrants subject to conditional registration, those 
suspended and registrants for whom there was an outstanding application for 
registration or renewal at the time of the transfer. The criteria were set with 
the intention that, when reviewing fitness to practise cases about social work 
professionals, the HCPC meets its statutory obligations for handling cases in 
a manner that is fair, transparent, consistent and proportionate.  

 The HCPC was also quick to review the cases transferred from the GSCC. 16.31
This included reviewing all cases where an interim order was in place within 
the first month of the transfer, reviewing and assessing all transferred cases 
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by 20 August 2012 in accordance with the ‘Just Disposal’ criteria and 
concluding seven out of nine appeals made by social workers who appealed 
against the final fitness to practise decision made by the GSCC. The 
prioritisation of the review of these cases was appropriate and meant the 
HCPC has been able to tackle the increase in activity in the fitness to 
practise function without a decrease in its performance against the Standards 
of Good Regulation for fitness to practise.25  

Alternative dispute resolution – mediation pilot 
We noted in last year’s performance review that the HCPC had commenced 16.32
work to scope out a mediation pilot, the results of which the HCPC was 
considering to inform its approach to alternative dispute resolution. The 
HCPC has not finalised its operational approach for mediation which will 
include guidance on the types of cases that would be suitable for resolution 
by mediation. In principle, the cases could include both those where there is 
a ‘case to answer’ and where there is ‘no case to answer’. We look forward to 
receiving more information about the outcome and analysis of this pilot which 
will commence in June 2013 and last for six months. 

Witness support 
 In our publication Modern and Efficient Fitness to Practise Adjudication26 we 16.33

recommended that greater support should be provided to witnesses 
throughout the investigation and adjudication stages to allow them to 
participate fully in the process. The HCPC has undertaken significant 
activities in relation to how it works with witnesses in the adjudication 
process. Significant activities have been carried out in the area of witness 
support and we are pleased that the HCPC has taken account of our 
publication in doing so – this is an area of good practice. The following 
activities are of note: 

Increasing the use of preliminary meetings to resolve issues (including 
those affecting witnesses) in advance of substantive hearings 

Contacting witnesses two weeks in advance of a hearing to identify issues  

Ensuring that staff who will be present on the hearing day contact 
witnesses in advance of the hearing to provide continuity of support for 
witnesses 

Instructing case presenters to debrief witnesses who have provided 
lengthy or disturbing evidence before they leave, even if this involves a 
short adjournment to proceedings 

                                           
25  The data for the timely progression of the cases transferred from the GSCC shows that half of the 120 

cases which reached a final Investigating Committee decision did so within seven weeks of receipt by 
the HCPC and half of the 27 cases which reached a final hearing did so within 34 weeks of receipt.

26  CHRE, 2011. Modern and Efficient Fitness to Practise Adjudication: CHRE’s advice for Secretary of 
State. London: CHRE. Available at: http://www.professionalstandards.org.uk/library/document-
detail?id=f5e82527-bb44-4e8b-9df0-91b4f987b6b7
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Seeking feedback from witnesses via feedback forms and carrying out 
debriefing calls on request 

Emailing panel decisions to witnesses to inform them of the outcome. 

Improvements to the adjudication process 
 The HCPC is considering how to reduce the numbers of hearings which do 16.34

not conclude in the allocated time. It has found that there were greater 
numbers of adjournments where the registrant did not attend and was not 
represented which it considers may be because the panels then took a 
longer time to determine whether it was acceptable to proceed in the 
absence of the registrant. A paper was considered by the HCPC’s Fitness to 
Practise Committee in May 2012 and the HCPC will continue to monitor the 
numbers of cases that do not conclude as expected – we will follow up on 
this in next year’s performance review. 

 It has also considered cases which were not well founded and has noted that 16.35
this can often be due to the standard or nature of the evidence that is 
presented. It has noted that its panels often prefer oral evidence where there 
is a conflict between oral testimonies and documentary evidence. The HCPC 
has taken steps consider how it can encourage witnesses to attend hearings 
wherever appropriate as noted above. We would be interested in the 
outcomes of this work and will follow up on that in next year’s performance 
review.    

The approach taken to those registrants who have convictions and 
cautions for drug or drink-related offences 

 The HCPC commissioned research in August 2012 into the concepts of 16.36
public protection and impairment of a registrant’s fitness to practise in relation 
to ill health. This was in response to our earlier recommendation27 that 
regulators should routinely request a health assessment for all registrants 
who are convicted of a drug or drink-related offence. Following the 
consideration of the results of the research in February 2013 the HCPC 
concluded that it will continue with its approach of not routinely requesting a 
health assessment in such cases but considering it on a case-by-case basis. 
We are disappointed by this as we note that other regulators have found that 
investigating convictions and cautions involving drugs and alcohol has led to 
identifying an underlying health and performance concern in the registrant 
which might otherwise not have been apparent. However we note that the 
HCPC's decision is based on evidence which it has assessed. We will 
continue to keep this issue under review. 

                                           
27 Para 2.21 of CHRE, 2011. Performance Review Report: Changing regulation in changing times 

2010/11. London: CHRE. Available at: http://www.professionalstandards.org.uk/docs/scrutiny-
quality/chre-performance-review-report-2010-11.pdf?sfvrsn=0
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We would like to follow up on the following areas in next year’s performance 16.37
review:  

The progress with completing the social worker fitness to practise cases 
transferred from the GSCC 

The outcomes from the pilot of mediation together with the development 
of the HCPC’s operational approach. We would be interested in the 
HCPC’s criteria for cases which are suitable for mediation in line with the 
HCPC’s general policy that the purpose of fitness to practise proceedings 
is to protect the public. We are also interested in how the HCPC will 
ensure the transparency of the decisions that are made. We note that 
another purpose of fitness to practise proceedings is to maintain 
standards and promote confidence in regulation 

The work the HCPC is carrying out to reduce the numbers of adjudication 
cases which do not conclude in the allocated time and its consideration of 
cases that are not well founded 

The outcome of the Assurance and Development Team’s review of the 
HCPC’s practice on the application of interim orders and its guidance for 
staff.  
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17. The Nursing and Midwifery Council 
(NMC)
Overall assessment  

 In the 2011/12 performance review we found that, while the NMC had met 17.1
many of the Standards of Good Regulation, there were eight standards that 
were either not met or which were being met inconsistently.

 At the request of the Under Secretary of State we carried out a strategic 17.2
review of the NMC to examine whether its structure, its resource allocation 
and strategic leadership were aligned to enable the delivery of the NMC’s 
core functions using an efficient, effective and ‘right-touch’ approach to 
regulation. The strategic review (published in July 2012)28 contained high-
level recommendations for improvement in the delivery of the NMC’s 
regulatory functions.  

 The NMC accepted all the recommendations in our strategic review and is 17.3
implementing a significant programme of change in both its governance and 
operations. We said in that strategic review that 'we would expect to see 
demonstrable improvement within two years.' The 2012/13 performance 
review therefore covers the first nine months of the NMC's improvement 
programme. 

 In this reporting year, 2012/13, a new Chair has been appointed, the interim 17.4
Chief Executive has been appointed to the post of substantive Chief 
Executive for a fixed period, three directors have been substantively 
appointed to lead the directorates responsible for continued practice 
(education and standards), registration and fitness to practise and a 
restructure of the organisation has been completed. This organisational 
restructure followed an internal high-level review of activities and 
consideration of whether each activity was necessary for public protection. 
Our strategic review concluded that many of the NMC’s past failures arose 
from its failure to properly understand its regulatory purpose and its lack of 
clear, consistent strategic direction so the reconsideration of priorities was an 
appropriate first step to take. The NMC has stated that public protection is 
now central to its approach and that public protection is the ‘litmus test’ 
against which all current and proposed work is now measured. However, we 
are concerned that the NMC has not yet been able to identify measures to 
assess whether or not that ‘test’ has been passed. 
In autumn 2012, in its evidence for this year’s performance review, the NMC 17.5
referred to the development of a number of strategies for the fitness to 
practise, registration, education and standards directorates aimed at setting 
out its aims and objectives and identifying success measures which were to 
be approved by its Council. However the development of these strategies 

                                           
28  CHRE, 2012. Strategic Review of the Nursing and Midwifery Council. London: CHRE. Available at: 

http://professionalstandards.org.uk/docs/special-reviews-and-investigations/chre-final-report-for-nmc-
strategic-review-%28pdf%29.pdf?sfvrsn=0  
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has been delayed so that these can be considered once the Council is 
reconstituted in May 2013. We note that one of the recommendations in our 
strategic review was that the overall strategy of the NMC needed to be better 
articulated by its Council, implemented by management and understood by 
staff. The delay with agreeing these strategies will therefore necessarily 
delay the NMC’s ability to implement the cultural and operational changes 
required to drive improvements against the Standards of Good Regulation.   
We were encouraged to read in the NMC’s evidence for this year’s 17.6
performance review that our strategic review findings and recommendations, 
the findings from the 2011/12 performance review and the principles of right-
touch regulation were among the factors influencing the NMC’s change 
programme.  

Guidance and standards 
 The NMC continues to meet all the Standards of Good Regulation for 17.7

guidance and standards. We reported in the 2011/12 performance review 
that the NMC had stopped or deferred a number of pieces of ongoing 
standards and guidance work, in order to focus its resources on necessary 
improvements in the registration and fitness to practise functions. There has 
therefore been relatively little change in the standards and guidance function 
during 2012/13 other than maintenance of the activities that we have 
described in previous performance reviews.  

 We note that the NMC has created a ‘regulation in practice’ area on its 17.8
website to help registrants apply their professional judgement and put 
regulatory principles into practice. We consider this to be an improvement in 
the NMC’s performance.  
The NMC’s new Midwives Rules and Standards came into force on 1 17.9
January 2013. In finalising the new standards, the NMC placed greater focus 
on the NMC’s regulatory role. The new rules and standards are clearer about 
what is expected of midwives and midwifery supervisors and no longer 
repeat material contained elsewhere. We consider that this represents an 
improvement.  

 A new Standards Development Team was formed in January 2013. The 17.10
team’s key tasks are to: 

Develop a strategy to include risk-based criteria for determining the 
NMC’s approach to developing standards and guidance

Establish an evaluation methodology to enable the assessment of the 
impact of new standards and guidance. 

 We look forward to reporting on further progress and developments in these 17.11
areas of the NMC’s work. In next year’s performance review we will follow up 
on the following which the NMC has told us it will be doing in 2013/14: 

The outcomes of the establishment of the evaluation methodology and 
the policy on the development of standards which will be reviewed by the 
NMC’s Council in July 2013  
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Any early outcomes from the cycle of planned reviews of existing 
standards which is due for completion by the end of 2014. 

Education and training 
 The NMC continues to meet most of the Standards of Good Regulation for 17.12

education and training, with the exception of the 2nd standard, which relates 
to the regulator’s system for continuing professional development 
(CPD)/continuing fitness to practise. We highlight below the work that the 
NMC has undertaken during 2012/13 in relation to this standard, as well as in 
relation to the quality assurance of education programmes.  

Through the regulator’s CPD/revalidation systems, registrants maintain 
the standards required to stay fit to practise (2nd standard) 

 We note that the Mid Staffordshire NHS Foundation Trust public inquiry 17.13
report29 recommends that the NMC implements a system of revalidation and 
the House of Commons Health Committee also expressed concern about the 
delay with the NMC implementing a system of revalidation. The NMC has not 
progressed with implementing a system of revalidation and has made a 
conscious decision to pause development to prioritise other activity that is 
more directly linked to its core regulatory functions. 

 We note that the NMC has taken into account our paper on continuing fitness 17.14
to practise30 in which we take the view that regulators should be able to 
provide assurances of the continuing fitness to practise of their registrants 
and that this can be and, in most cases, should be achieved by means other 
than formal revalidation (where revalidation is defined as a periodic 
assessment of fitness to practise). 

 The NMC has publicly committed to launching its system of continuing fitness 17.15
to practise in stages in December 2015 with pilots at every stage. The next 
step in that process will be for the NMC’s Council to consider a strategy by 
September 2013. 

 During March 2012, in response to a recommendation made by the Health 17.16
Select Committee (in 2011), the NMC audited its current post-registration, 
education and practice (‘Prep’) standards and concluded that they were 
deficient because they were not evidence-based and could not provide 
adequate assurance about a registrant’s continuing fitness to practise. The 
NMC decided it will develop strengthened standards aligned to its existing 
legislation which will supersede the current Prep standards.  

                                           
29  Recommendation 229 of the Mid Staffordshire NHS Foundation Trust public inquiry report: ‘it is highly 

desirable that the Nursing and Midwifery Council introduces a system of revalidation similar to that of 
the General Medical Council…’

30 CHRE, 2012. An Approach to Assuring Continuing Fitness to Practise Based on Right-Touch 
Regulation Principles. London: CHRE. Available at: 
http://www.professionalstandards.org.uk/docs/psa-library/november-2012---right-touch-continuing-
fitness-to-practise.pdf
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 We will expect to review progress with the development of a continuing 17.17
fitness to practise scheme in next year’s performance review and we also 
anticipate the NMC’s proposal will be based on an appropriate analysis of 
risk (as we highlighted to the NMC in the 2011/12 performance review). 

Quality assurance of education programmes 
 In the 2011/12 performance review, we found that the 3rd standard (the 17.18

process for quality assuring education programmes is proportionate) was 
inconsistently being met. The NMC concluded that its previous programme 
for the quality assurance of education programmes was over burdensome 
and not focused on outcomes. This was also our assessment and the view of 
third parties who provided feedback to us as part of the performance review 
process.  

 The key risks for patient safety and public protection lie in the practice 17.19
environment when students have direct contact with patients as part of their 
training. The NMC’s previous system was duplicating existing quality 
monitoring systems at significant cost to the NMC. The NMC reduced the 
number of monitoring visits it conducted of education and training providers 
from 54 visits in 2011/12 to 16 visits in 2012/13. The 16 visits conducted in 
2012/13 were targeted at those training programmes that had been affected 
by service reconfiguration and resource constraints (such as pre-registration 
nursing and midwifery and health visiting nursing) because those 
programmes would also contain challenges for supporting learning and 
assessment in practice, and therefore were perceived by the NMC to carry 
the greatest risk. Those education and training programmes that were not 
subject to a monitoring visit during 2012/13 were required to complete a self-
assessment and exception report.  
We welcome the NMC’s decision to move to a more risk-based approach in 17.20
this area and we now find that the 3rd standard is currently met, however we 
are also of the view that the NMC could improve its performance further 
against this standard. We recommend that consideration is given to ensuring 
that the risk assessment tool that the NMC uses to identify which providers 
should be subject to quality assurance visits accurately identifies those 
providers that represent the highest risks. We noted that a high number of 
the providers that were selected for a monitoring visit in 2012/13 met or 
exceeded all the standards. This suggests that the current risk assessment 
tool may not be robust.  
In next year’s performance review we will follow up on: 17.21

The NMC’s progress on developing a continuing fitness to practise 
scheme for an initial staged launch with pilots from December 2015 and 
the development of its strategy which will be considered by the NMC’s 
Council in September 2013 

The NMC’s progress with the development of strengthened Prep 
standards 

The implementation of the new quality assurance framework in 
September 2013 and any early evidence of the effectiveness of the 
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NMC’s change in approach to the quality assurance of education 
programme. 

Registration 
 The NMC has identified the integrity of its register as its top corporate risk. 17.22

The NMC has not met the 2nd Standard of Good Regulation for registration 
(the registration process, including the management of appeals, is fair, based 
on the regulators’ standards, efficient, transparent, secure, and continuously 
improving) or the 3rd Standard (through the regulators’ registers, everyone 
can easily access information about registrants, except in relation to their 
health, including whether there are restrictions on their practice).
We note the following improvements in the NMC’s performance that have 17.23
taken place during 2012/13: 

Joint work with the Royal College of Midwives to consider how 
independent midwives might practise fully protected by insurance. This 
issue is complicated by the changes in the contractual arrangements for 
midwives that have resulted from the reorganisation of health services in 
England. We look forward to learning the outcome of this work in next 
year’s performance review

The introduction of a peer review quality assurance process for the 
decisions made by the Registration Team, which is aimed at achieving 
consistency and maintaining quality 

Monthly monitoring by the executive team and the Council of 
management information about the registration function (such as the 
timeliness of processing registration applications, renewals and customer 
service).  

 In the 2011/12 performance review we noted concern related to the following 17.24
two standards which were not met and we provide an update about the 
NMC’s performance against these two standards below:

The registration process, including the management of appeals, is fair, 
based on the regulators’ standards, efficient, transparent, secure, and 
continuously improving (2nd standard) 

Online registration 

 The NMC has deferred its plans for online registration to an unspecified 17.25
future date, in order to prioritise other activity that it considers to be more 
directly linked to its core regulatory functions. Online registration would assist 
the NMC in preventing inadvertent lapses from the register and with the 
timely updating of the register (by providing 24-hour access to professionals 
wanting to join the register or renew existing registration). Given that the 
NMC has identified the integrity of its register as its top corporate risk it is 
questionable whether it was appropriate for the NMC to delay these plans. 
We note that the NMC’s Corporate Plan 2013 – 2016 includes plans to 
develop online services for registrants in 2013/14 and then deliver them 
during 2014 – 2016.      
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Registration appeals 
 We noted in the 2011/12 performance review that there had been delays with 17.26

progressing registration appeals. Last year the NMC was not able to 
conclude any of the 19 appeals it received during the period April to
December 2011, thereby failing to meet its own target for concluding such 
cases within nine months. We were told that in 2011/12 the NMC had 
introduced better case management, increased legal resources and trained 
more panel chairs and members to attempt to improve its ability to progress 
registration appeals within its targets for doing so. 

 It is evident that further improvements are needed to expedite the 17.27
progression of appeal hearings; as at 1 November 2012 there were 30 
outstanding appeals, seven of which had been awaiting a hearing for more 
than nine months. We acknowledge that 27 appeals had been concluded by 
March 2013 and in four appeals the delay was partly due to external factors 
outside of the NMC’s control and that the NMC has increased both the 
available legal and panel resources during 2012/13 with the aim of improving 
the throughput of appeals. Nevertheless, it is clear that the NMC has some 
way to go to meet its current target, let alone to meet the target it has set for 
itself in 2013/14 of concluding appeal hearings within three to six months. We 
will follow up on the NMC’s progress with improving the timeliness of its 
appeals process in next year’s performance review.  
Under the NMC’s processes, appeals must be chaired by Council members 17.28
and in this reporting year the NMC had only two trained panel members. 
Once the NMC’s Council is reconstituted in May 2013 it is anticipated that a 
greater number of Council members will be identified and trained to chair 
registration appeal hearings during 2013/14. This should facilitate the 
scheduling of a greater number of hearings and therefore put the NMC in a 
better position to achieve its target.  

Timeliness of progressing registration applications 

In last year’s performance review we expressed concern about the NMC’s 17.29
ability to manage the volume of registration applications it receives. We are 
pleased to report that the NMC met its key performance indicator (KPI) for 
processing registration applications during 2012/13. This represents an
improvement in performance from 2011/12 (when insufficient staffing 
resources left the registration department unable to cope with the demand).  

Customer service  

 In the 2011/12 performance review we reported that, while the NMC had 17.30
improved its performance in answering calls, we remained concerned that 
during one quarter 13,488 calls had gone unanswered. In its evidence 
submission for this year’s performance review the NMC told us that it is now 
answering calls quicker and is continuing to focus on reducing the number of 
unanswered calls through scheduling of resources and analysing call 
patterns and trends. The evidence shows that during 2012/13 38,404 calls 
(9% of calls) went unanswered and while this is an improvement from 
2011/12, it appears to us that this aspect of customer service has not yet 
improved sufficiently and consistently.   
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Overseas registration 
 All regulators should have a process in place for registering professionals 17.31

who qualified outside the European Union and who want to work in the UK. In 
February 2013 the NMC began an internal review of its registration process 
for overseas applicants. In the course of that review, the NMC discovered 
that it had been operating different systems for evaluating the training 
requirements for applicants from New Zealand, America, Canada and 
Australia compared to the system for evaluating the training requirements for 
applicants from other non-European Union countries. It also discovered that 
improvements were needed to its procedure for validating identity 
requirements. The NMC stopped processing these types of applications in 
February 2013 until the review had been completed. It also consulted with 
the Equality and Human Rights Commission in the re-development of its 
approach to the evaluation of overseas applications and resumed processing 
such applications in April 2013.  

 We note that this internal review only related to the current policy and 17.32
processes in relation to overseas applications for registration. This was a 
short-term review aimed at addressing deficiencies to stabilise the current 
process. The NMC said that a more wide-ranging review will take place and 
at that point the NMC will undertake full consultation.  

 This is a serious matter but we commend the NMC for the way it is dealing 17.33
with it. The NMC is keeping us informed on its progress in dealing with this 
matter. We do not yet have the timescales for this second wide-ranging 
review, however, when the NMC’s review is published we will be considering 
it to determine the risks to patient safety and public confidence in regulation 
particularly from potentially unfair registration decisions having been made in 
the past. In next year’s performance review we will report on whether the 
NMC’s new approach has dealt with the concerns identified. 

 We do not yet have evidence of improved performance against the 2nd17.34
standard and we find that it continues to not be met.  

Through the regulators’ registers, everyone can easily access 
information about registrants, except in relation to their health, 
including whether there are restrictions on their practice (3rd standard) 

Improving accessibility of the NMC’s register and employers’ awareness of 
the need to check the register 

 The accessibility of the register and improving employers’ awareness of the 17.35
need to check the register are important to ensure public protection and to 
promote confidence in the effectiveness of the regulatory system.

 In September 2012 the NMC stopped its previous practice of issuing 17.36
registrants with cards showing their NMC PIN numbers – in order to reduce 
the risk of registrants/their employers relying on those cards (which show 
information that may become out of date) for confirmation of their registration 
status. As anticipated by the NMC, this appears to have led to an increase in 
employers’ use of the Employers Confirmation Service (which provides more 
information than is available in the NMC’s public-facing online register –
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including each registrant’s full registration history as well as details of current 
cautions, conditions of practice, suspensions or striking off orders, or whether 
registration has lapsed.  

 The NMC has said that it plans to develop proposals to undertake research 17.37
to establish the levels of public use of its register so that it can monitor the 
use of the register and that it will continue to actively promote checking the 
register as a tool to safeguard the public. Other proposals for development 
include setting targets for greater numbers of employers carrying out register 
checks (once the NMC has established the levels of current usage). The 
NMC has not yet determined the methods for achieving the delivery of 
greater awareness among employers about the need to check the 
registration status of nurses and midwives.

 We note that in August 1012 the NMC’s own Public and Patients Involvement 17.38
Forum suggested that the NMC could do more to raise awareness of the 
facility to check the register online. In light of this feedback, and in the 
absence of any information demonstrating that there is greater awareness of 
the need to check the register, we encourage the NMC to create and 
implement plans to raise awareness among employers about the need to 
check the register. We will follow up on its progress in this area in next year’s 
performance review.  

Publicising information about suspended registrants and struck off individuals  

 In the 2011/12 performance review we recommended improvements to the 17.39
information available on the NMC’s register. Of particular concern was that 
the register did not show information about registrants who had been 
suspended or about individuals who had been struck off the register.  

 We are pleased to report that as of January 2013 the NMC has implemented 17.40
a new policy which means that information about registrants who have been 
suspended or individuals who have been struck off the register since 1 
January 2008 will remain on the register indefinitely (with the exception of 
information relating to individuals who are deceased). We recognise that the 
NMC’s decision that information about registrants whose suspension pre-
dates 1 January 2008 (or individuals who were struck off prior to that date) 
will not be shown on the register. This is in line with our recommendation that 
regulators who begin to publish information about suspended and struck off 
individuals take a proportionate approach31 to doing so.  

 Each year as part of the performance review process, we carry out a random 17.41
check of a sample of each of the regulators’ registers to ensure that each 
register accurately reflects the registration status of each registrant. Incorrect 
or outdated entries have obvious implications for public protection and cast 
doubt on the integrity of a register.  

                                           
31  CHRE, 2010. Health Professional Regulators’ Registers: Maximising their contribution to public 

protection and patient safety.  London: CHRE. Available at:
http://www.professionalstandards.org.uk/docs/psa-library/registers---good-practice-report.pdf?sfvrsn=0  
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Follow up on last year’s register check
In last year’s check of the NMC’s register we found an incorrect entry relating 17.42
to an individual who had been incorrectly restored to the register before the 
completion of a return to practice course. After we alerted the NMC to this 
error, improvement actions were implemented including an audit of the 
registration database. That audit itself revealed a high number of errors on
the register. During 2012/13 the NMC has continued running daily checks of 
the accuracy of the register and reconciling historical discrepancies, as well 
as implementing training and quality assurance. The work to reconcile 
historical discrepancies identified 1,500 cases where the data held on the 
registration and the fitness to practise systems were not consistent. The 
NMC put in place an action plan to resolve each of these inaccuracies. 

 The NMC also commissioned an independent audit which took place in17.43
November 2012 and concluded that the system, controls and procedures that 
had been put in place since the historical discrepancies were identified were 
adequate and that staff were complying with them.  

 We are pleased to report that the NMC took appropriate action to address the 17.44
errors on its register once these became apparent, and that it also took 
appropriate steps to minimise the risk of any recurrence. When we conducted 
the register check this year we noted that we did not find similar errors to 
those discovered as a result of last year’s register check. While we welcome 
the improvement activities that the NMC has taken during 2012/13 we note 
with concern that the checks continue to expose five to 10 discrepancies 
daily (which are immediately rectified).  

This year’s register check 

 We identified two individuals who were not included on the register at all 17.45
although conditions were in place restricting the scope of their practice. In 
both these cases, the individuals had failed to pay their registration fee. In 
normal circumstances, failure to pay the registration fee would result in the 
individual’s registration ‘lapsing’ and their removal from the register. However 
in circumstances where a registrant is subject to conditions of practice, the 
legislative framework means that their registration must be maintained, even 
if they fail to pay the registration fee. Unfortunately in both cases the 
individuals’ details had been wrongly removed from the register due to staff 
error (the required 'under investigation' flag had not been activated). The staff 
error that led to these individuals being removed from the register had not 
been identified by the NMC because it did not have systems in place to 
check or audit the placing of 'under investigation' flags. After we notified the 
NMC of this issue it informed us that the matter was being dealt with as a 
corporate serious incident. By February 2013, following daily checks, a
further 28 similar errors were identified. 
As a result of our feedback about last year’s register check, the NMC took a 17.46
number of remedial steps, including training by registrations staff for fitness 
to practise staff and running daily checks to ensure similar problems are fixed 
immediately. The errors we identified in this year’s register check suggest 
that the NMC has not yet taken effective action to minimise the risks of 
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discrepancies between the registration and fitness to practise databases 
which is continuing to lead to inaccuracies in its online register.   

 We acknowledge that the discrepancies we identified during our register 17.47
check in 2012/13 revealed fewer errors than those identified during the 
2011/12 register check, however we remain concerned that the NMC had not 
identified and rectified them itself. Based on the errors identified during this 
year’s register check, the number of discrepancies that are still being 
identified combined with the lack of a comprehensive and robust process 
within the NMC to ensure the accuracy of its register, we have concluded that 
the 3rd standard is still not met.  
In next year’s performance review we will follow up on:17.48

The review of registration policies and procedures which the NMC will 
complete in 2013/14 

The effectiveness of the NMC’s activities to improve the integrity and 
accuracy of its register 

The impact of the NMC’s planned activities to improve the accessibility of 
the register and to encourage employers to check individuals’ registration 
status 

The outcome of the change in the NMC’s registration process for 
overseas applications and whether it has dealt with the concerns 
identified 

The NMC’s preparations resulting from the Department of Health planning 
for an overarching legislative framework to implement the European 
Union requirements that professional indemnity insurance be a condition 
of registration. We would be interested in the NMC’s plans to put in place 
the adjustments to its registration processes and systems to meet the 
expected requirements. 

Fitness to practise 
 In the 2011/12 performance review we noted that we had continuing 17.49

concerns about the NMC’s performance against a number of the Standards 
of Good Regulation for fitness to practise. Those concerns have not yet been 
resolved although some progress has been made towards improvement. 

 In particular, in the 2011/12 performance review we expressed concern about 17.50
the quality of the NMC’s investigations, the standard of its record keeping, 
and the inconsistent and ineffective use of risk assessments. We followed up 
on these issues in our audit of the NMC’s handling of cased closed at the 
initial stages of its fitness to practise process in 2012.32 Our audit found 
examples of improved record keeping and correspondence in some cases,
however, we also found various weaknesses, including in relation to cases 

                                           
32  CHRE, 2012. Audit of the Nursing and Midwifery Council’s Initial Stages Fitness to Practise Process.

London: CHRE. Available at: http://www.professionalstandards.org.uk/docs/audit-reports/nmc-ftp-
audit-report-2012.pdf?sfvrsn=0  
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which were opened after the start of the NMC’s improvement programme in 
January 2011.  

 In our strategic review of the NMC33 we noted that, ‘improving fitness to 17.51
practise is a key priority for the NMC but it does not have an easily digestible 
narrative plan that can be referred to by Council or communicated to its staff 
and stakeholders. In our view it would benefit from having a fitness to 
practise strategy. This would enable the Council to think through its purpose, 
describe success, set specific objectives and then determine the measures 
needed to assure itself of delivery’. We note that the NMC is delaying 
producing strategies until its new Council is constituted (due to be completed 
in May 2013). In the meantime the NMC has developed a plan for the fitness 
to practise directorate listing a number of the NMC’s aspirations which it 
hopes to achieve by 2016. In next year’s performance review we will consider 
the NMC’s performance against the measures it is developing and also 
consider whether or not it has consistently achieved improvement across 
three areas of improvement in its fitness to practise function: the quality of its 
decision making, timeliness and customer service.  
We review below the NMC’s current performance in each of these three 17.52
areas and the related four Standards of Good Regulation for fitness to 
practise. 

(i) Quality of decision making  
 In addition to the evidence that the NMC submits to us during the annual 17.53

performance review process, we assess the quality of the NMC’s decision 
making in fitness to practise through our audits of a sample of 100 cases that 
do not proceed to a final fitness to practise hearing and through our reviews 
of the final decision made at a fitness to practise hearings – we carried out 
1,643 reviews of final decisions in 2012/13.

 In the 2011/12 performance review we noted that the NMC was not meeting 17.54
the 4th and 8th Standards of Good Regulation for fitness to practise, both of 
which relate to the quality of decision making. We acknowledge the steps the 
NMC has taken to improve its decision making during 2012/13 by enhancing 
its quality assurance arrangements and by delivering training to its fitness to 
practise panellists. We have seen evidence of some improvement during 
2012/13 in the quality of decision making in some cases that we have 
reviewed.     

All fitness to practise complaints are reviewed on receipt and serious cases 
are prioritised and where appropriate referred to an interim orders panel (4th
standard) 

 In February 2012, a rule change enabled the NMC to streamline its 17.55
processes for applying for an interim order to be imposed – cases can now 
be referred directly to an investigating committee (IC) panel to consider 
making an interim order application. The NMC had a process in place in 

                                           
33  See para 8.27 of the July 2012 Strategic Review of the Nursing and Midwifery Council, see footnote 

28 
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January 2011 that required risk assessments to be conducted although these 
were not consistently being recorded. The NMC amended its process so that 
from February 2012 there was a requirement for risk assessments to be 
recorded in every case. In our audit of cases closed at the initial stages of the 
NMC’s fitness to practise process in 2012 we audited eight cases which had 
been opened after February 2012. We were pleased to find that risk 
assessments had been completed in all eight cases, demonstrating 
compliance with the process. We will check for continued compliance with 
the completion of risk assessments in our next audit in 2013.  

 In the period from April 2012 to March 2013 the NMC applied to the High 17.56
Court for extensions to interim orders that had previously been imposed in 
381 cases. This represents an increase in the number of such High Court 
applications compared to 2011/12. We are concerned that the ongoing 
delays with progressing the fitness to practise caseload have necessitated 
such a high number of applications for extensions of interim orders (which by 
definition are only imposed in cases which involve allegations that are 
serious enough for a panel to decide that an interim order is necessary for 
public protection). In its submission for the 2011/12 performance review the 
NMC stated that it expected there to be a decrease in the number of 
applications for extensions of interim orders, as a result of its increased 
hearings capacity from January 2012. In such circumstances, a failure to 
complete the fitness to practise process before the expiry of the interim order 
could leave the public exposed to the risk of harm. 
It is of concern that the NMC’s prediction has proved to be inaccurate and 17.57
that the number of applications to the High Court for extensions of interim 
orders has increased rather than decreased during 2012/13. The NMC has 
told us that this is due to greater numbers of interim orders being imposed on 
cases. We do not find that this explanation is reasonable however. This 
explanation would only make sense if the additional volume of interim orders 
being imposed were being imposed for shorter periods meaning that they 
would add to the tally of those needing High Court extensions. We note that 
the NMC is encouraging its panels to impose interim orders for at least 18 
months to take into account the time needed for the NMC to carry out its 
investigation.   

 A large number of applications for High Court extensions indicates that cases 17.58
were not prioritised properly on receipt and progressed. The failure to make 
improvements with the high numbers of interim orders that require High Court 
extensions indicates that this standard is not yet met.  

All fitness to practise decisions made at the initial and final stages of the 
process are well reasoned, consistent, protect the public and maintain 
confidence in the profession (8th standard) 

 We note evidence of some improvement during 2012/13 in the quality of 17.59
decision making in a number of cases. However we have not yet seen good 
quality decision making being sustained consistently across the caseload.
Our reviews of final decisions made by the NMC’s fitness to practise panels 
continue to generate learning points for the NMC’s Fitness to Practise Team 
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and for the Fitness to Practise Panels, that relate to avoidable procedural 
errors, as well as the quality of the panels’ decision making.
In our audit of the cases closed at the initial stages of the NMC’s fitness to 17.60
practise process34 in 2012 we found that, ‘there was inadequate information 
gathering, giving rise to the risk that a robust investigation was not carried out 
before closing individual cases, insufficient explanations or inaccurate details 
being provided in decision letters sent to registrants and complainants, with 
the result that some may not have fully understood the reasons for the 
decisions made by the NMC and some may have been left with the 
perception that the quality of the investigation was not robust.’

 We therefore find that the 8th Standard of Good Regulation is not yet met. 17.61
We will look for evidence of continuing and consistent improvements to the 
quality of the NMC’s decision making at the initial stages of its fitness to 
practise process in our next audit, (scheduled for the summer of 2013), and 
we will monitor evidence of consistent improvements to the quality of 
decision making at final fitness to practise hearings through our review of 
each decision. We will also follow up on this in next year’s performance 
review. 

(ii) Timeliness of fitness to practise activities 

Fitness to practise cases are dealt with as quickly as possible taking into 
account the complexity and type of case and the conduct of both sides. 
Delays do not result in harm or potential harm to patients. Where necessary 
the regulator protects the public by means of interim orders (6th standard) 

 Delays in progressing casework can lead to risks for patient safety and public 17.62
protection if they mean that a registrant is permitted to continue to practise 
unrestricted when they are not safe to do so. Delays with progressing 
casework can also lead to a loss of public confidence in regulation. In the 
2011/12 performance review we noted that the delays we had identified in 
the NMC’s casework progression appeared to be due to ineffective case 
management, human error and inadequate internal oversight of 
investigations. In our audit of the cases closed at the initial stages of the 
NMC’s FTP process in 2012 we also found delays in the progression of 
cases as well as a lack of active case management.

 In 2012/13 the NMC has undertaken a significant amount of activity aimed at 17.63
improving case progression. This included a significant increase in the 
volume of final fitness to practise panel hearings scheduled to be held each 
day from 16 per day in September 2012 to an estimated 22 hearings per day 
by the second quarter of 2013.  

 In January 2013 the NMC had 584 cases which were received before 17.64
January 2011. The NMC anticipates that all of these cases will be concluded 
by autumn 2013.  

                                           
34  See footnote 32.  
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 We note that during 2012/13 the NMC has successfully reduced the number 17.65
of cases that are more than three years old (it has reduced the total by 51), 
although there has also been an increase in the number of cases that are 
between two and three years old (an increase of four cases). 

 Average caseloads within the Screening Team have reduced from 101 (as 17.66
we reported on in 2011/12) to 83 (as at September 2012). Case Investigation 
Team members currently have average caseloads of 17 to 25. The average 
caseloads for the Case Preparation Teams (which prepare cases for 
adjudication) remain at 124 although it is anticipated that this number will 
reduce once staff are fully trained. High caseloads have an impact on the 
ability to progress cases and on customer service and we encourage the 
NMC to continue to review its teams’ caseloads and the resources available 
to them. 
We note below the NMC’s performance in relation to the timeliness of fitness 17.67
to practise casework and some of its own KPIs: 

The NMC is not meeting its KPI for progressing 90% of investigations 
within 12 months although the average length of time taken to investigate 
has decreased. In December 2012 the average length of an investigation 
was 10 months and this has reduced considerably from 22 months two 
years ago which is a positive development 

There has been a reduction in the median time taken from the final 
Investigating Committee decision to the final fitness to practise hearing 
decision by 13 weeks (from 48 weeks in the 2011/12 performance review 
to 35 weeks in 2012/13) and this is a positive development  

In its Council papers the NMC has advised its Council that it is unlikely to 
achieve its target for progressing all cases to the first day of the final 
fitness to practise hearing (once the referral to the fitness to practise 
panel had been made) within six months until December 2014. In March 
2013, the NMC was progressing cases to the first day of the final fitness 
to practise hearing within 8.4 months for all cases and 40% of all cases 
were progressed within six months.  

 Due to our concerns about the large number of cases that await a final 17.68
hearing, as well as the NMC’s failure to achieve its own KPIs, we have 
concluded that this standard is not yet met.  

(iii) Customer care 

All parties to a fitness to practise case are kept updated on the progress of 
their case and supported to participate effectively in the process (7th
standard) 

 The NMC has improved the timeliness of its decision letters to interested 17.69
parties during part of the 2012/13 period, although its performance is 
inconsistent:  

Investigation Committee decision letters were sent out within five days in 
98 to100% cases between September 2012 and February 2013. However 
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we note that in December 2012, performance dropped considerably and 
only 26% of letters were sent within five days   

Adjudication decision letters were sent within 5 days in 96 – 99% cases 
between September 2012 and February 2013. However we note that in
January 2013, 80% of letters were sent within five days. 

 The NMC has carried out a number of activities aimed at improving customer 17.70
service. Customer service standards were first introduced in August 2011, 
including a standard requiring customer service feedback forms to be sent to 
all parties. During our audit of the cases closed at the initial stages of the 
NMC’s fitness to practise process in 2012, we identified at least three cases 
in which such forms had not been sent out. At that time the NMC admitted 
that staff had not routinely been sending the forms out. The NMC said it had 
reminded managers of their responsibilities for case updates to be provided 
to the parties. In the absence of an automated system to ensure that updates 
are provided, in the absence of quality assurance processes to check that 
this has been done and with individual caseloads remaining high, in our view, 
it is unlikely that simply reminding managers about the requirements will be 
effective.  

 The NMC has also told us that it has introduced new roles to increase the 17.71
support available to witnesses at fitness to practise hearings. However, 
recent feedback we have received complained of delays and frustrations for 
witnesses attending NMC hearings and it appears that the steps the NMC 
has already taken have not resolved all the issues. 

 We acknowledge that when the NMC achieves consistent improvement with 17.72
the progression of its casework and the quality of its decision making those 
improvements should contribute to an increased level of customer 
satisfaction.  

 In view of the number of continuing weaknesses with regard to customer 17.73
service, we have concluded that the 7th standard is still not met. We 
recommend that the NMC considers how its quality assurance framework 
includes how to identify measurable improvement in the quality of its 
customer service for the purposes of next year’s performance review. 

Quality assurance 
 In the 2011/12 performance review we noted that the NMC had continued 17.74

with its ‘Serious Event Reviews’ (which are conducted whenever a required 
action is not undertaken, eg when an update is not provided within six weeks 
or when no action is taken on a case for 12 weeks). In the 2011/12 
performance review report and in our audit report in 2012 we recommended 
that the NMC should review the value of its Serious Event Reviews for driving 
improvements. We have not seen evidence that the Serious Event Reviews 
are a sufficiently robust mechanism to consistently prevent the recurrence of 
errors either during the performance review process or as a result of our 
audits of the cased closed at the initial stages of the NMC’s fitness to practise 
process in 2011 and 2012.  
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 In order for quality assurance to be effective it is important to have systems 17.75
for the reliable and consistent reporting of management information as well 
as agreement about what ‘quality’ looks like, how it can be measured and the 
nature, extent and location of current weaknesses. In the 2011/12 
performance review we noted weaknesses with the NMC’s management 
information. In 2012/13 the NMC has commissioned an external audit of its 
management information to improve the quality of management data. In 
doing so the NMC should be in a better position to judge whether its KPIs are 
realistic and achievable.  

 However, we note that the NMC does not appear to take into account its own 17.76
processes when it is setting KPIs. For example, during 2012/13 the NMC 
introduced a KPI requiring interim orders to be imposed within 28 days in 
80% of cases. This KPI was not met between September and December
2012 (performance ranged from 53% - 72% during that period). The NMC 
has said that it had not achieved the KPI partly as a result of difficulties with 
gathering evidence and scheduling in some cases, but mainly because a 
large number of interim order hearings are scheduled and do not go ahead. 
We note that the NMC did meet the KPI in March 2013. Given it has so 
recently met the KPI we will look again to see if it is consistently being 
achieved in next year’s performance review. 

 Our conclusion is that the NMC has not yet achieved adequate and 17.77
consistent improvements in the quality of decision making, timeliness and 
customer service and it does not meet all of the related Standards of Good 
Regulation. In our view, improving its quality assurance arrangements should 
help the NMC to identify its areas of ongoing weakness and therefore to 
improve compliance with its processes. It is essential that the NMC puts in 
place adequate systems to generate relevant management data, that it 
identifies appropriate and measurable objectives and that it makes best use 
of quality assurance to identify ongoing weaknesses so that these can be 
addressed and to motivate and support its staff and panellists to consistently 
achieve acceptable standards in decision making, timeliness and customer 
service. The NMC has recently appointed a staff member to lead work on
strengthening quality assurance within the whole organisation. We hope to 
be in a position to report on evidence of consistent improvements in next 
year’s performance review. 
In the 2011/12 performance review we also raised concerns about the NMC’s 17.78
information governance arrangements. We provide an update about the 
NMC’s performance below. 

Information about fitness to practise cases is securely retained (10th
standard) 

 In the 2011/12 performance review we noted that there were 27 breaches of 17.79
information security by the NMC during 2011. Between April and September 
2012 there were a further 23 information security incidents. Information 
security incidents impact on public confidence in the regulator.  

 We note that one information security incident during 2011 led to the NMC 17.80
being fined £150,000 by the Information Commissioner’s Office (in February 
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2013) for losing three DVDs which contained evidence, including sensitive 
personal information, relating to a disciplinary investigation. This was 
considered by the Information Commissioner’s Office to be a serious breach 
of the Data Protection Act 1998 which includes a requirement that 
organisations have, ‘appropriate technical and organisational measures 
against unauthorised or unlawful processing of personal data and against 
accidental loss or destruction of, or damage to, personal data’. The NMC had 
voluntarily reported the breach, co-operated fully with the Information 
Commissioner’s Office and carried out an investigation including searching 
for the missing DVDs. It was nevertheless criticised by the Information 
Commissioner’s Officer for failing to take any measures (such as encryption) 
to protect against accidental loss, given the harm that might result and the 
nature of the data concerned. While the NMC’s reaction to the incident was 
positive, the incident itself raises concerns about the robustness of the 
NMC’s information governance arrangements. We have therefore concluded 
that this standard is not yet met.  

 The NMC has aimed to improve its performance against this standard during 17.81
2012/13 by completing a security gap analysis in September 2012, producing 
an improvement plan and strengthening its policies. We hope that during 
2013/14 the embedding of the new policies and the implementation of the 
improvement plan will ensure that the number of incidents reduces. We will 
continue to monitor the NMC’s performance against this standard.

New case management initiatives 
 During 2012/13 the NMC has introduced two initiatives which have the 17.82

potential to significantly affect both public protection and the maintenance of 
public confidence.  We will therefore look in some detail at the evidence of
the impact of these initiatives in next year’s performance review:

Consensual panel determinations – whereby parties agree a statement of 
facts, an admission that the registrant’s fitness to practise is impaired and 
a proposed sanction. The agreement is then considered by a fitness to 
practise panel which has complete discretion about whether to accept the 
proposal or to require a hearing to be held. This was the subject of a 
public consultation in the summer of 2012 and the NMC’s Council 
authorised its implementation in January 2013. We will review all such 
decisions using our powers under Section 29 of the NHS Reform and 
Health Care Professions Act 2002 

Voluntary removal from the register – whereby a nurse or midwife who 
admits that their fitness to practise is impaired and who does not intend to 
continue practising can apply to a fitness to practise panel to authorise 
their removal from the register without a full public hearing of the 
allegations against them. The NMC consulted on this initiative between 
August and October 2011 and the NMC’s Council approved 
implementation in September 2012. We will review a sample of these 
decisions in our next audit of the cases closed at the initial stages of the 
NMC’s fitness to practise process in 2013.
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 The NMC will complete a full evaluation of the effectiveness of these two 17.83
initiatives by September 2013 and we will follow up on this in next year’s 
performance review.  

 As well as looking for evidence of improvement in our next audit of the cases 17.84
closed at the initial stages of the NMC’s fitness to practise process in 2013 
and in our ongoing review of final fitness to practise panel determinations, we 
will continue to work with the NMC during 2013/14 to monitor the progress it 
makes in improving its performance in the areas we have highlighted. 
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18. The Pharmaceutical Society of Northern 
Ireland (PSNI)
Overall assessment 

 While meeting its core responsibilities across the regulatory functions, the 18.1
PSNI has concentrated much of its activity on planning, preparing for and 
implementing the changes to its governing legislation that came into force on 
1 October 2012.  

 The PSNI has said that the Pharmacy (1976 Order) (Amendment) Order 18.2
(Northern Ireland) 2012 initiated the largest changes in its history. Until 2012 
the PSNI’s statutory power to impose sanctions in fitness to practise cases 
was limited to removing registrants from its register. The legislative changes 
introduced in 2012 mean that the PSNI is, like the majority of the other 
regulators that we oversee, now able to impose a range of sanctions 
following a finding that a registrant’s fitness to practise is impaired.  This 
strengthens the PSNI’s ability to protect the public, uphold professional 
standards and maintain public confidence in the regulation of pharmacy in 
Northern Ireland. It also allows it to respond proportionately to issues of 
conduct and competence. Another major change brought in by the new 
legislation is the requirement for all registrants to complete continuing 
professional development (CPD), which will become effective from June 
2013.  

 We welcome the introduction of the new legislation and consider that the 18.3
resulting changes should allow the PSNI to protect the public more 
effectively. We discuss these changes in more detail below. We will of course 
look carefully in our audit of the cases closed at the initial stages of the 
PSNI’s fitness to practise process in 2013 and in next year’s performance 
review at how the PSNI is using its new powers. 

Guidance and standards 
 The PSNI continues to meet all the Standards of Good Regulation for 18.4

guidance and standards.  
 Examples of its activities during 2012/13 are set out below:   18.5

The production of revised Standards for Pharmacist Prescribers
(published in April 2013). This should help registrants to comply with 
changes to the legislation governing the professional administration of 
controlled drugs by pharmacists in Northern Ireland  

The publication of a new standards document, Standards for Internet 
Pharmacies, in October 2012. The PSNI anticipates that this will help to 
maintain public confidence in the relatively new area of the provision of 
pharmacy services via the internet. It sets out the standards pharmacists 
must comply with when providing pharmacy services via the internet and 
therefore contributes to the PSNI’s role in public protection
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Conducting surveys of pharmacy employers and the public to gauge 
attitudes about when and how registrants should raise concerns about 
other health professionals. The employers’ survey showed that 38% of 
the employers who responded believed no action should be taken against 
registrants who do not report a concern about another healthcare 
professional. In response to this finding, the PSNI issued revised 
guidance on raising concerns in February 2013. The revised document 
contains an added emphasis on registrants’ responsibilities for reporting 
concerns about other health professionals and highlights that any failure 
to report concerns could result in action being taken by the PSNI against 
the non-reporter. We consider the results of the survey may reflect an 
attitude which could present a risk to public confidence. The PSNI will 
conduct a further survey of registrants later in 2013.   

 In next year’s performance review we will follow up on:  18.6
The consideration of engagement strategies used by other regulators to 
forge closer links with a wider range of stakeholders, which the PSNI 
hopes will encourage greater patient and public participation in the 
development of standards and additional guidance 

The planned review of the 2009 Code of Ethics during 2013 to ensure that 
the code remains relevant to the changes in legislation that were 
introduced in October 2012  

Any action taken by the PSNI following the results of the planned survey 
of registrants’ attitudes to raising concerns about other health 
professionals. 

Education and training 
 The PSNI meets four of the five Standards of Good Regulation for education 18.7

and training.  
 In November 2012 the GPhC published procedures with the PSNI for the 18.8

mutual recognition of initial education and training. This means that both the 
GPhC and the PSNI will recognise the other’s pre-registration training and 
master’s degrees although the registrant must complete their training and 
registration assessment in one jurisdiction to be eligible for recognition by the 
other. This is an improvement as it should help to maintain consistency with 
the standards required for registration as a pharmacist throughout the UK.

 In 2011/12 we reported that the PSNI did not meet the 2nd standard (through 18.9
the regulator’s continuing professional development/revalidation systems, 
registrants maintain the standards required to stay fit to practise). The 
legislative changes that took place in 2012 place the PSNI in a better position 
to be able to meet this standard. CPD of itself does not demonstrate 
continuing fitness to practise in our view although it is a necessary 
requirement. We set out further details about the PSNI’s performance against 
this standard below.  
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Continuing fitness to practise 
 The previous legislative framework did not make the completion of CPD 18.10

mandatory (although the PSNI’s voluntary CPD scheme had good rates of 
participation from registrants). In preparation for the introduction of 
compulsory CPD, during 2012/13 the PSNI has completed a review of its 
CPD processes and publicly consulted on a new CPD framework and 
standards. The PSNI trained CPD assessors in May 2012 and has reported
improvements in the consistency of their subsequent assessments. We note 
that the first registrants must submit their CPD portfolios by June 2014.  

 Currently there is no timeframe for the introduction of a scheme of continuing 18.11
fitness to practise. While the PSNI’s Council has begun consideration of the 
options, the changes that would be needed to the legislative framework are 
being considered by the Department of Health, Social Services and Public 
Safety for Northern Ireland (DHSSPSNI).  

 In the 2011/12 performance review we found that this standard was not met 18.12
because the PSNI did not have a system in place (either by means of CPD or 
by means of revalidation) for assuring itself of the continuing fitness to 
practise of registrants albeit that this was partly due to the confines of the 
legislative framework. The PSNI has not yet implemented the legislative 
framework so, while the legislative framework puts the PSNI in a better 
position to be able to meet this standard, this standard is not yet met.  

 We recommend that the PSNI and the DHSSPSNI take into account our 18.13
paper on continuing fitness to practise35 in developing its scheme. In this 
paper we take the view that regulators should be able to provide assurances 
of the continuing fitness to practise of their registrants by means of a risk-
based approach. We also find that this can, and in most cases should, be 
achieved by means other than formal revalidation (where revalidation is 
defined as a periodic assessment of fitness to practise). 

Standards for pre-registration training 
 The PSNI has adapted its guidance on pre-registration training and 18.14

formulated Standards for Pre-registration Training in August 2012, thereby 
making the requirements compulsory for all trainees, prospective trainees, 
pre-registration tutors and employing organisations. The PSNI has 
implemented an online portfolio system for 2012/13 for pre-registration 
trainees, which mirrors the compulsory CPD submission system for 
registrants. It is aimed at encouraging trainees to undertake CPD and apply
standards from the outset of their careers.  
During 2012/13 the PSNI adopted the General Pharmaceutical Council’s 18.15
(GPhC) Future Pharmacists: Standards for the initial education and training 
of pharmacists in Great Britain and agreed a joint accreditation process for 
master’s degree programmes with the GPhC, to include a six-year 

                                           
35 CHRE, 2012. An Approach to Assuring Continuing Fitness to Practise Based on Right-Touch 

Regulation Principles. London: CHRE. Available at: 
http://www.professionalstandards.org.uk/docs/psa-library/november-2012---right-touch-continuing-
fitness-to-practise.pdf
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accreditation cycle and three yearly practice placement reviews. This joint 
working between the two regulators for pharmacy in the UK should enhance 
public protection and public confidence by ensuring that standards for 
pharmacy education and training continue to be consistently applied 
throughout the UK. 
In next year’s performance review we will follow up on:18.16

The effectiveness of the PSNI’s recently introduced online portfolio 
system for pre-registration trainees 

The implementation of the PSNI’s compulsory CPD scheme. We note that 
registrants will be required to submit information about CPD by June 2014 

Any outcomes of the work with the DHSSPSNI about how to put in place 
a system to assure themselves about the continuing fitness to practise of 
registrants. 

Registration 
 The PSNI continues to meet all the Standards of Good Regulation for 18.17

registration.  
 In the 2011/12 performance review we reported that the PSNI did not permit 18.18

applicants for registration to rely upon a self-declaration about their health but 
instead required verification by a doctor. We did not consider that to be a 
proportionate or right-touch approach. We are pleased to report that the 
PSNI has changed its policy and began permitting self-declaration of health 
matters from 1 January 2013.  

Publishing sanctions online 
The PSNI has adopted, as an interim measure, the GPhC’s policy on the 18.19
publication of fitness to practise information on the public-facing register, 
pending the outcome of a public consultation by the PSNI on the disclosure 
and publication of fitness to practise information on its register. We note that 
details of individuals who have been removed (or struck off) from the register 
are not currently displayed. We think this information should be publicly 
available. 

 The new legislation provides the PSNI with the opportunity to provide full and 18.20
comprehensive historical and current fitness to practise information about its 
registrants on its register, including details of individuals who have been 
removed. Our view is that it is in the public interest for the PSNI’s register to 
display full information about a registrant’s fitness to practise history and that 
registers should provide comprehensive information that reflects all current 
sanctions including suspensions and those who have been struck off. 36 This 
will improve transparency and help to maintain public confidence in 
regulation. 

                                           
36 CHRE, 2010. Health Professional Regulators’ Registers: Maximising their contribution to public 

protection and patient safety.  London: CHRE. Available at: 
http://www.professionalstandards.org.uk/docs/psa-library/registers---good-practice-report.pdf?sfvrsn=0
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In next year’s performance review we will follow up on:  18.21
The outcomes of the public consultation on the disclosure and publication 
of fitness to practise information on the public-facing register  

The outcomes of audits of its registration decisions. These were 
conducted following the PSNI’s observations of the Pharmaceutical 
Society of Ireland’s (the professional regulator for pharmacists in the 
Republic of Ireland) audit processes with a view to adapting these for its 
own purposes. We note that the PSNI is now conducting internal audits of 
its registration decisions  

The outcomes of the work to consider the value of the PSNI holding a 
voluntary register for pharmacy technicians in Northern Ireland. Surveys 
of the public and employers were conducted in 2012 and we note that the 
PSNI’s Council will consider the issue in 2013, following the outcomes of 
further research on the costs and benefits of holding such a register. 

Fitness to practise 
 The PSNI is currently meeting nine out of 10 of the Standards of Good 18.22

Regulation for fitness to practise. In our 2011/12 performance review we 
acknowledged that the legislative framework that was then in place limited 
the PSNI’s ability to meet all of the standards and in particular the three 
highlighted below.  

 We consider that the PSNI now has the legislative framework in place to 18.23
enable it to meet all the Standards of Good Regulation for fitness to practise. 
We will look for improvements to the PSNI’s fitness to practise process and 
improvement with meeting these standards during our audit of the initial 
stages of the PSNI’s fitness to practise process in September 2013, as part 
of our reviews of all final fitness to practise hearing decisions and in next 
year’s performance review. 
We set out more information below about the new changes and the PSNI’s 18.24
performance against the following three Standards of Good Regulation that 
we found were not met in the 2011/12 performance review.  

All fitness to practise complaints are reviewed on receipt and serious 
cases are prioritised and where appropriate referred to an interim 
orders panel (4th standard) 

 Under its previous legislative framework the PSNI had no powers to impose 18.25
interim orders to restrict a registrant’s ability to practise while it investigated 
fitness to practise allegations. The only measure the PSNI could take was to 
prioritise the most serious cases to ensure that they were investigated as 
swiftly as possible.  

 The legislation that came into effect in 2012 gives the PSNI the power to 18.26
impose interim orders and thereby allows the PSNI to ensure the public is 
protected from any registrant who might pose a risk, during the period in 
which the allegations are under investigation. The Statutory Committee (the 
committee responsible for imposing interim orders and final fitness to practise 
hearings) imposed the PSNI’s first interim order in November 2012.
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The new legislation also specifically provides that the PSNI’s registrar can 18.27
raise a concern, issue advice and refer cases to its FTP panels. During 
2012/13, 18% of fitness to practise allegations were initiated by the registrar 
and we consider that this indicates that the PSNI is now better able to take 
prompt regulatory action to protect the public even in cases where a concern 
is not raised by a third party. While the new legislation has allowed 
improvements in the PSNI’s performance against this standard only one 
interim order was imposed since the legislation came into effect; we are 
therefore unable to confirm whether this standard is met. We will consider 
this further during our audit of the PSNI’s handling of the cases closed at the 
initial stages of its fitness to practise process and in next year’s performance 
review. 

The fitness to practise process is transparent, fair, proportionate and 
focused on public protection (5th standard) 

 The legislative changes that took effect in October 2012 have aligned the 18.28
PSNI’s fitness to practise framework with those of other health professional 
regulators. Some of the changes it introduced will support the PSNI’s ability 
to fulfil its role related to public protection – notably the legislation confers a 
power to impose an interim order on registrants restricting their practice until 
fitness to practise proceedings have concluded, specifying that ill health can 
be a ground on which a registrant’s fitness to practise may be impaired and 
providing the PSNI’s fitness to practise committees with a fuller range of 
sanctions (rather than the single sanction of removal from the register that 
was available under the previous framework). The introduction of a wider 
range of sanctions allows the PSNI to act fairly and proportionately when 
imposing sanctions. Over time we will check whether these sanctions are 
being applied appropriately and report on this. 

 We acknowledge that previously the PSNI’s Scrutiny Committee (the 18.29
committee that decides whether to refer cases to the Statutory Committee) 
had no formal powers to refer fitness to practise cases to the Statutory 
Committee for a final hearing. We note there has been a 70% increase in the 
number of cases considered at the Scrutiny Committee stage, in comparison 
with the same period during 2011/12. We consider that this increase in 
referrals suggests that the new legislation is strengthening the regulatory 
framework for public protection.  

 We will look for evidence that the PSNI is operating its new fitness to practise 18.30
framework appropriately, fairly and proportionately through our reviews of all 
final fitness to practise decisions, as well as during our audits of cases closed 
at the initial stages of the fitness to practise process. We note that the PSNI’s 
annual fitness to practise report is publicly available. The PSNI’s website also 
provides information about the types of cases that the PSNI can and cannot 
deal with and advice about the fitness to practise process, how to complain 
and how learning feeds into the fitness to practise process. Based on this 
transparency as well as the PSNI’s exercise of its new fitness to practise 
powers (to impose interim orders, consider health cases, impose a broad 
range of sanctions and refer a greater number of cases to its Fitness to 
Practise Committees) we find that this standard is currently being met.  
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Fitness to practise cases are dealt with as quickly as possible taking 
into account the complexity and type of case and the conduct of both 
sides. Delays do not result in harm or potential harm to patients. Where 
necessary the regulator protects the public by means of interim orders 
(6th standard)  

 In our 2011/12 performance review we reported concerns about weaknesses 18.31
in the timeliness of case handling at the initial stages of the PSNI’s fitness to 
practise process. 

 As set out above, following the implementation of the new legislative 18.32
framework in 2012, the PSNI has begun to impose interim orders, which 
allows it to minimise the risk of harm to the public resulting from delays with 
the conclusion of the fitness to practise proceedings.   

 Key performance indicators for all stages of the fitness to practise process 18.33
were embedded in January 2013 and performance against these is reported 
to the Fitness to Practise Committee on a monthly basis. Monitoring key 
performance indicators helps provide assurance to the Council that fitness to 
practise cases are handled with the appropriate urgency and that this has 
obvious benefits for maintaining confidence in the PSNI’s system of 
regulation.  

 During 2012/13 there have been reductions in the median times taken to 18.34
process cases as follows: 

The median time from receipt of the initial complaint to the final fitness to 
practise hearing has reduced from 119 to 65 weeks 

The median time from receipt of the initial complaint to the final Scrutiny 
Committee decision has reduced from 46 to 12 weeks 

The number of cases that have been open for more than two years has 
reduced from four to one. 

 We are pleased to note improvements with the progression of cases through 18.35
the fitness to practise process following the implementation of the new 
legislation and the co-operative joint working between the PSNI, the 
DHSSPSNI and the Health and Social Care Board (each of which participate 
in the Pharmacy Network Group).  

 Based on the improvements noted above, we find that this standard is 18.36
currently met.  

 Currently there is limited supporting evidence to conclude that the 18.37
introduction of new legislation has led to improvements in the PSNI’s fitness 
to practise function, given its very recent implementation combined with the 
PSNI’s relatively small fitness to practise caseload. We will therefore follow 
up on the PSNI’s performance against the Standards of Good Regulation for 
fitness to practise and will be considering the following in next year’s 
performance review: 

The numbers of interim orders made compared with the numbers of 
applications made 
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Details of the PSNI’s monitoring of the use and effectiveness of its risk 
assessment and prioritisation processes 

Details of how the PSNI is using learning to improve the fitness to practise 
process and its various regulatory functions 

The PSNI’s annual report on its fitness to practise function 

The time taken by the PSNI to process cases and the processes it uses to 
prioritise cases and to ensure cases are progressed without undue delay. 

In next year’s performance review, we would also like to follow up on how 18.38
involvement with the Pharmacy Network Group and with other stakeholders 
enhances the effectiveness of the PSNI’s new fitness to practise framework. 
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19. Conclusions and recommendations
 We continue to be satisfied that most of the regulators are performing well 19.1

across their regulatory functions.  
 We have drawn attention, at the end of each of the sections within each 19.2

regulator’s performance review report, to the areas of that regulator’s work 
which we intend to follow up on in next year’s performance review. We have 
also included, within each regulator’s performance review report, any 
recommendations about areas of concern. In addition to this we make the 
following general recommendations:  

For the regulators 
 We recommend that the regulators should: 19.3

Review this year’s performance review report as a whole, taking account 
of our views, and consider whether they can learn and improve from the 
practices of the other regulators 

Address any areas of concern that are highlighted in this year’s 
performance review report 

Ensure that their Councils review and discuss the performance review 
report in a public Council meeting. 

For the Authority 
 We will continue to review and refine the approach we take to undertaking 19.4

the performance review process. We will consult on any proposed changes 
during 2013.  

 The Mid Staffordshire NHS Foundation Trust public inquiry report makes 19.5
recommendations (indirectly and directly) that are relevant to the regulators 
we oversee and we will monitor the regulators’ responses and report on this 
in next year’s performance review.

For the Departments of Health in the UK 
 During 2012 we have, at the request of the Department of Health in England,19.6

reviewed a number of proposals and suggestions from seven of the 
regulators we oversee for changes to their primary legislation through 
Section 60 orders.37 We were aware that many of the proposals we 
considered have been discussed by the regulators and the Department of 
Health for some time. We were asked to consider and prioritise those that are 
required to protect patients and the public, improve the efficiency and 
effectiveness of the regulatory body, are consistent with government policy 
and do not pre-empt or contradict any proposals from the Law Commissions. 
We identified a number of changes that in our view fulfilled these criteria, 
including a number that would close potentially serious loopholes in current 

                                           
37  A Section 60 order allows Parliament to make changes to the regulators’ legislation without the need 

for an Act of Parliament. They can take up to two years to be approved.  
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public protection arrangements. We recommended that the Department of 
Health in England considers these as candidates for a Section 60 order 
ahead of any changes that may be anticipated arising from the Law 
Commissions’ review. 

 In May 2013 the Department wrote to all the regulators stating that it was 19.7
'seeking an early legislative opportunity to bring forward the draft legislation
being constructed by the Law Commission' and that consequently it would 
not proceed at this time with the recommendations we put forward for 
inclusion in Section 60 orders. We agree that the Law Commissions' 
legislative proposals are, if they can be implemented quickly, the best 
opportunity for reform. However we recommend that this matter is kept under 
review by the Department and devolved administrations as the gaps in the 
regulators' powers to protect the public and do so efficiently and effectively 
remain. 
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20. Annex 1: Index of regulated health and 
care professions
Regulator Regulated profession

General Chiropractic Council Chiropractors

General Dental Council

Dentists
Dental hygienists
Dental therapists
Clinical dental technicians
Orthodontic therapists
Dental nurses
Dental technicians

General Medical Council Doctors

General Optical Council Dispensing opticians
Optometrists

General Osteopathic Council Osteopaths

General Pharmaceutical Council Pharmacists
Pharmacy technicians

Health and Care Professions 
Council

Arts therapists
Biomedical scientists
Chiropodists
Clinical scientists
Dieticians
Hearing aid dispensers
Occupational therapists
Operating department practitioners
Orthoptists
Orthotists
Paramedics
Physiotherapists
Podiatrists
Practitioner psychologists
Prosthetists
Radiographers
Social workers in England
Speech and language therapists

Nursing and Midwifery Council Nurses
Midwives

Pharmaceutical Society of 
Northern Ireland Pharmacists
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21. Annex 2: Our Standards of Good 
Regulation
Introduction 

 Our Standards of Good Regulation cover the regulators’ four core functions. 21.1
These are:  

Setting and promoting guidance and standards for the profession(s) 

Setting standards for and quality assuring the provision of education and 
training 

Maintaining a register of professionals 

Taking action where a professional’s fitness to practise may be impaired. 
 The Standards of Good Regulation are the basis of our performance review 21.2

process. They describe the outcomes of good regulation for each of the 
regulators’ functions. They also set out how good regulation promotes and 
protects the health, safety and well-being of patients, service users and other 
members of the public and maintain public confidence in the profession. 

Using the Standards of Good Regulation in the Performance Review 
 We ask the regulators to submit evidence on whether they meet the 21.3

standards and how they have evaluated the impact of their work in promoting 
and protecting the public and maintaining public confidence in the profession. 
To help the regulators in drafting their submission we have suggested 
examples of the type of evidence that they could provide us with. We will also 
provide an evidence template for the regulators to complete. The suggested 
evidence may change over time.  
Once we have received the regulators’ evidence, we assess their 21.4
performance against the standards by: 

Identifying each regulator’s strengths 

Identifying any areas for improvement 

Identifying good practice and excellence. 
 We also ask the regulators at the beginning of their evidence (Section 1) to 21.5

comment on their overall performance by answering a set of questions.  
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22. Section 1: Overview
Introduction 
This section covers general issues relating to the regulators’ performance, 22.1
including how they have responded to last year’s review, how they comply 
with the principles of good regulation and their liaison with other bodies. 

Response to last year’s performance review
What consideration have you given to issues raised in the previous year’s 
performance review report including the adoption of any good practice?  

How have you addressed the areas for improvement identified in your 
individual performance review report? 

Where has your performance improved since last year?  

What areas for concern have you identified in each of the four functions 
and how have these been addressed? 

What areas of good practice have you identified in each of the four 
functions?  

Responding to change, learning and information 
How is learning from the following five areas taken into account in each of 
the functions: 

Other areas of your work such as fitness to practise, policy development 
or quality assurance of educational institutions 

Organisational complaints 

The outcomes of the Authority’s work 

Feedback from stakeholders from the four UK countries  

Public policy programme reports from the four UK countries 

How have you addressed information, other than formal fitness to practise 
complaints, which you may have received from other sources on possible 
failures in performance of organisations or individuals?  

How have you responded to changes in regulation or forthcoming 
changes in regulation? 

Liaison with other bodies 
How have you worked with service regulators, other regulatory bodies or 
other bodies with shared interests to: 

 Ensure that relevant intelligence is shared, within legislative 
requirements, on individuals or organisations? 

 Ensure that cross regulatory learning is shared? 
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23. Section 2: Guidance and standards
Introduction

 All of the regulators are responsible for publishing and promoting standards 23.1
of competence and conduct. These are the standards for safe and effective 
practice which every health and care professional should meet to become 
registered and to maintain their registration. They set out the quality of care 
that patients and service users should receive from health and care 
professionals.  

 Regulators also publish additional guidance to address specific or specialist 23.2
issues. These complement the regulators’ standards of competence and 
conduct. 

The standards of good regulation relating to guidance and standards 
Standards of competence and conduct reflect up-to-date practice and 
legislation. They prioritise patient safety and patient-centred care 

Additional guidance helps registrants apply the regulators’ standards of 
competence and conduct to specialist or specific issues including 
addressing diverse needs arising from patient-centred care 

In development and revision of guidance and standards, the regulator 
takes account of stakeholders’ views and experiences, external events, 
developments in the four UK countries, European and international 
regulation and learning from other areas of the regulators’ work 

The standards and guidance are published in accessible formats. 
Registrants, potential registrants, employers, patients, service users and
members of the public are able to find the standards and guidance 
published by the regulator and can find out about the action that can be 
taken if the standards and guidance are not followed.  

How does good regulation through standards and guidance promote 
and protect the health, safety and well-being of patients, service users 
and other members of the public and maintain public confidence in the 
profession? 

Provides a clear framework that health professionals in the UK and social 
workers in England should meet when providing care, treatment and 
services to patients and service users 

Provides a clear framework so that members of the public, service users 
and patients can hold registrants to account by raising concerns when the 
standards and guidance are not followed 

The standards and guidance meet the needs of relevant stakeholders. 
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What evidence could be provided? 
 We need to know: 23.3

How the regulators have met the Standards of Good Regulation

How they have evaluated the impact of their work in this area. 

 The following evidence could be provided: 23.4
The standards of competence and conduct and information on how they 
reflect up-to-date practice and legislation, prioritise patient safety and 
patient centred care 

Guidance produced or being developed and how this will help registrants 
apply the regulators’ standards of competence and conduct to particular 
issues  

Plans for reviewing or developing guidance and standards, including what 
stakeholders were approached and how their views and experiences 
were taken into account alongside external events and learning from 
other areas. The outcomes of the revision or development and how the 
learning from this work is used within and outside of the standards and 
guidance function 

Details of how the regulators ensure that the documents are 
understandable and accessible. For example, publication in different 
languages, easy read, plain English and circulation in GP practices and 
Citizen Advice Bureaux 

Evidence of work undertaken to take account of the developments in 
European and international regulation 

The mechanisms used by the regulator to assess how they are 
performing and how they use the results to improve their practices. 
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24. Section 3: Education and training
Introduction 

 The regulator has a role in ensuring that students and trainees obtain the 24.1
required skills and knowledge to be safe and effective. They also have a role 
in ensuring that, once registered, professionals remain up to date with 
evolving practices and continue to develop as practitioners.  

 As part of this work, the regulators quality assure and, where appropriate, 24.2
approve educational programmes which students must complete in order to 
be registered. Some also approve programmes for those already on the 
register who are undertaking continuing professional development, a 
particular qualification or specialist training.  

The standards of good regulation relating to education and training 
Standards for education and training are linked to standards for 
registrants. They prioritise patient and service user safety and patient and 
service user centred care. The process for reviewing or developing 
standards for education and training should incorporate the views and 
experiences of key stakeholders, external events and the learning from 
the quality assurance process 

Through the regulator’s continuing professional development/revalidation 
systems, registrants maintain the standards required to stay fit to practise 

The process for quality assuring education programmes is proportionate 
and takes account of the views of patients, service users, students and 
trainees. It is also focused on ensuring the education providers can 
develop students and trainees so that they meet the regulator’s standards 
for registration 

Action is taken if the quality assurance process identifies concerns about 
education and training establishments 

Information on approved programmes and the approval process is 
publicly available. 

How does good regulation through education and training promote and 
protect the health, safety and well-being of patients, service users and 
other members of the public and maintain public confidence in the 
profession? 

Assures the public that those who are registered have and/or continue to 
meet the regulator’s standards

Assures the public that those providing education and training to students, 
trainees and professionals give them the required skills and knowledge so 
that they can practise safely and effectively 

Effective stakeholder involvement in the education and training process 
increases everyone’s trust, confidence and knowledge of health 
professional regulation in the UK and the regulation of social workers in 
England.
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What evidence could be provided? 
 We need to know: 24.3

How the regulators have met the Standards of Good Regulation

How they have evaluated the impact of their work in this area. 
 The following evidence could be provided: 24.4

The standards to be met by students and how they link to the standards 
of competence and conduct for registrants 

Where available, evidence of the regulator’s mechanisms, which enable 
them to be aware of action taken by training establishments against 
students on fitness to practise issues and a system for learning from 
these outcomes. For example, are outcomes taken into account in the 
quality assurance process and revision of standards? 

The standards to be met by education and training providers, how these 
reflect patient and service user centred care and protect the public, and 
how they link to standards of competence and conduct for registrants 

Guidance given to education and training establishments to help ensure 
that disabled students do not face unnecessary barriers to successful 
careers in health in the UK or careers in social work in England  

The plans for reviewing or developing standards for students and 
education and training providers, including what stakeholders were 
approached, how their views and experiences and other areas of learning 
are taken into account. The outcomes of this work and how the learning 
from this work is used within and outside of the education function 

Details of the monitoring and approval processes for the education and 
training providers including how the views and experiences of 
stakeholders and other quality assuring bodies are taken into account 

Details of how many assessments were undertaken, how many concerns 
were identified through the quality assurance process and what action 
was taken to address these concerns 

Details of how stakeholders can access the regulator’s final assessments 
of education and training providers and the regulator’s approval process, 
for example, through publication on its website 

Details of the regulator’s revalidation proposals

Details of how the regulator ensures that continuing professional 
development is targeted towards the professional developing their skills 
and knowledge in their areas of practice and that public protection is 
prioritised. For example, how many audits were carried out, were issues 
identified and how were these addressed? 

The mechanisms used by the regulator to assess how they are 
performing and how they use the results to improve their practices. 
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25. Section 4: Registration
Introduction 

 In order for a health professional to practise legally in the UK, and for social 25.1
workers to practise legally in England, they must be registered with the 
relevant regulator. The regulators only register those professionals who meet 
their standards. The regulator is required to keep an up-to-date register of all 
the professionals it has registered. The register should include a record of 
any action taken against a professional that limits their entitlement to 
practise. 

The standards of good regulation relating to registration 
Only those who meet the regulator’s requirements are registered 

The registration process, including the management of appeals, is fair, 
based on the regulators’ standards, efficient, transparent, secure, and 
continuously improving  

Through the regulators’ registers, everyone can easily access information 
about registrants, except in relation to their health, including whether 
there are restrictions on their practice 

Employers are aware of the importance of checking a health 
professional’s registration in the UK or a social worker’s registration in 
England. Patients, service users and members of the public can find and 
check a health professional’s registration in the UK or a social worker’s 
registration in England 

Risk of harm to the public and of damage to public confidence in the 
profession related to non-registrants using a protected title or undertaking 
a protected act is managed in a proportionate and risk-based manner.  

How does good regulation through registration promote and protect the 
health, safety and well-being of patients, service users and other 
members of the public and maintain public confidence in the 
profession? 

Assures the public that professionals are regulated and are required to 
meet certain standards before they are able to provide care, treatment or 
services to them 

Informs the public of any limits imposed on the way a registered 
professional is allowed to practise 

Helps the public and others to identify and report those who practise 
illegally. 

What evidence could be provided? 
 We need to know: 25.2

How the regulators have met the Standards of Good Regulation

How they have evaluated the impact of their work in this area. 
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 The following evidence could be provided: 25.3
Details of the checks carried out by the regulator to ensure that only those 
who are fit to practise are registered including revalidation/CPD checks 

Details of the registration process, including the management of appeals 
and how the regulator ensures that applications are processed efficiently  

Evidence of activity undertaken to ensure that only EEA and international 
registrants that meet the regulators’ standards, within the legal 
framework, are registered 

The number of registration applications considered 

The number of appeals considered 

The number of appeals upheld 

How the case management system/process enables the collection and 
analysis of reliable data to ensure that there is no bias in the process, with 
evidence of this testing being carried out by the regulator  

How the processes and procedures in place are fair, objective and free 
from discrimination 

The level of detail included on the register and the reasons for this, for 
example, a council decision, legislation, rules or the regulator’s disclosure 
policy 

Evidence of the regulator’s compliance with its information security 
policies and with the relevant legislation. The number of data loss/breach 
incidents which have occurred 

The activities undertaken to communicate to employers the importance of 
checking that a professional is registered. Evidence of employers 
informing the regulators that a professional is no longer registered or not 
registered 

How the regulators make their registers available to the public, service 
users and patients. Evidence of the amount of contacts from public,
service users and patients about the regulators’ registers 

Activities undertaken to identify non-registrants using a protected title or 
undertaking a protected act. Details of proportionate and risk-based 
action taken to reduce the risk of harm to the public and damage to public 
confidence in the profession of non-registrants using a protected title or 
undertaking a protected act. For example, increasing public awareness of 
the importance of health and care professional registration and regulation, 
sending ‘cease and desist’ letters, and fostering relationships with 
organisations that have a shared interest in preventing title misuse 

The mechanisms used by the regulator to assess how it is performing and 
how it uses the results to improve their practices. 
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26. Section 5: Fitness to practise
Introduction 

 Anyone, including members of the public, employers and the regulators 26.1
themselves, can raise a concern about a registered professional’s conduct or 
competence that calls into question their fitness to practise. The regulators 
are required to take action under their fitness to practise procedures where 
they receive such concerns. This can lead to a variety of outcomes including 
no further action, a registered professional being prevented from practising or 
restrictions being imposed on their practice.  

The standards of good regulation relating to fitness to practise 
Anybody can raise a concern, including the regulator, about the fitness to 
practise of a registrant  

Information about fitness to practise concerns is shared by the regulator 
with employers/local arbitrators, system and other professional regulators 
within the relevant legal frameworks 

Where necessary, the regulator will determine if there is a case to answer 
and if so, whether the registrant’s fitness to practise is impaired or, where 
appropriate, direct the person to another relevant organisation 

All fitness to practise complaints are reviewed on receipt and serious 
cases are prioritised and where appropriate referred to an interim orders 
panel  

The fitness to practise process is transparent, fair, proportionate and 
focused on public protection  

Fitness to practise cases are dealt with as quickly as possible, taking into 
account the complexity and type of case and the conduct of both sides. 
Delays do not result in harm or potential harm to patients. Where 
necessary the regulator protects the public by means of interim orders 

All parties to a fitness to practise case are kept updated on the progress 
of their case and supported to participate effectively in the process 

All fitness to practise decisions made at the initial and final stages of the 
process are well reasoned, consistent, protect the public and maintain 
confidence in the profession 

All final fitness to practise decisions, apart from matters relating to the 
health of a professional, are published and communicated to relevant 
stakeholders 

Information about fitness to practise cases is securely retained. 
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How does good regulation through fitness to practise promote and 
protect the health, safety and well-being of patients, service users and 
other members of the public and maintain public confidence in the 
profession? 

Assures the public that action is taken against those professionals whose 
fitness to practise is impaired 

Assures the public that those whose fitness to practise is impaired are not 
able to continue practising or practising unrestricted 

Helps the public to understand why action is and is not taken to limit a 
health professional’s practice in the UK or a social worker’s practice in 
England 

A joined up approach to fitness to practise mitigates the risk to public 
protection from regulators working independently of each other 

Effective involvement of all parties in the fitness to practise process 
increases trust, confidence in and knowledge of health and care 
professional regulation.  

What evidence could be provided? 
 We need to know: 26.2

How the regulators have met the Standards of Good Regulation

How they have evaluated the impact of their work in this area. 
 The following evidence could be provided: 26.3

Activities undertaken to publicise how all individuals, including those with 
particular health or language needs, and organisations can raise 
concerns about the fitness to practise of health and care professionals 
and the evaluation of this work. For example, publication of public 
information/employer leaflets, information available via the telephone or 
email and liaison with other organisations  

Examples of where the regulator has raised and taken forward a fitness to 
practise concern itself. For example, the number of cases taken forward 
and the reasons for this 

Examples of the regulator’s work with other relevant bodies on when to 
refer fitness to practise complaints. For example, evidence of liaison with 
other organisations and feedback from those organisations on the 
effectiveness of this help 

Examples of information that has been shared between the regulators 
and other relevant bodies, within legal requirements, on the fitness to 
practise of individuals and the results of this work. For example, exchange 
of information through memoranda of understanding and, where possible, 
discussion on what use was made of this data 

Examples of where serious cases have been identified, prioritised and, 
where possible, referred to an interim orders panel. For example, the 
number of cases identified and the process for how this is carried out 
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Examples of how the case management system and case management 
process helps prevent excessive delay and manages identified delays. 
Information on current timeframes and/or delays in the system 

Examples of how the regulator ensures that all parties are regularly 
updated on progress of the fitness to practise case. How many complaints 
were received about lack of update notification?  

How the case management system/processes enables the collection and 
analysis of reliable data to ensure that there is no bias in the process, with 
evidence of this testing being carried out by the regulator 

How the processes and procedures in place are fair, objective and free 
from discrimination 

Activities undertaken to meet the individual needs of parties to the fitness 
to practise process, particularly those who are vulnerable, and the 
outcomes of this work. For example, use of video link facilities, witness 
support arrangements, participant feedback surveys and numbers of 
complaints from participants about lack of support  

The appointment and appraisal process for committee members, 
panellists and advisors to fitness to practise cases. Relevant training, 
guidance and feedback provided to committee members, panellists and 
advisors to fitness to practise cases. How this has helped improve 
decision-making 

Evidence of steps taken to identify and mitigate risks in fitness to practise 
decisions, for example, outcomes of the regulator’s quality assurance of 
decisions, number of appeals and their outcomes. How learning from this 
process is used to improve decision-making  

The regulator’s disclosure policy in relation to fitness to practise 
proceedings and the disclosure of fitness to practise information to third 
parties 

The regulator’s information security policies and compliance with the 
relevant legislation. The number of data loss/breach incidents which have 
occurred 

The mechanisms used by the regulator to assess how they are 
performing and how they use the results to improve their practices.  
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27. Annex 3: Third party feedback
As part of this year’s performance review, we wrote to a wide range of 27.1
organisations who we considered had an interest in how the regulators 
performed against the Standards of Good Regulation, and to our public and 
professional stakeholder networks. We invited them to share their views with 
us on the regulators’ performance in relation to the standards. We explained 
that we would use the information provided to challenge the regulators’ 
evidence to ensure that we had a more rounded view of the regulators’ 
performance. We also placed a general invitation to provide views on the 
regulators’ performance on our website.

 Below is a list of the third party organisations whose feedback we took into 27.2
account: 

British Chiropractic Association  

Care Council for Wales 

Council of Deans of Health 

Dental Protection Limited 

Independent Midwives UK 

Medical Protection Society 

NHS Education for Scotland 

Royal College of Midwives 

Royal College of Nursing 

Royal College of Radiologists 

Royal Pharmaceutical Society 

Scottish Government 

Unison 

91 individuals.  
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